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Chairman’s Statement
EKERE

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Chinese
People Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and all of
its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group” or “we"”), | present the
Group's annual report for the year ended 31 December 2023 to the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholder(s)").

ECONOMIC CONDITIONS AND
ANNUAL RESULTS

In 2023, domestic GDP reached 126.06 trillion, representing an
increase of 5.2%. The domestic economy has maintained the
momentum of recovery, which has been faster than that of most
major economies. In 2021 and 2022, after a series of breakthroughs
of 110 trillion and 120 trillion, China’s economic growth has leapt to
a new level.

According to public data released by the National Development and
Reform Commission of the People’s Republic of China (“NDRC"),
National Bureau of Statistics of China, etc., the output of natural gas
in 2023 was approximately 232.43 billion m?, increased by 5.6% as
compared to that of last year; the import of natural gas was 120 million
tons, increased by 9.9% year-on-year, and the apparent consumption of
natural gas was 394.53 billion m?, increased by 9.5% year-on-year. In
2023, China's Liquefied Petroleum Gas (“LPG") production was 48.67
million tons, representing a year-on-year increase of 2.1%; the total
retail sales of social consumer goods were approximately RMB47.15
trillion, representing a year-on-year increase of 7.2%.

With the joint efforts of the management and all employees, the
Group recorded the piped gas sales of 418.35 million m? for the
Year, representing an increase of 8.95% as compared to last year;
the cylinder gas sales of 96,332 tons for the Year, representing a
decrease of 3.39% as compared to the corresponding period last
year.
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ECONOMIC CONDITIONS AND
ANNUAL RESULTS (Continued)

The revenue was reduced for the year ended 31 December 2023, the
revenue of the Group was approximately RMB2,514 million (2022:
RMB2,868 million) and the loss for the Year was approximately
RMB227 million (2022: profit RMB62 million (Restated)) mainly due
to share of loss of joint ventures of approximately RMB243 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023. For the year ended 31 December
2023, our joint ventures had made a significant net loss in its book
due to the substantial impairment loss was recognized in respect of
its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets (the “Impairment”). Basic loss per share was RMB2.59 cents
(2022: Earnings per share RMB0.40 cents (Restated)). The overall
gross profit margin of the Group for the Year was 12.44% (2022:
10.11%), representing an increase of 2.33 percentage points as
compared to that of 2022. During the Year, the overall gross profit
margin increased as a result of the increase in piped gas price and
the decrease in the price of cylinder gas and other goods.

Last but not least, assuming if there was no such Impairment, our
joint ventures would turn around from net loss to net profit for
the year ended 31 December 2023. In other words, the business of
the Group is stable for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the
Group's net loss would be turned to net profit for the year ended 31
December 2023 if no such Impairment.

FINANCIAL POSITION

By ensuring the stability of the financial position, the Group carefully
utilises fund for reasonable investment and seizes the opportunity
of business development. As at 31 December 2023, the debt-to-
capitalisation ratio of the Group, representing the ratio of total
borrowings to total borrowings and equity attributable to owners of
the Company, was 3.17% (2022: 3.02% (Restated)).

Chairman'’s Statement
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Chairman'’s Statement
EEHRS

REVIEW AND PROSPECT OF THE
INDUSTRY

Piped Gas Transmission and Distribution Business

To achieve green, low-carbon, energy saving and low emission
development strategy is still the important goal of the PRC
government’s work. The establishment and implementation of
a dual control system of total energy consumption and intensity
will effectively promote China’s energy utilization efficiency and
reduction of CO, emission intensity. During the period, the Group
forged ahead with high quality development in the natural gas
industry, so as to safeguard the safety, efficiency and continuity of
gas users. As supported by multiple dividend policies, such as energy
reform and development planning under the “dual carbon” target
in the future, the Group’s strategic development goal in the natural
gas industry will be continuously strengthened in the future. The
Group will also continue to expand its market share in the natural
gas industry, fully integrate its development strategies and objectives
such as low carbonisation and clean energy to develop the piped gas
industry in a healthier and safer manner.

Cylinder Gas Supply Business

Since 2023, the policy system related to “dual-carbon” has been
improved, and the basic capacity of “dual-carbon” work has been
significantly enhanced. Accelerating the energy transition to green
and low-carbon is the crux of achieving carbon peaking and carbon
neutrality, as well as an important measure to build the new energy
system.

Driven by the favorable policy, the Group’s canned gas business
combines its nature of convenience and flexibility to complement
the Group's pipeline gas market niche. We will also proactively help
expanding the market coverage of canned gas business in the future,
seize the Dual Carbon target and the market opportunity of energy
clean-up reform, expand the market scale, optimize the business
model of canned gas business, provide convenient and efficient
services to customers and enhance market competitiveness.

4 Chinese People Holdings Company Limited
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REVIEW AND PROSPECT OF THE
|NDUSTRY (Continued)

Gas Distribution Business

In 2023, the import of natural gas has increased sharply, and the
quantity of which has reached a record high. With the acceleration
of the energy transition to green and low-carbon, the proportion of
non-fossil energy in the total energy consumption has been steadily
increased, which increased by 0.2 percentage point as compared
with the last year, of which the proportion of natural gas increased
by 0.1 percentage point. The Group has laid solid foundation for
natural gas trading, expanded into new markets for gas distribution,
diversified gas distribution business to strengthen its development
base and ensure steady growth in sales volume.

The FMCG Supply Business

With the effective implementation of various policies and measures
for expanding domestic demand and promoting consumption,
residents’ consumption confidence has been gradually recovered,
thus accelerating the release of consumption demand, as well as
giving rise of new changes and bright spots among the consumer
market. The Group was actively engaged in collaborating online
retail business and offline physical stores business, optimizing
industry service and expanding into market gaps, so as to broaden
the consumer base. In the future, we will continue to optimise
our product range of FMCG supply business to provide quality
products and diversified services to community residents and
mobile consumers, so that our FMCG supply business can become
more professional and branded. We will continue to focus on the
consumer and use big data to understand consumer needs, thereby
optimising our own products and providing a more personalised,
convenient and high-quality consumer experience. In the future, we
will also actively make innovation in our businesses, so as to build a
more influential and competitive brand.
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Chairman'’s Statement
EEHRS

REVIEW AND PROSPECT OF THE
|NDUSTRY (Continued)

The Food Ingredients Supply Business

With the continuous strengthening of food safety supervision by
the government, innovation is one of the most favorable weapons
to win the market when facing the increasingly competitive market
environment. In recent years, with the continuous improvement of
people’s living standards and the diversification of food consumption
structure, the Group actively responded to the market by integrating
the innovation of Internet technology with the information of
consumer market to carry out unified information management
of the procurement, storage, transportation, sorting, and delivery
activities involved in the industry chain, continuously upgrade and
improve every step of the food ingredients supply chain based on
the market demands, strengthen quality awareness and increase
consumers trust.

Looking forward, the Group will maintain its focus on the
development in the field of retail terminal, fully respond to national
policies, seize market opportunities, and tap the potential of various
customers’ needs while strengthening the development of natural
gas customer connection. The Group will fully leverage the Internet
technology to optimize piped gas transmission and distribution
business and cylinder gas supply business model, providing customers
with convenient and efficient services and enhancing market
competitiveness. The Group will gradually boost the FMCG and food
ingredients supply business through the collaborating of online and
offline operations, utilise Internet technology to expand the scope
and increase the income of the FMCG and food ingredients supply
business, achieving diversification in the Group’s income and creating
higher benefits for Shareholders.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | hereby gratefully acknowledge the staunch
support of all Shareholders and the community over the Year.

Dr. Mo Shikang
Chairman
Beijing, 28 March 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEWESH

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Year”), under the
leadership of the directors and management of the Company, all of
our staff executed the development strategies of the Group seriously,
thus successfully achieving the business goals for the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The revenue was reduced for the year ended 31 December 2023, the
revenue of the Group was approximately RMB2,514 million (2022:
RMB2,868 million) and the loss for the Year was approximately
RMB227 million (2022: profit RMB62 million (Restated)) mainly due
to share of loss of joint ventures of approximately RMB243 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023. For the year ended 31 December
2023, our joint ventures had made a significant net loss in its book
due to the substantial impairment loss was recognized in respect of
its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets (the “Impairment”). Basic loss per share was RMB2.59 cents
(2022: Earnings per share RMB0.40 cents (Restated)). The overall
gross profit margin of the Group for the Year was 12.44% (2022:
10.11%), representing an increase of 2.33 percentage points as
compared to that of 2022. During the Year, the overall gross profit
margin increased as a result of the increase in piped gas price and
the decrease in the price of cylinder gas and other goods.

Last but not least, assuming if there was no such Impairment, our
joint ventures would turn around from net loss to net profit for
the year ended 31 December 2023. In other words, the business of
the Group is stable for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the
Group's net loss would be turned to net profit for the year ended 31
December 2023 if no such Impairment.

Piped Gas Transmission and Distribution Business

The piped gas transmission and distribution business mainly
relies on the gas pipeline which were built by the Group to
transport flammable gas fuels to end-users. The Group’s piped gas
transmission and distribution business is categorised into piped gas
connection and piped gas sales. Natural gas is the main gas supply
of the Group's piped gas transmission and distribution business. As
a clean energy, natural gas can help to improve the environmental
pollution problem and simultaneously it has the advantages of safety,
high unit heat value and low price. It has become an important
development direction of international clean energy.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THRBEWRAS N

BUS'N ESS REVIEW (Continued)

Piped Gas Transmission and Distribution Business (Continued)

Piped gas transmission and distribution business is one of the
Group’s main businesses and main source of income. During the
Year, revenue of approximately RMB1,169 million (2022: RMB954
million) was recorded from the Group’s provision of piped gas
transmission and distribution business, which accounted for
approximately 46.53% (2022: 33.28%) of the Group's total revenue.
The overall gross profit margin of piped gas transmission and
distribution business for the Year was approximately 11.67% (2022:
12.82%). During the Year, the gross profit margin slightly decreased
due to the increase in gas purchase and selling prices of gases.

Piped Gas Connection

During the Year, revenue from piped gas connection was
approximately RMB124 million (2022: RMB120 million). Revenue
from piped gas connection represented approximately 10.60%
(2022: 12.61%) of the total revenue of the piped gas transmission
and distribution business. The gross profit margin of piped gas
connection fee for the Year was approximately 50.85% (2022:
50.53%). During the Year, the Group had an addition of 28,549
units of residential household customers and 781 units of commercial
and industrial customers, respectively. At the end of the Year,
the Group had an accumulated number of connected residential
household customers and commercial and industrial customers of
566,904 units and 12,310 units respectively, representing a growth
of approximately 5.30% and 6.77% over that of 2022, respectively.
During the Year, the gross profit margin of the gas connection
business was unchanged from that of the previous year.

Sales of piped gas

During the Year, revenue from piped gas sales was approximately
RMB1,045 million (2022: RMB834 million). Revenue from piped gas
sales accounted for approximately 89.40% (2022: 87.39%) of the
total revenue from the piped gas business. The gross profit margin
of piped gas sales was 7.02% (2022: 7.38%). During the Year, the
Group’s sales volume of piped gas was 418.35 million m3?, among the
total sales, 128.28 million m3 (2022: 117.64 million m3) were sold to
residential household customers; 290.07 million m3 (2022: 266.35
million m3) were sold to commercial and industrial customers. During
the Year, piped gas sales volume maintained steady growth, and
gross profit margin slightly decreased due to higher purchase and
sales prices.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUS'NESS RE\/l EW (Continued)

Cylinder Gas Supply Business

Cylinder gas supply business is another major business of the Group.
Currently, the Group’s cylinder gas supply business is mainly the sales
of liquefied natural gas (LNG), liquefied petroleum gas (LPG), and
liquefied dimethyl ether (DME). During the Year, while maintaining
established customers, we actively developed new users and
expanded the sales market.

During the Year, the Group sold a total of 96,332 tons of cylinder
gas (2022: 99,717 tons), which contributed a total sales revenue
of approximately RMB656 million (2022: RMB744 million). During
the Year, revenue from cylinder gas supply business accounted for
approximately 26.09% (2022: 25.93%) of our total revenue. The
gross profit margin of cylinder gas supply business was approximately
23.52% (2022: 19.76%). During the Year, affected by the market,
the sales volume and revenue attributable to the customers
decreased as a result of the decrease in customer demand, while
the gross profit margin increased as a result of the decrease in gas
purchase and selling price.

Gas Distribution Business

During the Year, the Group's gas distribution business sold a total
of 135,994 tons of gas (2022: 182,939 tons), which contributed
a total sales revenue of approximately RMB586 million (2022:
RMB1,051 million). During the Year, gas sales volume decreased
substantially by approximately 25.66% and revenue decreased by
approximately 44.24% as compared with 2022. During the Year,
the gas distribution business accounted for approximately 23.31%
(2022: 36.66%) of our total revenue. The gross profit margin of gas
distribution was approximately 1.09% (2022: 0.70%). During the
Year, the Group continued to develop and serve customers. However,
due to the influence of the market and drop in sales volumes, both
purchase and sales prices decrease, resulting in an increase of the
gross profit margin.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THRBEWRAS N

BUS'NESS RE\/l EW (Continued)

Food Ingredients Supply and Fast-moving Consumer Good
("FMCG") Business

Food ingredients supply and the FMCG business is the new
business vigorously developed by the Group in recent years. The
food ingredients supply business is mainly a service providing to
commercial consumers through the combination of online and
offline operations, supplying fruits and vegetables, fresh produce,
seasoning, dry foods and oil and other ingredients. The FMCG
business is mainly comprised of the community supermarket and
convenience stores. The consumer group targeted by the community
supermarket is mainly the residents community population. The
community supermarket provides convenient goods and services
for the fixed community residents through the combination of
online and offline operations; while the target customers of the
convenience stores is the community residents with temporary sales
needs, which is being satisfied by provision of convenient goods
and services to community residents with immediate need by selling
FMCG.

During the Year, the food ingredients supply and FMCG business
realised revenue of approximately RMB103 million (2022: RMB119
million), accounting for approximately 4.07% (2022: 4.13%) of
the Group’s total revenue. The Group has been optimising various
sections under food ingredients supply and FMCG business including
cost controlling and improving gross profit. As a result, the segment
loss decreased compared with that of 2022.

Impairment Losses under the ECL Model, Net of Reversal

Impairment loss under the ECL model, net of reversal, amounted
to loss approximately RMB8,291,000 (2022: loss RMB1,401,000),
representing an increase approximately RMB6,890,000 as compared
with the corresponding period of last year. The reason was mainly
attributable to increase in expected credit loss in other receivables.

Other Gains and Losses, Net

Other gains and losses for the Year amounted to loss approximately
RMB66,632,000 (2022: RMB21,697,000), representing an
increase of approximately RMB44,935,000 as compared with the
corresponding period of last year. It was mainly attributable to
increase in impairment loss recognised in respect of propery, plant
and equipment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUS'NESS REV'EW (Continued)

Other Income

Other income for the Year amounted to approximately
RMB42,620,000 (2022: RMB47,502,000), represented a decrease of
approximately RMB4,882,000 as compared with the corresponding
period of last year. The decrease was mainly due to decrease in rental
income.

Finance Costs

Finance costs for the Year amounted to approximately RMB4,494,000
(2022: RMB3,518,000), represented an increase of approximately
RMB976,000 as compared with the corresponding period of last
year. The increase was mainly due to increase in interest on bank
borrowings.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses for the Year amounted to
approximately RMB141,604,000 (2022: RMB152,814,000),
representing a decrease of approximately RMB11,210,000 as
compared with the corresponding period of last year, which was
mainly attributable to decrease in revenue.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses for the Year amounted to approximately
RMB115,198,000 (2022: RMB102,739,000), representing an
increase of approximately RMB12,459,000 as compared with the
corresponding period of last year, which was mainly attributable to
increase in staffs costs.

Share of Results of Associates

Share of profit of associates for the Year was approximately
RMB21,349,000 (2022: RMB15,264,000), representing an increase of
approximately RMB6,085,000 as compared with the corresponding
period of last year, which was mainly attributable to the increase in
profits generated from the associates of the Company.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EHEMWRRES

BUS'NESS RE\/l EW (Continued)

Share of Results of Joint Ventures

Share of loss of joint ventures for the Year amounted to
approximately RMB242,653,000 (2022: profit RMB4,159,000),
represented a significant increase of loss of movement approximately
5,934% as compared with the corresponding period of last year.
The significant increase of loss was mainly due to our joint ventures
had made a significant net loss in its book for the year ended 31
December 2023 because of a substantial one-off impairment loss
was recognised in respect of its property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets for the year ended 31 December
2023 (the “"Impairment”). The impairment was based on the below
mentioned cash flow forecast to account for, mentioned previously
that if there was no such Impairment, our joint venture would turn
around from net loss to net profit for the year ended 31 December
2023.

Cash flow forecasts were prepared to determine the recoverable
amounts of the property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets which are determined based on value in use
calculations. It was noticed that the recoverable amount of the
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets was less than the carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets as at 31
December 2023 due to mainly decrease in sales of natural gas and
gas pipeline construction business of joint ventures in cash flow
forecasts preparation. The decrease in sales in cash flow forecast
preparation was due to reasons, including but not limited to, the
slumping property market and related business sectors in the PRC.

The said property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets are principally related to the sales of natural gas and
gas pipeline construction business.

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense for the Year amounted to approximately
RMB24,947,000 (2022: RMB12,545,000 (Restated)), represented
an increase of approximately RMB12,402,000 year-on-year. Such
increase was mainly attributable to increase in PRC Enterprise Income
Tax in current year.

Material Acquisitions or Disposals

There was no material acquisitions or disposals for the Year.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As at 31 December 2023, the consolidated financial position of the
Group is as follows:

Currently, the sources of the operating and capital expenditure of
the Group are operating cash flow, internal current capital, and bank
borrowings. The Group has sufficient funds to meet future capital
expenditures and operational needs.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Borrowing Structure

As at 31 December 2023, the total borrowings of the Group were
approximately RMB81,775,000 (2022: RMB85,520,000), which
comprised domestic bank borrowings denominated in RMB of the
project companies in China. Bank borrowings (in which interest
is calculated by reference to the Loan Prime Rate announced by
the People’s Bank of China plus certain basis points) are mainly
applied to gas pipelines construction, as general working capital
and for operating expenses. Apart from the borrowings of
approximately RMB62,000,000 (2022: RMB67,000,000) which were
secured by certain assets with carrying amount of approximately
RMB153,017,000 (2022: RMB67,098,000), others were unsecured.
Short-term borrowings amounted to approximately RMB81,600,000
(2022: RMB85,020,000), while others were long-term borrowings
due after one year.

Capital Structure

The long-term capital of the Group comprised equity attributable to
owners and borrowings, which was confirmed by the sound debt-to-
capitalisation ratio.

Foreign Exchange Risk

As all of the Group’s operations are in China and substantially all
of its revenue and expenses are denominated in RMB, there was no
significant foreign exchange risk in its operation. We currently do not
have foreign currency hedging policy but monitor the market trends
of exchange rates closely, and adopt appropriate measures when
necessary.

Contingent Liabilities

Details of contingent liabilities is set out in note 46 of the annual
report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Employees

For the year ended 31 December 2023, we had approximately 4,900
employees (including subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures),
most of them were resided in Mainland China. The employees
salaries are determined from time to time with reference to their
duties and responsibilities, business performance of the Group and
profitability and market conditions. In addition to pension funds,
individual employees may be granted discretionary bonus and/or
share options as rewards for their performance.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THRBEWRAS N

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Corporate Environmental and Social Responsibility

We adhere to pursue long-term sustainable development in
the communities in which our business and operations located.
We understand the importance of the views and interests of its
stakeholders (such as shareholders, regulators, employees and the
public) when making business decisions. We will continue to advance
in corporate governance, energy conservation, remuneration of
employees, general social welfare and etc.

Social Environment Protection

As a responsible clean energy business operator, we are committed
to the promotion and the use of clean energy in order to minimise
the environmental damage caused by energy demand for economic
development. Through the construction of urban-gas distribution
network, we encourage commercial and industrial customers and
residential households to replace high polluting coal and oil with
clean energy, and vigorously promote the Coal to Gas project. Coal-
fired boilers are replaced by natural gas boilers to reduce pollutant
emission.

PROSPECTS AND OUTLOOK

2023 marked the first year of economic recovery and development
after the transition period of three years of pandemic prevention
and control. The PRC government has put forward a series of new
requirements for “promoting green development and promoting
harmonious coexistence between human and nature”. For promoting
green development, profound changes have taken place in China's
internal and external environment and policy requirements. At the
same time, substantial progress has been made in the development
of green industries, and new technologies, new business forms and
new modes of green and low-carbon have been emerging. As the
next step, China will unswervingly implement the major strategic
decisions for peak carbon dioxide emissions and carbon neutrality,
accelerate the development mode for eco-green transformation, and
promote the eco-green and low-carbon transformation of industry.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

PROSPECTS AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

In the future, the Group will remain committed to the concept of
high-quality natural gas development and build a comprehensive
natural gas security system which is safer, more stable and more
efficient. It will put in place the decisions and deployments made by
the central government on its environmental policies, by proactive
response to favorable policies such as peak carbon dioxide emissions
and carbon neutrality. It will make full use of policies and the healthy
development environment of the gas industry, to expand its market
size and market share, while taking solid steps in developing its
own industry. Meanwhile, the Group will formulate corresponding
business risk response policies, and while enhancing the operating
productivity and cost efficiency, we will also remain cautious in
capital investment and maintain effective credit monitoring to
minimise the risk of default of customers.

Piped Gas Transmission and Distribution Business

In 2023, non-fossil energy accounted for more than 40% of the total
new energy production. Thus, the energy production and supply
system accelerated the development of low-carbon. Green and low-
carbon technologies will be among the world’s leading companies.
The energy industry chain has become more green and modernised.
At the same time, we should firmly establish the basis for safe carbon
reduction, continuously enhance the energy production and supply
capacity, improve the independent guarantee level, and provide
reliable momentum for promoting Chinese-style modernisation. We
shall fully realise the role of fossil energy as a backstop, strengthen
clean and efficient utilisation, and enhance the role of supporting
and regulating the low-carbon transition of energy.

The Group will take the full advantages of piped gas, so as to
maintain existing users, identify new users, actively expand value-
added business, and continue to promote the development of piped
gas business at a steady pace.

Cylinder Gas Supply Business

With the policies such as peak carbon dioxide emissions and carbon
neutrality and air pollution prevention and control, the energy market
has entered a critical period of deepening reforms as a whole. As one
of the urban gas sources, the cylinder gas is featured by cleanness,
efficiency and flexibility and forms a strong complement to the piped
gas business of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THRBEWRAS N

PROSPECTS AND OUTLOOK (continued)

Cylinder Gas Supply Business (Continued)

In view of the favorable policies for clean energy market in the
medium-term future (such as clean energy policies and “coal-to-
gas changing” which are pointed out in the “14th Five-Year Plan”),
there remains a long way to go for the development of gas industry.
The prevailing digital trend in China accelerates the pace of digital
transformation. As the development of in-house new strategic
options for the enterprises is the trend in the future, enterprise-to-
customer Internet technology innovation will also be one of the gas
industry’s focus. The Group, in light of the characteristics of the
cylinder gas industry and the actual business needs, will continue
to develop and improve CVG gas management systems, to realise
digital and information management of cylinder gas business, to
realise electronic filling, distribution, information technology for
reducing the operating costs and improving distribution efficiency,
and to improve the safety and security capabilities of the cylinder gas
business. Leveraging favorable policies and development environment
and prospect, the Group will ensure safe operation and efficient
transportation, so as to expand the market share of areas with no
established presences, and create better economic performance.

Gas Distribution Business

In 2023, the price of energy shown its change from increasing to
decreasing. Affected by the downward trend of international oil
prices, the price of energy changed from an increase of 11.2% last
year to a decrease of 2.6%. The changes in the international market
led to the downward trend of the prices of the relevant industries.
Among which, the price of oil and gas exploitation decreased
between 8.3% and 10.2% for the whole year. Amid this, building on
the established presence of gas distribution business, the Group will
seize the development opportunities of the gas industry to further
expand such business, with an aim to enhance the sales volume and
income from the business again.

The construction of ecological civilisation in China has entered
a critical period, in which, carbon reduction is the key strategic
direction. The regulation and control of total energy consumption
and intensity have been improved, which is more focusing on the
dual control system of total carbon emission and intensity. The aim
of improving the national oil and gas security capability is to ensure
the stable and reliable supply of fuel gas. The Group will strengthen
the construction of gas distribution system, enhance the efficiency,
as well as strengthen the safety management in gas operation,
thus establishing a complete safety management system of safety
inspection, supervision, rectification and elimination of hidden perils,
so as to ensure the safe operation of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

PROSPECTS AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

The Food Ingredients Supply and FMCG Business

In respect of the supply of food business, based on the Internet,
the Internet of things, big data and other high-tech technologies,
we have optimised supply chain management — from customers
order, goods procurement, sorting, logistics distribution to after-sales
service. We have enhanced the efficiency of distribution through
our integrated platform management and intelligent management.
The Group works to strictly monitor every link of the industry, and
analyse customer needs through the full combination of technology
and realities. It also endeavours to firmly control the quality of food
materials and improve operational efficiency. With a commitment
to the business philosophy of the last mile between enterprises and
residents, it will mainly rely on the diversified online and offline
operation pattern and deliver fresh and high-quality ingredients to
customers in a more efficient and more accessible way.

In terms of retail business, as the economy of the society have fully
restored to its normal operation, consumption potential unleashed
under the release of consumption policies. Thus, the consumption
has been recovering quickly. While consumers have gradually
focused on spiritual demand and experience, more opportunities
and challenges are faced by the retail industry among the PRC's
huge consumer market. The Group will further tap into the needs of
the residents, enrich its products and enhance its service standard.
Leveraging the combination of supermarkets and convenience stores,
the Group will make efforts to expand its market network, and
integrate consumer groups of the store business, so as to further
enhance its own brands. It will also make more key breakthroughs
to reduce the impact of the special external environment, and
ensure the quality of goods while improving the quality of services.
These efforts will enable it to satisfy the shopping needs of new and
existing consumers in a maximum way.

Mr. Fan Fangyi
Managing Director and Executive Director

Beijing, 28 March 2024
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Biography of Directors

ERCERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Mo Shikang ("Dr. Mo"), aged 66, is the chairman of the
Board and an executive Director, he joined our Company since 30
April 2004. Dr. Mo is currently the chairman of our Nomination
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee, the
chairman of the board of dt A R R AR QA Beijing Civigas
Co., Ltd.* (“Beijing Civigas"”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of our
Group and acts as director posts in certain principal subsidiaries
of our Group. Dr. Mo holds a Bachelor degree in Sciences from
Tianjin Normal University, a Master degree in Economics from
Tianjin University of Finance and Economics and a PhD degree
in Economics from Nankai University in the PRC. Dr. Mo has
substantial experiences in the development and management of
natural gas projects in the PRC. Dr. Mo currently holds shares of
our Company, details of which was disclosed in the Report of the
Directors under this annual report. Dr. Mo is the father of Miss Mo
Yunbi, an executive Director.

Mr. Zhang Hesheng (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 70, is the deputy
chairman of the Board and an executive Director since 21 March
2005. Mr. Zhang is currently a member of the Remuneration
Committee. Mr. Zhang holds a MBA degree from the La Trobe
University in Australia. In late 1980s, Mr. Zhang joined the initial
financial securities industry in the PRC, he has been engaged as
senior management for provision of services relating to securities
and financial investment; securities brokerages; investment
banking; financial research and analysis for Wanguo Holdings
Limited, Guotai Securities Company Limited and Guotai Junan
Securities Company Limited. Mr. Zhang has extensive experiences
in financial and capital markets. Mr. Zhang currently holds shares
of our Company, details of which was disclosed in the Report of
the Directors under this annual report.

*  For identification purpose only
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Fan Fangyi ("Mr. Fan”), aged 47, is an executive Director
and the managing Director, he joined our Group since December
2003 and then was appointed an executive Director and the
managing Director by the Board on 1 September 2015. He is
currently a director of Beijing Civigas, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of our Company, and also acts as a director in certain principal
subsidiaries of our Group. Mr. Fan has over 10 years of experiences
in the management of our Group and is familiar with the scope
of our Group’s operation in all aspect. Mr. Fan holds a Degree
in Economics from the Renmin University of China, A2 B % &
#% (Legal Professional Qualification*) from the Ministry Justice of
the PRC, and registered as a non-practising member of the Beijing
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Fan has worked
in Grant Thornton (Beijing) Certified Public Accountants and
responsible for auditing. Thereafter, he has engaged by ZEif B %
(#Z=R%) AR AR (Wah Ying International (Holdings) Limited*) and
was in charge of various investment business projects. Mr. Fan has
extensive experiences in investment banking sector, auditing and
merger and corporate acquisition.

Miss Mo Yunbi ("Miss Mo"), aged 34, is an executive Director,
Miss Mo joined our Company since 13 January 2015. Miss Mo is
also a director of certain subsidiaries of our Group and in charge
of the development of our Group’s food ingredients supply and
fast-moving consumer goods supply business. Miss Mo has been
engaged as a food and safety analyst in a private entity in the PRC.
Miss Mo graduated in the University of Bedfordshire, the United
Kingdom, with a Bachelor degree of Business Administration with
First Class Honours. Afterward, she has awarded a Master of
Science in Agricultural Economics with Distinction and a PhD degree
from the University of Reading, the United Kingdom. Miss Mo holds
shares of our Company, details of which was disclosed in the Report
of the Directors under this annual report. Miss Mo is the daughter
of Dr. Mo, the chairman of the Board, an executive Director and the
substantial Shareholder.

*  For identification purpose only
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Biography of Directors
ERCEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Ms. Li Fun Replen ("Ms. Li"), aged 51, is an executive Director
with effect from 1 July 2021, she is current the company secretary
and an authorized representative of our Company, director and
secretaries of certain subsidiaries of our Group, she has joined our
Company since 30 November 2006. Before joining our Company,
Ms. Li has been engaged under company secretarial departments
in certain sizable companies listed in the main board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”). Ms. Li has
over 20 years’ experiences in charge of company secretarial duties
in listed companies. She is a Chartered Secretary, a Chartered
Governance Professional and an associate of both The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance
Institute in the United Kingdom. She holds a Bachelor degree
in Business Administration in United Kingdom, a Postgraduate
Diploma in Corporate Administration from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University and a Master of Laws in Chinese and
Comparative Law from the City University of Hong Kong.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Dr. Liu Junmin ("Dr. Liu"), aged 74, is an independent non-
executive Director, he joined our Company on 11 April 2005. Dr.
Liu is currently a member of Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee. Dr. Liu holds a Bachelor
degree, a Master degree and a PhD degree in Economics from the
Nankai University in China. He currently acts as a professor of the
Virtual Economics and Management Research Center of Nankai
University, China and is an independent non-executive director of
China Literature Limited (stock code: 00772, shares of which are
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange). Dr. Liu has awarded
the 8th Sun Yefang Economics Prize and E=EFEH SR A Xt &
IR EFH M ELE (The 3rd China High School Humanity Social
Science Research Excellent Award*). Dr. Liu has acted as lecturer of
Tianjin University of Finance and Economics, professor and associate
professor of the Faculty of Economics, Nankai University, China.
Dr. Liu resigned as independent non-executive Director of China
Huarong Asset Management Co., Limited (stock code: 02799, shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange), on 29
October 2020 and retired as independent non-executive director of
Tianjin Faw Xiali Automobile Co., Ltd. (stock code: 000927, shares of
which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange), on 9 December
2020.

*  For identification purpose only

20 Chinese People Holdings Company Limited

2023 Annual Report (For the Year Ended 31 December 2023)

/— =

HITESE @)

Tzt (Z42+]) 515 B2021F781H
BEARTES BNAEBEMARIZARIMER
BERE BMEEHBOHBARCEERWE
% B2006F 11 A30B MAFKM AR - IMAKMA
RIZA T CRBEARBIEETBHAR
SHBRAR ([BXF))EMRETHAFRZA
RIMEBER -ZL T HAB20FEE ETTAA
NEMERBF &% BREARIWE - FITEA
BEEABURBEBRARNAEAG R EEBFTFAT
AREBEAEET RBEAABNIHEEELEM0
BEEETABLEERRECERLESEMAE
HR A R L BUAR BRI B o

BYIFHTES

ABEHE ([2EL ) 7450 ABYIERNTE
£ HBE2005F48 1M BMARMAT - ZELH
REZEZES FINZESRREZEZETNE -
AT HFAFEEARERE 2 CESEB L.
EETRETBM-HIEATEMARNSERCE
HEBIFFERPOARRTEHCER (REAR:
00772 » E R B X AT ERENE ) BB L IEENTT
EF- AT TEF \ERAAKEESENE=
EPBESRAXEESREMTESKRE - 2E
T S KRB A K BT B A N P B R B K B 4K
BT R 2UR K B - 7A20209F 10 H29 H &%
ETHEEREEEERMDER AR (BREA:
02799 » E (DR BE X AT ERENE ) BB L IEENTT
BEENA2020F 12 A0BBRERE—REMNAE
A% B BR AT (R Z R 000927 © H &5 127
NEHFZ DG ) B IERITES-



INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DlRECTORS (Continued)

Prof. Zhao Yanyun ("Prof. Zhao"), aged 67, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 24 July 2013. Prof. Zhao
is a member of each of the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Prof. Zhao currently
is a professor and a doctoral tutor of Faculty of Statistics, as well as
an officer, a professor and a doctoral tutor of the China Research
Center for Competitiveness and Evaluation in the Renmin University
of China. Prof. Zhao also acts as part-time tutor in certain universities
in China including Zhejiang Gongshang University; Hebei University
of Engineering and Shanxi University of Finance and Economics. Prof.
Zhao is currently a consultant of Bl #t 52 & (Statistical Society of
China*) and a consultant of FR Bl 415t 21 & £ & (Statistical Education
Society of China*). Prof. Zhao has awarded a winner of E#§Ft 4
TR B BN E R BTEEL (the Government of the State Council Special
Contribution Expert Government Allowance*), Bl # & S F 42 A
4 (Century Talent of Ministry of Education of China*), R BB %X A
EHHELBTBEAT TIRBERAAE (National Candidate of the
Ministry of Personnel New Century Hundred Thousand Talents Project
of China*) and a candidate of A EI1E = B A T#2 (Beijing Hundred
Project of Chain*).

*  For identification purpose only
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Biography of Directors
ERCEE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DlRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Cheung Chi Ming ("Mr. Cheung”), aged 45, is an independent
non-executive Director appointed with effect from 15 July
2020, he is currently the chairman of the Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee as well as a member of Nomination
Committee. Mr. Cheung holds a Bachelor degree in Accountancy
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and a Master degree in
Corporate Governance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, a member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute and a member of The Chartered Governance Institute. He is
an executive director and the Chief Financial Officer of CDW Holding
Limited, a company listed on the stock exchange of Singapore.
He has acted as the Financial Controller of OVM International
Development Co. Ltd. ("OVM Int’l”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of a State-owned enterprise. OVM Int'l is principally engaged in
international trading and investment holding. He has over seventeen
years’ experience in finance, accounting and business management
functions.

All executive Directors have not entered into any service contract
with the Company except Miss. Mo and Ms. Li who have entered
into service contracts with the Company. All independent non-
executive Directors have entered into service agreements with
the Company without specific period. All Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election in the Annual General Meeting
in accordance the Bye-laws of the Company and the Listing Rules.
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Corporate Governance Report

ETRELRS

GOVERNANCE CULTURE

The Company currently performs a high standard of corporate
governance practices in enhancing the confidence of shareholders,
investors, employees, creditors and business partners and also the
growth of its business. The Board of Directors (the “Director(s)”) of
the Company (the “Board”) is committed to and regularly enhancing
the Company’s corporate governance practices to ensure high
standards of ethics are maintained with the balancing of returns to
its shareholders and for the long-term success and sustainability of
the Company’s businesses.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company's corporate governance practices are based on the
principles and the code provisions (the”Code Provisions”) as set out
in the “Corporate Governance Code” contained in Appendix C1 of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the”Listing Rules”) on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
As far as the Code Provisions is concerned, for the year ended 31
December 2023 (the “Year”) and up to the date of this annual
report, the Company complies with all aspect of the Code Provisions.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year that
give a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as a going
concern basis in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements required by the Listing
Rules and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, amended from
time to time. This responsibilities include designing, implementing
and maintaining internal control systems relevant to the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.
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Corporate Governance Report

N P T2
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(a) Directors’ securities transactions

Adoption of Model Code

The Board has adopted the “Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” (the "Model
Code”), amended from time to time, as set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors.

Confirmation on Compliance

Specific respectively enquiry has been made to all the Directors
regarding any non-compliance with the Model Code during
the Year and up to the date of this annual report, they all
confirmed in writing that they have fully complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code during the Year
and up to the date of this annual report.

Written Guideline for Relevant Employees

In addition, the Company has also adopted provisions of the
Model Code as written guidelines for relevant employees, who
are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside information
of the Company. Such relevant employees did and would abide
by the provisions of the Model Code. Besides, the Company has
adopted internal control policy in relation to the disclosure of
inside information of the Company (the “Inside Information
Policy”).

No incident of non-compliance of the Model Code and/or the
Inside Information Policy by such relevant employees was noted
by the Company.
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(b)

Corporate Governance Report

The Board

Composition

The nomination committee of the Company (“NC”) is
responsible for reviewing the Board composition and diversity
of the Board, developing and formulating the relevant
procedures for nomination and appointment of the Directors,
monitoring the re-appointment and succession planning of the
Directors and assessing the independence of each independent
non-executive Director.

The composition of the Board ensures a balance of skills and
experiences appropriate to the requirements of the businesses
and the development of the Company and to the exercising of
independent. Other than Dr. Mo Shikang is the father of Miss
Mo Yunbi, the Board members have no financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationships with each other.

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the
date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors:

Dr. Mo Shikang (Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Hesheng (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Fan Fangyi (Managing Director)
Miss Mo Yunbi

Ms. Li Fun Replen

Independent non-executive Directors:
Dr. Liu Junmin

Prof. Zhao Yanyun

Mr. Cheung Chi Ming
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Corporate Governance Report

RELIHRSE
(b) The Board (Continued)

Composition (Continued)

The composition, experiences, balance of skills, qualifications
and diversity on the Board are regularly reviewed by the NC
to ensure that the Board retains a core of members with
longstanding and deep knowledge of the Group alongside new
Directors who bring fresh perspectives and diverse experiences
to the Board.

The Board complied with the requirements of the Listing Rules
relating to (i) the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive Directors with at least one of them possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise; (ii) independent non-executive
Director representing at least one-third of the Board; and (iii)
the audit committee of the Company (“AC”) should comprise
only independent non-executive Directors.

The biographical details of all the current Directors are set out
in this annual report.

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in this annual
report and all corporate communications issued by the Company
pursuant to the Listing Rules from time to time. The Company
also maintains on its website (www.681hk.com) and on the Stock
Exchange's website (www.hkexnews.hk) an updated list of its
Directors (by category) identifying the role and function.

Appointment, Re-election and Resignation of Directors

The Company has established formal, considered and
transparent procedures and criteria for the appointment, re-
election, resignation, re-designation, rotation, retirement and/
or removal of the Director(s) in accordance with the Company’s
Bye-laws, the Listing Rules and all applicable laws.

Pursuant to the Company's Bye-laws and/or the Code Provisions
of the Listing Rules, (1) at each annual general meeting of the
Company ("AGM") not less than one-third of the Directors for
the time being shall retire from the Board by rotation; (2) each
Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years at the conclusion of the AGM after he/she
was last re-elected as Director by shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholder(s)”) at the AGM and (3) each Director
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director
by the Board should retire from the Board at the conclusion of
the first annual general meeting of the Company to be held
but they, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election as the
Director by the Shareholders at the same meeting.
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The Board (Continued)

Appointment,
(Continued)

Re-election and Resignation of Directors

During the Year, Mr. Fan Fangyi, Miss Mo Yunbi and Prof. Zhao
Yanyun retired from the Board by rotation at the conclusion
of the AGM held on 16 June 2023 (the “2023 AGM") and
were then re-elected as the Directors by the Shareholders with
separate resolutions passed in the 2023 AGM in accordance
with the Company’s Bye-laws and the Listing Rules.

In accordance with Bye-laws of the Company and pursuant to
the Code Provisions, Dr. Mo Shikang, Mr. Zhang Hesheng, and
Dr. Liu Junmin shall retire from the Board by rotation at the
conclusion of forthcoming AGM (“2024 AGM") but, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the 2024 AGM.

Dr. Liu Junmin served as an independent non-executive Director
from 11 April 2005 and he will be re-election as Director at the
2024 AGM. During his tenure, Dr. Liu Junmin has demonstrated
his ability to provide independent view to the Company’s
matters. The Board and the nomination committee of the
Company ("NC") are of the view that Dr. Liu Junmin is able to
continue to fulfill his role as required and thus recommended
him for re-election at the 2024 AGM in accordance with the
Listing Rules, his further re-election will be subject to a separate
resolution to be approved by the Shareholders. Dr. Liu Junmin
has made a written annual confirmation of independence for
the Year pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board and the NC have also recommended the re-election
of all the abovementioned retiring Directors (Dr. Mo Shikang,
Mr. Zhang Hesheng and Dr. Liu Junmin) standing for re-election
at the 2024 AGM.

Detailed biographical information of all the abovementioned
retiring Directors standing for re-election at the 2024 AGM will
be dispatched to Shareholders with this annual report.
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EEINRSE
(b) The Board (Continued)

Service Contracts with the Company

Each of the independent non-executive Director, Miss Mo
Yunbi and Ms. Li Fun Replen, executive Director, have entered
into service contracts with the Company without specific
period respectively. Save as disclosed above, the Company did
not enter into any service contract with other Directors. All
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws and the Listing Rules.

Number of Meetings Held and Attendance

The Board normally has at least four (4) scheduled meetings
a year to review the strategies and budgets, internal control
systems, risk management systems, environmental, social and
governance report, material transactions (in particular those
may involve conflict of interests), financial information, change
of Directors, ad hoc projects and other significant financial and
operational matters, if any, and meets at other times as and
when required. The Board requires Directors to devote sufficient
time and attention to discharge their duties and responsibilities.
During the Year, a total number of seven (7) Board meetings,
four (4) AC meetings, one (1) NC meeting and one (1)
remuneration committee of the Company (“RC”) meeting
and were held. Minutes of these meetings are currently kept
by the Company Secretary of the Company and are open for
inspection by the Directors and Board committees’ members.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board (Continued)
Number of Meetings Held and Attendance (Continued)

During the Year, the Board has regularly reviewed the
contributions from the Directors and confirmed that they have
spent sufficient time performing their responsibilities. The
individual attendance records of each Director, on a named
basis, at the meetings of the Board, AC, NC and RC as well as
the Shareholders’ meeting(s) (AGM and special general meeting
("SGM"), if any), during the Year are set out below:
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AEERN EFECERRIEFTHAQA
PRI BV BB - 30 FERR IR 1 AR S0 ] B
TERE -AFERN SEREMNBEEAR
AEEE BREZEL RAZAGREMH
ZEGRRUAMERRE (RRBFAGR
BREFRAE (F) 2Rk (RREHS
D5 &

—~

AGM Board AC NC RC
Names of Director BEiE REBEAE Eze EVRZEe REZEE §Mzag
Numbers of Meeting g34E 1 7 4 1 1
Executive Directors BITEE
Dr. Mo Shikang EtEET N 1 i i
Mr. Zhang Hesheng RANERE N 1 11
Mr. Fan Fangyi BHERE N 1
Miss Mo Yunbi EEE)A N 1
Ms. Li Fun Replen ZELT N 1
Independent Non-executive Directors BIHHTES
Dr. Liu Junmin ABRET N 1 44 i i
Prof. Zhao Yanyun BEEHR N 1 44 i i
Mr. Cheung Chi Ming REBREE N 1 44 i i

The high attendance record at the Board and its committee
meetings during the Year, which was reviewed by the NC and
RC, demonstrated the Directors’ strong commitment to the
Company.

Each Director ensures that he/she can give sufficient time and
attention to the Company's affairs. All Directors disclose to
the Board on their first appointment their interests as Director
or otherwise in other companies or organisations and such
information be reviewed and/or updated regularly. During the
Year, the Board has regularly reviewed the contributions from
the Directors and confirmed that they have spent sufficient time
in performing their responsibilities.
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EEINRSE
(b) The Board (Continued)

Responsibility of the Board

The Company has a division of functions reserved to the
Board and delegated to the senior management. The Board
currently provides leadership and approves strategic polices
and plans with a view to enhance Shareholders’ interests while
the day-to-day operations of the Company and the Group
are delegated to the senior management. The Board has full
support of the managing Director and the senior management
to discharge its responsibilities.

The Board reserves for its decisions all major matters of
the Group, including the approval and monitoring of all
policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal
control systems, environmental, social and governance, risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those
may involve conflict of interests), financial information, change
of Directors, ad hoc projects and other significant financial and
operational matters.

Responsibility of the Directors

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of
the Group are delegated to managing and executive Directors
and the senior management. The delegated functions and work
tasks are periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained
from the Board prior to any significant transactions entered into
by the above mentioned officers.

Each executive Director is delegated individual responsibility to
oversee and monitor the operations of the specific business unit
and/or corporate transactions and to implement the strategies
and polices set by the Board. Each Director may seek for
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances
at the Company’s expenses, upon making request to the Board.
All members of the Board are provided with monthly updates to
enable them to discharge their duties.
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The Board (Continued)

Responsibility of and Annual Confirmation from Independent
Non-Executive Directors

Through active participation in meetings of the Board, Board
committees and general meetings of the Company, the
independent non-executive Directors currently bring professional
qualifications, a wide range of business knowledges and
financial expertise, experiences, skills and independent judgment
on the issues of strategy, policy, performance accountability,
usage of resources, key appointments, connected transactions
and standards of conduct to the Board. Independent non-
executive Directors have taken and/or shall take lead when
potential conflicts of interest arise. Independent Board
committee, comprising all independent non-executive Directors,
has formed and/or will form to advise the independent
Shareholders on those connected transactions to be approved
by the independent Shareholders at the SGM. All independent
non-executive Directors have made various contributions to the
effective direction and performance of the Company. One of the
independent non-executive Directors possesses the appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has received, from each independent non-
executive Directors for the Year, a written annual confirmation
of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Board and the NC considered all of the independent non-
executive Directors are independent in accordance with the
independent guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

Insurance of the Directors

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and Officers’
liability insurance including company securities, employment
practices, regulatory crisis event, investigation, litigation, tax
liabilities and public relation, etc, for the Directors and senior
officers of the Group, which is reviewed by the Board on a
regular basis. The Company undertakes an annual review of
the Company’s Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance policy
in light of recent trends in the insurance market and other
relevant factors. The review benchmarks the amount of cover
against other similar companies and considers whether separate
cover be required for members of the Board.
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Corporate Governance Report

EEINRSE
(b) The Board (Continued)

Conflict of Interest

All Directors are required to comply with their duties to act in
the best interest of the Company and have particular regard to
the interest of the Shareholders as a whole. Amongst others,
all Directors are required to declare the nature and extent of
their interests, if any, in any transaction, arrangement, contract
or other proposal to be considered by the Board at meetings.
Unless specifically permitted by the Bye-laws of the Company,
a Director cannot cast a vote on any contract, transaction,
arrangement or any other proposal in which he/she has or any
of his/her close associates is materially interested.

Supply of and Access to Information

The Board and Board committees members are supplied with
comprehensive meeting papers and relevant materials within a
reasonable period of time in advance of the intended meeting
date (in any event no less than three (3) days before the date of
the meeting). All Directors and the Board committees members
are given opportunities to include matters in the agenda for
regular Board and Board committees meetings and/or their
meetings, if required. To facilitate the decision-making process,
the Directors and the Board committees members are free to
have access to the management for enquiries and to obtain
further information, when required.

All Directors and the Board committees members have
unrestricted access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary, who ensures that the Board and Board committees
receive appropriate and timely information for its decision-
making and the Board and Board committees procedures,
and all applicable rules and regulations, are being followed.
The Directors and the Board committees members can obtain
independent professional advice at the Company’s expenses.
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The Board (Continued)

Supply of and Access to Information (Continued)

The Board receives from the management monthly management
accounts, explanation or analysis of the operation performance
of the Group and relevant information which enable the Board to
make an informed assessment for the performance of the Group,
from time to time. Other regular and ad hoc reports are also
prepared for the Board and Board committees, to ensure that
the Directors and members of the Board committees are supplied
with all the requested information in a timely and appropriate
manner.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Role of Chairman

The Company fully supports the division of responsibility
between the chairman of the Board and the Managing Director,
who perform similar role as chief executive officer, to ensure a
balance of power and authority. The respective responsibilities
of the chairman of the Board and the Managing Director are
clearly defined. The chairman of the Board provides leadership
and is responsible for the effective functioning of the Board in
accordance with good corporate governance practice. With the
support of the management, the chairman of the Board is also
responsible for ensuring that the Directors receive adequate
information and appropriate briefing on issues arising at Board
meetings. The position of the chairman of the Board is currently
held by Dr. Mo Shikang.

The chairman of the Board ensures that the Board works
effectively and performs its responsibilities, and that all key
and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely
manner. He also ensures all Directors are properly briefed on
issues to be discussed at Board meetings. The chairman of the
Board encourages Directors with different views to voice their
concerns, allows sufficient time for discussion of issues and
ensures that Board decisions fairly reflect Board consensus. He
pushes all Directors to make a full and active contributions to
the Board’s affairs and takes the lead to ensure that the Board
acts in the best interest of the Company and the Shareholders
as whole.
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LEELHRE

(d)

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (Continued)

Role of Chief Executive Officer

The Managing Director focuses on implementing objectives, policies
and strategies approved and delegated by the Board. He is in
charge of the Company’s day-to-day management and operations.
The Managing Director is also responsible for developing strategic
plans and formulating the organisational structure, internal control
system, risk management system and internal procedures and
processes for the Board's approval. The position of the Managing
Director is currently held by Mr. Fan Fangyi.

Training for Directors

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment,
so as to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the
Group structure, Board and Board committees meetings procedures,
business, management and operations of the Company, etc. and
that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements in
Bermuda and Hong Kong.

An induction programme covering the roles of a Director from
the strategic, planning and management perspective, the
Listing Rules, the Securities and Futures Ordinance, as well as
the essence of corporate governance and the trends in these
areas, be therefore arranged for newly appointed Director(s), if
any, after he/she joined the Board.

The Board acknowledges that continuous professional
development and training of Directors is an ongoing process
to ensure the continued enhancement of their skills and
knowledge.
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LEELHRE
(d) Training for Directors (Continued) (d)y EEZB2HEI (&)
Besides, the Company keeps circulating information and materials BrRitt 2 o1 - AR R EBER S B E MK
to develop and refresh Directors’ knowledge and skills from time ME - EEMBFESNMBREE-FIE
to time. All the information and materials are relevant to the B R MBI EREE 2 ¥ K %
Group's business, the economy, corporate governance, rules and B HBIRAD - &5 MBS EERE
requlations, accounting, financial or professional skills and/or R/ SREENBEMETAR - S LHETEH
directors’ duties and responsibilities. There are also arrangements MEEEREGREZERZEINI NFEANE
in place for providing continuing briefing and professional EEIIRHEAABHINAT
development to each Director. During the Year, the record of the
trainings of the Directors, on named basis, is set out in the table
below:
Receiving
briefings from
Reading financial
journals, officers,
written Attending company
training webcast secretary
materials and/ training and/ and/or other
or updates or forums executives
31 G 5 il
HBAR AR [
MEST 88 E kL WEM R
AR, EBEYRS HitbmEH giﬁ
Directors Bx HEH o= w18 LR
>
o
Executive Directors HITES g
Dr. Mo Shikang St EEIE L v/ Ve ©
Mr. Zhang Hesheng R E v/ v/ v B
Mr. Fan Fangyi BHELE v/ v B
Miss Mo Yunbi REZ/NE v v
Ms. Li Fun Replen TET v/ v/ v/
Independent Non-executive Directors B F#HITEE
Dr. Liu Junmin BB RE L v v
Prof. Zhao Yanyun HEZHE v/ v
Mr. Cheung Chi Ming RAEMRLE v/ v/ v
All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training AAREBERBESLFEBEIRE &
courses at the Company's expenses. The company secretary is AEARFIBRE RAANBEBERGTSES
responsible to keep records of training taken by each Director. BEXrERs - RE L EEFEEHSE
The NC reviewed the training records of each Director annually. E s &
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ERELHRSE
(e) Company Secretary

The company secretary, being an employee of the Company, has
day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs and reports to
the Board. She keeps close contact with all Directors and ensures
that the operation of the Board and all Board committees are in
compliance with the procedures as set forth in the Company’s
Bye-laws and the Listing Rules. Additionally, the company
secretary is responsible for compiling and regularly submitting
draft minutes of Board meetings and Board Committee meetings
to the Directors and committee members for their comment, and
final version of minutes for their records, within a reasonable
time after the relevant meetings. Each Director may obtain advice
from and the assistance of the company secretary to ensure that
the meeting of Board and Board committees procedures, and
all applicable rules and regulations, are followed. To ensure the
possession of up-to-date knowledge and market information to
perform her duties, the company secretary attended sufficient
professional training during the Year.

Corporate Governance

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties, which includes developing and reviewing the Company'’s
policy and practices on corporate governance, assessing and
monitoring the training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management. During the Year, the Board
reviewed, monitored and assessed the policy and practices on
corporate governance, training and continuous professional
development to Directors and senior management, policies and
practice on compliance with legal and regulatory requirement
and the compliance with the Model Code under the Listing Rule
and disclosure requirements in this Corporate Governance Report.
The Board kept under review in light of the changing legal and
regulatory requirements.
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Corporate Governance Report

Board Committees

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
AC, NC and RC is responsible for monitoring the Company'’s
specific affairs. All Board committees of the Company have
been established with defined written terms of reference,
which are disclosed in the corporate website of the Company
(www.681hk.com) and the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk)
and are available to Shareholders upon request.

The members of the AC at present are all independent non-
executive Directors whereas, the majority of NC and the RC
comprise independent non-executive Directors. The list of the
chairman and members of each Board committee is set out
under "Corporate Information” in this annual report.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at Company'’s expenses.

Audit Committee

The written terms of reference (amended from time to time)
has been suggested under the Code Provisions. The AC
currently comprises independent non-executive Directors,
among them one independent non-executive Director possesses
the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise. None of the
members of the AC is a director, former partner or principal
of the Company's existing external auditor. The AC currently
comprises the following three members:

(i)  Mr. Cheung Chi Ming, (chairman)
(i) Dr. Liu Junmin

(iii)  Prof. Zhao Yanyun
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LEELHRE

(g) Board Committees (Continued)

Audit Committee (Continued)

The main duties of the AC include the followings:

(1)

To review the financial statements and reports and
consider any significant or unusual items raised by the
responsible staff of accounting and financial report
function, compliance officer (if any), internal auditor or
external auditor before submission to the Board,;

To review the relationship with the external auditor and
its independence by reference to the work performed and
services provided by the external auditor, their fees, their
firm’s standards and practices and terms of engagement,
and make recommendation to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and/or removal of external
auditor;

To review the continuing connected transactions as
disclosed in the annual report, if any, and confirm that
those transactions entered into by the Group were (i) in
the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and (iii)
according to the respective agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interest
of the Shareholders as a whole; and

To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company’s financial reporting system, internal control
system and risk management system and associated
procedures.
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EEBLIHRE

() Board Committees (Continued) (9 BEEZEE(HE)

Audit Committee (Continued) EZZEE (&)

The AC held four (4) meetings during the Year and up to the AEFEERARBEAREHHIL BE%EET

date of this annual report to, inter alia, BERTOA)REHE - A (HEPEE) :

(1) review and approve the draft audited and unaudited (1) BHEEIELEZEAEEZEREY
consolidated financial statement together with and the BHREERA EREBEELATE
respective draft result announcements, including changes BA BEGHEELRSRES 2
in accounting policies and practices; major judgmental HESHE B8R cERFAR (N
areas; significant adjustments resulting from the audit B) BERERR gt REZEL
(if any); going concern assumption; compliance with EREEMBREREEBYKRE
accounting and auditing standards and compliance with ZEERE UNHESERERILE:

the Listing Rules and legal requirements in relation to
financial reporting to the Board for consideration and

approval;
(2) review the results of the external audit and discuss with (2) EHEBUZHMzEXER WEB
the external auditor on any significant findings and audit UREMENEMEREREREEE
issues; H:
S
(3) assess the independence of the external auditor of the (3) FHEARFTIINEBZEMRETE Y LE %iﬂé
Company and the effectiveness of audit process; EIZBE 2 <
2
(4)  review the relationship with the external auditor and then @) BEESNEREM R REHEE
recommend the re-appointment of the external auditor of BEARGIINEZEMEEZES %
the Company and recommended its remuneration; [ -
®
(5) evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's (5) FHEAEEZAIMEHEERERZR g_
systems of internal control and risk management; GrREBERDRAEN: S
(6) review the adequacy of resources, qualifications (6) BFHRALEBEEGHKMBREREET
and experience of staffs of the Group’s accounting ZER- ﬁTR&W%&EPE‘%JHﬁ%U&
and financial reporting function and their training HERER
programmes and budget; and
(7)  review the current continuing connected transactions. (7) REFZIFEBRER S -

The attendance records of the meetings of AC during the Year 5
is set out in this report. PN
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EEINRSE
(g) Board Committees (Continued)

Audit Committee (Continued)
Auditor’s Remuneration

During the Year, the fee paid/payable to auditor in respect of
audit service and/or non-audit services provided by the auditor
to the Group were as follows:
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Audit for the Year REFEEZ 1,000
Nomination Committee IEZE®
The written terms of reference has been suggested (amended REZBEGRRTEABRXNERASHE
from time to time) under the Code Provisions. The NC currently BiESRE (CTHER)  BBELZECIR K
comprises the following four members, major of them are BB IEMITERAR  HETHIEE
independent non-executive Directors: BB

(i)  Dr. Mo Shikang*, (chairman)

(i) Dr. Liu Junmin®

(iii)  Prof. Zhao Yanyun”

(iv)  Mr. Cheung Chi Ming”

# executive Director

* independent non-executive Director

The main duties of the NC include the followings:

(1) review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at
least annually and make recommendations any proposed

changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy;
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Board Committees (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

(2) identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of, individuals nominated for
directorships;

(3) review the Board diversity with reference to the Board
Diversity Policy (defined below);

(4) assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and

(5)  make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors in particular the chairman and the chief
executive officer.

Nomination Policy

The NC has been delegated by the Board to review the size,
structure and composition of the Board on an annual basis.

The Company has adopted below the policy for nomination of
Directors (including the nomination procedures and criteria for
selection and recommendation of candidates for directorship) in
accordance with the Code Provisions.

Objective of the policy

NC shall nominate suitable candidates to the Board for it to
consider and make recommendations to the Shareholders
for election as Director(s) at general meetings or appoint as
Director(s) to fill casual vacancies.

NC may, as it considers appropriate, nominate a number
of candidates more than the number of the Directors to be
appointed or re-appointed at a general meeting, or the number
of casual vacancies to be filled.

ERELHS

EEERE (&)
REZAE ()

MEABERBEERAETESEMA
T WHERZRABALTHEIESS
HRAEESREER:

—
~

<P

) REEFEXBZTLBRRIES
EREMNZTTI(ERRTX) :

(4) FHEBMIERTEEHBIIE: R
(5) HMEFZEAEHZEURES (L

HEFRRITRAR) BEFERE
ERRNER-

HE 5 B

%%Aﬁéﬁk%§AE FRIEFE
Z R B AR
ARRARRETAERX KA TEFTRBR
R(BEREEFNRELENNESREA
HHERS) ©

BR B I

REZESAANEFTSRZEE AE - Ut
E=SERRARREBRNERAS L&
EE%% IHEETSZERES AR

B 22

REZEERAMAZHEN (REAR
HE)BBABNERAG LREXENRE
MEEAY  RBBEFBEFANREZRE
Eo

PRERBRAE

2023FR(BE2023F 12531 B ILF )

41

4T
o
P
{in
£
|

£
o
Q.
[
o
Q
o
[=
(]
f=
=
(4
>
o
O
[
-
©
=
o
Qo
=
o
v




Corporate Governance Report

EEINRSE
(g) Board Committees (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

Selection Criteria

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the NC
in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate:

reputation for integrity;

accomplishment, experiences and/or knowledge in the
principal business of our group, from time to time;

commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest; and

diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age (18 years or above), cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be
exhaustive and decisive. The NC has the discretion to nominate
any person, as it considers appropriate.

Nomination Procedures

1.

The secretary of the NC shall call a meeting of the
NC, and invite nominations of candidates from Board
members, if any, for consideration by the NC prior to its
meeting. The NC may also put forward candidates who
are not nominated by Board members.

For filling a casual vacancy, the NC shall make
recommendations for the Board’s consideration and
approval. For proposing candidates to stand for election
at a general meeting, the NC shall make nominations to
the Board for its consideration and recommendation.

Until the issue of the circular to Shareholders, the
nominated persons shall not assume that they have been
proposed by the Board to stand for election at the general
meeting.
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Board Committees (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

The Company has adopted a Board diversity policy (“Board
Diversity Policy”) and has posted it on the Company’s website
(www.681hk.com), which sets out the approach to achieve
diversity on the Board, the summary of which are set out
below:

(a)

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development, the Company sees increasing diversity at
the Board level as an essential element in supporting the
attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable
development.

In designing the Board’s composition, the diversity of
Board members has been considered from a number of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

The NC held one (1) meetings during the Year and up to the
date of this report to, inter alia,

(1)

assess the structure, size and composition of the Board
and analysis the diversity of the Board with reference to
the Board Diversity Policy adopted by the Board;

evaluate the performance of the Board with reference to
the Board performance report;

study the independence of each independent non-
executive Director in accordance with the Listing Rules;

identify those Directors to be retired from the Board and
by rotation in the AGM and then be re-elected as Director
in the same meeting in accordance with the Company's
Bye-laws and the Listing Rules;
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tEXELIHE
(g) Board Committees (Continued) (9 BEEZEE(H)
Nomination Committee (Continued) RBEZEE (&)
(5) propose the maximum number of Directors of the Board (5) RREBFEFASEZESTESRZES
in the AGM; and AR
(6) review the service contract(s) entered and to be entered 6) BHELABEEBFRITILZRBESY
with the Director(s), if any (wnA)
The attendance records of the meetings of the NC during the REZESAFEANZGH DB LHEIRN
Year is set in this report. ERER
Analysis of the diversity of the Board by NC is shown by the THEEXRERTHAREZESHRESS
following charts: Z b AT
Executive Directors Independent Non-executive Directors
B IERITES
i”wqrqbqh i”ijr
Age Group

| 56-70 >70
FRR [megdow w0
Directorship with
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EEINRSE
(g) Board Committees (Continued)

Remuneration Committee

The written terms of reference (amended from time to time)
of RC has been suggested under the Code Provisions. The RC
currently comprises the following five members:

(i)  Mr. Cheung Chi Ming", chairman
(i) Dr. Mo Shikang*

(iii)  Mr. Zhang Hesheng?*

(iv)  Dr. Liu Junmin®

(v)  Prof. Zhao Yanyun*

* independent non-executive Director

# executive Director

The RC meets at least once a year to determine the remuneration
policy for the Directors and senior management. The RC
has primary responsibility for making recommendations on
and approving the remuneration policy and structure and
remuneration packages of the executive Directors and senior
management to the Board after consultation with the Chairman
and Deputy Chairman, assessed performance of the executive
Directors and accessed to professional advice, at the Company's
expenses, when necessary. The RC is also responsible for
establishing a formal and transparent procedures for developing
such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director
or any of his/her associates be participated in deciding his/her own
remuneration, which remuneration be determined by reference to
the duties and responsibilities of Directors in the Group, business
performance, profitability and market conditions.
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Board Committees (Continued)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

The RC held one (1) meetings during the Year and up to the
date of this report to, inter alia,

(1) review the summary of remuneration package paid to
each Director and senior management of the Company
for the Year;

(2) study the current remuneration package, policy and
structure of all Directors (including appointment(s),
resignation(s) and retirement(s) during the Year, if any);

(3) propose remuneration packages in the coming year with
reference to the duties and responsibilities of Directors,
business performance and profitability of the Group
and market conditions, the corporate objective and goal
set by the Board with reference to salaries paid by the
comparable companies to Directors;

(4) consider the service contract(s) entered and to be entered
with Director(s) and/or Director(s), if any; and

(5) review the procedures of remuneration policy, procedures
and structure for fixing the remuneration packages.

The attendance records of the meetings of the RC during the
Year is set out in this report.
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RN 2N
EEINRSE
(h) Internal Control and Risk Management System

The Board has overall responsibility for the systems of internal
control and risk management of the Group and for reviewing
its effectiveness. The Board is committed to implementing an
effective and sound internal control and risk management
systems to safeguard the interest of Shareholders and the
assets of the Group. During the Year and up to the date
of this annual report, the Board, through the AC, reviewed
the implementation of the systems of internal control and
risk management and reviewing of financial, operational,
compliance controls and risk management functions system. A
review be conducted at least annually on the effectiveness of
the systems of internal control and risk management. During
the Year and up to the date of this annual report, we has
reviewed and monitored effectiveness of our major subsidiaries
in relation to corporate management, human resource,
procurement and sale, inventory, finance, engineering, fixed
assets, contracts and/or information system.

The Group has maintained a tailored governance structure
with defined lines of responsibility and appropriate delegation
of responsibility and authority to the management. The
internal control and risk management systems of the Group
are designed to identify and evaluate the significant risks and
to minimise the risks to which the Group is exposed, and are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risks of failure
to achieve business objective, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatements or
losses.

The Group which currently engages in the businesses of
the sales and distribution of fuel gas including piped gas
transmission and distribution, cylinder gas supply, gas
distribution, and food ingredients supply and FMCG supply in
China, has established internal control and risk management
systems which are designed and structured in accordance with
its specific business and operation functions.
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Internal Control and Risk Management System (Continued)

The Board monitors the Group’s business risk, operating
risk management and internal controls. An internal audit
team is maintained to carry out internal audit functions to
ensure proper compliance with the internal control and risk
management systems to identify the potential risks which may
arise in the operation and financial aspects of the Group's
business for implementation of appropriate measures and
policies on a continuing basis. The scope of review and the
audit plan of the internal audit team for the Year, which are
formulated based on a risk assessment approach and focuses
on areas with relatively higher perceived risks, are reviewed and
approved by the AC in conjunction with the management. The
internal audit team executes its functions based on a yearly
plan and prepares reports for its assignments. These reports
are submitted to the management, the Board and the AC for
review on a regular basis.

During the Year, the Board, through the AC, has conducted
a review of the effectiveness of the internal control and
risk management systems and the internal audit functions
of Group. The review covers all material controls, including
financial reporting system, operational and compliance controls
and risk management system. The Board and the AC confirmed
that during the Year, there were no significant control failings
or weaknesses identified which might have a material impact
on the Company’s financial performance or condition and
the required procedures and human resources are in place to
ensure adequate internal controls within the Group.

An external audit has also been conducted to carry out the
internal audit functions to ensure proper compliance with
the internal control system and risk management system to
identify the potential risks which may arise in the operation
and financial of the Group's business for implementation
of appropriate measures and policies on a continuing basis.
The scope of review and the audit programme of external
audit firm, which are formulated based on a risk assessment
approach and focuses on areas with relatively higher perceived
risks, are approved by the AC at the end of the preceding
financial year in conjunction with the management. The
external audit firm executes their functions based on a yearly
plan and prepares reports for their assignments. These reports
are submitted to the management, the Board and the AC for
review on a regular basis. Such reports are also circulated to the
external auditor on an annual basis.
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LEELHRE

(h) Internal Control and Risk Management System (Continued)

Procedures and Internal Controls for Handling and
Dissemination of Inside Information

The Board has approved and adopted an Inside Information
Policy for the Company for monitoring inside information to
ensure compliance with the Listing Rules and the Securities and
Futures Ordinance. The procedures and internal controls for
handling and dissemination of inside information as set out in
the Inside Information Policy are summarised below:

Handling of Inside Information

(a) Inside information shall be announced as soon as
reasonably practicable after it becomes known to the
Board and/or is the subject of a decision by the Board
in accordance with the Listing Rules. In cases where a
decision by the Board is pending or in cases of incomplete
negotiations, the Group shall implement the procedures
set out in the Inside Information Policy to maintain the
confidentiality of information. Until an announcement is
made, the Directors and the management should ensure
that such information is kept strictly confidential. If the
confidentiality cannot be maintained, an announcement
shall be made as soon as practicable.

(b) Each department shall keep inside information on
transactions confidential. If there is a leakage of inside
information, they shall inform the Directors and/or the
company secretary, immediately so that remedial actions,
including making an inside information announcement,
can be taken at the earliest opportunity.

() The Group's finance department shall keep track of the
Group's threshold levels for disclosure pursuant to the
percentage ratios as defined in the Listing Rules, so that
an announcement can be made as soon as practicable
should a notifiable transaction arise.
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Internal Control and Risk Management System (Continued)

Dissemination of Inside Information

Inside information is announced promptly through the websites
of the Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.681hk.com). The electronic publication system of the
Stock Exchange is the first channel of dissemination of the
Group's information before any other channels.

Investor Relation

The Company has committed to maintain an open and effective
investor relation policy and to update investors on relevant
information/developments in a timely manner, subject to
relevant regulatory requirements. Briefings and meetings with
institutional investors and analysts, if required, are conducted
from time to time. The Company also replied the enquiries from
Shareholders timely. The Directors host the AGM each year to
meet the Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

The Company's website at www.681hk.com contains important
corporate information, biographical details of current Directors,
organisation structure, annual and interim reports with
comprehensive and user-friendly information about the Group,
as well as announcements and circulars issued by the Company
in order to enable the Shareholders and the investor community
to have timely access to updated information about the
Company and the Group.

Shareholders’ Rights

Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company may deposit a requisition to convene
a SGM and state the purpose therefore at the Company's
registered office in Bermuda at Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31
Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda.

Dividend Policy

The Directors propose the dividend, if any, in accordance with
the dividend policy of the Company (”Dividend Policy”) which
essential features are summarised below:

(h)
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LEELHRE

Shareholders’ Rights (Continued)
Dividend Policy (Continued)

Purpose

The Dividend Policy sets out the principles and guidelines of
the Company in relation to the distribution of dividend to the
Shareholders.

The objective of the Dividend Policy is to reward the
Shareholders by sharing a portion of profits/earning, while also
ensuring that enough funds are retained for the future growth
and prospects of the Company.

Factors when considering the distribution of dividend

The distribution of any dividend by the Company is subject to
the discretion of the Board, which normally did/will take into
account of the following factors:

e The financial results of the Company and the Group;

e Interests of the Shareholders;

e General business conditions and strategies;

e The capital requirements of the Group;

e (Contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by
the Company to the Shareholders or by the subsidiaries to
the Company, if any;

e  Taxation considerations;

e Possible effects on our creditworthiness;

e  Statutory and regulatory restrictions; and

®  Any other factors the Board may deem relevant.

There is no assurance that any particular dividend amount, or
any dividend at all, will be declared and paid in the future.

Provisions with regard to distribution of dividend

Any distribution of dividend for a financial year shall be subject
to the approval by the Shareholders. Shareholders at a general
meeting of the Company can approve any distribution of final
dividend, which may not exceed the amount recommended by
the Board.

All of the Shareholders have equal rights to dividend.
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Corporate Governance Report

Shareholders’ Rights (Continued)
Dividend Policy (Continued)

Provisions with regard to distribution of dividend (Continued)

Dividend may be distributed in the form of cash and/in specie
of Shares. Any distribution of Shares, however, must be
approved by the Shareholders.

The Board may from time to time to declare the special,
quarterly and/or interim dividends as appear to the Board to be
justified.

Communication Policy

The Company has adopted communications policy with
Shareholders and investors that provide ready, equal and timely
access to understandable information about the Company, the
policy is posted on the Company’s website (www.681hk.com).
The Board is welcome to Shareholders for their comments and/
or enquiries about the Company. Shareholders may send their
comments and/or enquiries to the Board by addressing them
to the company secretary who ensures these enquires and/or
comments to be properly directed to the Board. Shareholders
who wish to put forward proposal for the Company’'s
consideration at the general meetings can send their proposal
to the company secretary.

Pursuant to Bye-laws of the Company, if a Shareholder wish
to propose a person other than a retiring Director for election
as a Director at a general meeting of the Company, the
Shareholder should deposit a written notice of nomination
which shall be given to the head office of the Company within
the 7-day period commencing the day after the despatch of
the notice of the meeting (or such other period as may be
determined and announced by the Directors from time to
time). The relevant procedures are posted on the Company’s
website (www.681hk.com).

Shareholders should direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong branch registrar
and transfer office, namely, Tricor Tengis Limited, whose
contact details are stated in the section headed “Corporate
Information” of this annual report.
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RELIHRSE
(k)  Communications with Shareholders and Investors

The Company’s AGM is one of the principal channels of
communication with its Shareholders. The Board and the
management are committed to the constructive use of AGM as
a forum to meet with Shareholders and to hear their views and
answer their enquiries about the Group and its business.

Dr. Mo Shikang, the chairman of the Board, did and would
use his endeavours to attend all Shareholders’ meetings.
The chairman of the Board did and would arrange for the
chairmen of RC, NC and AC or their alternates be available to
answer enquiries at each AGM of the Company. A member
of the independent Board committee of the Company also
be available to answer enquiries at any general meeting
of the Company, if any, to approve connected transactions
or any other transactions that are subject to independent
Shareholders" approval.

The Board did and would arrange auditor to attend every AGM
of the Company to answer questions about the conduct of the
audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and auditor’s independence.

Most resolutions would be passed by way of poll at each
of the general meeting of the Company. Shareholders who
are unable to attend general meetings of the Company can
appoint proxies to attend and vote at general meetings of the
Company. The chairman of general meetings of the Company
would provide explanation of the detailed procedures for
conducting a poll and then would answer enquiries (if any)
from the Shareholders regarding voting by way of poll. The
Company would send notice of the AGM of the Company to
the Shareholders at least 21 clear days before each AGM of the
Company and at least 14 clear days before all other general
meetings of the Company.

The Company’s website (www.681hk.com) is maintained
for the dissemination of the Company’s announcements,
press releases and other relevant financial and non-financial
information on a timely basis.

The Company continues to enhance communications and
relationships with its investors. Executive Director maintains
dialogue with institutional investors and analysts to keep
them abreast of the Company’s developments. Enquiries from
investors are dealt with in an informative and timely manner.
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Proposed Amendments to the Bye-laws

The existing Bye-laws have not been amended since 2009.
The Stock Exchange has amended the Listing Rules, relating
to, among others, the articles of association or equivalent
constitutional documents of listed issuers under the new
Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules with effect from 1 January
2022 for which listed issuers are required to make necessary
amendments to the constitutional documents by the second
annual general meeting following 1 January 2022 to bring their
constitutional documents to conformation.

In order to (i) bring the Bye-laws in line with the relevant
requirements of the Listing Rules as well as the applicable laws
of Bermuda; (i) allow general meetings of the Company to
be held in the form of a hybrid meeting or electronic meeting
where the Shareholders may attend by electronic means in
addition to a physical meeting where the Shareholders attend
in person; and (iii) adopt house-keeping improvements and
amendments in line with the aforesaid proposed amendments,
the Directors got the approval from the Shareholders by way of
special resolution for the amendments to the Bye-laws and the
adoption of the New Bye-laws in 2023 AGM.
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Report of the Directors
EFEHRS

The directors of the Company (the "Director(s)”) are pleased to
present this report and the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND
BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The Group
is principally engaged in the sales and distribution of fuel gas
including the piped gas transmission and distribution, cylinder
gas supply, gas distribution and food ingredients supply and fast
moving consumer goods (“FMCG") supply businesses in the People’s
Republic of China (the "PRC” or “China”). Further discussion and
analysis of these activities as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, including a discussion of the principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of likely
future development in the Group’s business, can be found in the
“Chairman’s Statement” and the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” set out in this annual report. All these sections form part of
this “Report of the Directors”.

SUBSIDIARIES

The activities of its principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023 are set
out in note 48 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in this
annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the Year (2022: nil).
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

FOR ATTENDANCE OF 2024 AGM

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 4 June 2024 to Friday, 7 June 2024 (both dates
inclusive), for the purpose of determining the shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”) eligibility to attend and
vote at the annual general meeting of the Company to be held
on Friday, 7 June 2024 (the "2024 AGM") and during which
period no transfer of the shares of the Company (the “Shares”)
will be effected. In order to qualify for attendance of the 2024
AGM, all completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates of the Company must be lodged with the
Company's branch share registrar, Tricor Tengis Limited (address:
17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong) not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 3 June 2024.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for the past five financial years is set out in this annual report. This
summary does not form part of the consolidated financial statements
of the Group in this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movement in property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group during the Year are set out in
notes 16 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE-BASED
PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Further details of the movement in the share capital and share options
of the Company, if any, during the Year are set out in notes 34 and
40 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report
respectively.
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Report of the Directors
ESERY

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed under the section of “SHARE CAPITAL AND
SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS” above, no equity-linked
agreement was entered into during the Year.

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and note 47 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company did not have any
distributable reserve (2022: nil).

PARTICULARS OF BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2023
is set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s largest
customer and the five largest customers taken together accounted
for 2.23% and 10.20% of the Group’s total revenue for the Year,
respectively.

For the Year, the aggregate purchase attributable to the Group's
largest supplier and the five largest suppliers taken together
accounted for 13.34% and 44.37% of the Group’s total purchase for
the Year, respectively.

None of the Directors, their respective associates or, so far as the
Directors are aware, any Shareholder who owns more than 5% of
the issued share capital of the Company has any interest in any of
the said top five customers and/or suppliers of the Group for the
Year.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of
this annual report were:

Executive Directors:

Dr. Mo Shikang (Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Hesheng (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Fan Fangyi (Managing Director)
Miss Mo Yunbi

Ms. Li Fun Replen

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Dr. Liu Junmin
Prof. Zhao Yanyun
Mr. Cheung Chi Ming

Board Committees

As at the date of this annual report, the composition of the board
committees of the Company is set out in the section headed
“Corporate Information” of this annual report.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE
DIRECTORS

The biographical details of all the current Directors are set out in this
annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company, the Directors shall be
indemnified against all losses and liabilities which they may incur in
connection with their duties. The Company has arranged appropriate
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors
and officers of the Company.

DIRECTORS" SERVICE CONTRACT AND
ROTATION

Each of the independent non-executive Directors, Miss Mo Yunbi
and Ms. Li Fun Replen, being executive Directors, have entered into
service contracts with the Company without specific period, all
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation from the Board and
then re-election in the annual general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws and the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”).

Report of the Directors
EEERE

EE

RAFREARBEAFHARZETESOT:

HITES:
S L (28)
FANE S (B
EH B (EFET)
TR/

Fhk L

BYFHTES:

FHRBL
HEEHE
RERASLLE

EEZET

RAFHBEH ARAEEZ B EMARHT
FHRZIRBIEH] —HIR-

é

EECEREFE

FMEREES CEEFBHNANF R

(SR YA =5 jalh AN
EHEFTHRERX

RBEARB 2 ARHA EFFETERB M
HEMBAKEE HERESHEE ARFE
RARREELSRBELHRENEZTRER
BEAERR-

EERBEOREME

BUBYIFNESE ATEEREERNMARFE
HEBERARRRI L EFTEFHRNRBESH A
BEFERBARRAZARANREEHARS
FRERAR ([BXMHM])ESFLETHRA ([EHR
RIDRERFERIETE RN AR ABRFBEF K
SEEET-

PRERBRAE

2023F FH(FE2023F12A31 B IEFE)

59

HI
b
S
e
b

wn
S
2
4
[
=
(a]
(]
<
=
[
o
-
S
o
o
Q
o




Report of the Directors
EEEHRE

DIRECTORS" SERVICE CONTRACT AND
ROTAT'ON (Continued)

In accordance with Bye-law of the Company and pursuant to the
Code on Corporate Governance Code annexed as Appendix C1 to
the Listing Rules, Dr. Mo Shikang and Mr. Zhang Hesheng, being
executive Directors, and Dr. Liu Junmin, being independent non-
executive Director, shall retire from the Board by rotation at the
conclusion of 2024 AGM but they, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election at the 2024 AGM.

There is no service contract, which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation), in respect of any Director proposed for
re-election (Dr. Mo Shikang, Mr. Zhang Hesheng and Dr. Liu Junmin)
at the 2024 AGM.

DIRECTORS" AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS EMOLUMENT

Details of Directors’ emoluments on a named basis and five highest
paid individuals (five of them are Directors) are set out in note 11 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

ANNUAL CONFIRMATION FROM
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company had received written confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Director, namely, Dr. Liu Junmin, Prof,
Zhao Yanyun and Mr. Cheung Chi Ming, of their independence for
the Year pursuant to the rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and both the
Board and the Nomination Committee considered all independent
non-executive Directors are independent.
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DIRECTORS" INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests of the Directors in the shares,
underlying shares and/or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) (the “Associated
Corporations”) as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the “Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” (the
“Model Code"”) were as follows:

Long position in the shares of the Company

ARBRDFZHFR

Approximate
percentage of

the issued
Number of ordinary Shares held ordinary
RAEBRHHUA Share capital*
Personal Family Corporate Free
interests’ interests interests? Total ETEBER®D
Names of Director EENRER HAER RikER DRAER? ay BOE D
Dr. Mo Shikang (“Dr. Mo") Rt - - | 2,497,782,762 o
((&@t]) 1,135,000,000  3,632,782,762 4066 [
g
Miss Mo Yunbi (“Miss Mo") BEENE - - | 2,497,782,762 'n'm’
([EE]) 1,135,000,000  3,632,782,762 40.66 é’
Mr. Zhang Hesheng T A 338,271,282 - - 338,271,282 3.79 g
o
o
Mr. Fan Fangyi BhHERE 22,000,000 - - 22,000,000 025 | =
Dr. Liu Junmin ABREL 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 0.06
Prof. Zhao Yanyun HEEHEK 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 0.06
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DIRECTORS" INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES

(Continued)

Notes:

1. This represents interests held by the relevant Directors as beneficial
owner.

2. Civios Group Limited (“Civios Group”) is the ultimate holding
company of the Company, which was legal and beneficially owned
70% by Dr. Mo and 30% by Miss Mo. Civios Group legally held the
entire issued share capital of Renown City Holdings Limited (“Renown
City"), whereas the entire issued share capital of Lofty Key Limited
("Lofty Key"”) and Ping Da Development Limited (“Ping Da") were
both legally held by Renown City. Lofty Key and Ping Da legally
held 2,497,782,762 Shares and 1,135,000,000 Shares, respectively.
Therefore, Dr. Mo and Miss Mo are deemed to be interested in the
Shares in which Lofty Key and Ping Da are interested under the SFO.

* The percentage has been adjusted, if any, based on the total number of
ordinary shares of the Company in issue as at 31 December 2023 (i.e.
8,934,561,203 Shares).

Save as disclosed above and under section headed “DIRECTORS’
RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND DEBENTURES” below, as at 31
December 2023, none of the Directors nor their associates had any
other interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and/
or debentures of the Company or any of its Associated Corporations
which had been entered in the register kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

62 Chinese People Holdings Company Limited
2023 Annual Report (For the Year Ended 31 December 2023)

&

B &L -

1.

== N\ /

ZRER )

ESRKRG - HE R K
25

HRERBHEAREFERESHBE AR AN EL -

RARZHREIERARAELEBGRAR ([B
HEE|) EXEEIBAEFTLRE/NED
BEREBERBEATO%N30% - BEHEBEEEA
BEZRERAG (BB 2D BETRD -
MEREBRAR (R MFELHRERAA
([FE])2HEBHTROYAEAMEBIFF &
BRFEDRIAEFEHF2,497,782, 762 D &
1,135,000,0008% B {7 ° bt - 18 4= R E /N MAR
BEAFRPERMMEIER RN FEREAERS
2RO HARER-

AN LBEEREARRN2023F12A31BE#1T
L 5F A% 19 42 2 (BN8,934,561,203/% A& 17 ) 1E H
B(MA) -

BALHBEER T EERERDRESZ#
A — e EE YN R2023F128318 - BRI
BEMBEKENFEIDEARRATFEEZER
AR 8% - KRB IZETRIZBAE AR R KRB
Fr#EEEEBEARAR R SE ERERE
EEZ D RN & SRE S A T E

P N
HIORE e



DIRECTORS" MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS” in this report, no transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries or
its holding companies was a party and in which a Director or any
entities connected with a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted as at the end of the Year or at any
time during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year was the Company, its subsidiaries,
its fellow subsidiaries or its holding companies a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors, their spouse and children
under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Board adopted the Model Code, amended from time to time. All
Directors have confirmed their compliance with the required standard
set out in the Model Code during the Year. Employees, who are
likely to be in possession of unpublished inside information of the
Company, have been requested to comply with provisions of Model
Code.
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Report of the Directors

EFEHE

SUBSTANTIAL INTERESTS IN THE SHARE
CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023, the interests of those persons (other
than the Directors) in the shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of

the SFO were as follows:

Long position in the shares of the Company

ARBRDFZHFR

Name of Shareholder

BRRER

Capacity
L3

AR RRARA S T B

M2023F12A318  RIEFHF L HEKHIFE336
BEARARB BT FEZ ELMAREEE ZEAL
(BREBEBEINBEARRGRMD ZERWNT

Approximate
percentage (%) of

the issued

ordinary

Number of share capital*

Nature of ordinary FriEe
interest Shares held BOEBRS

BiftE BEEERAEA BB D (%)*

Lofty Key
2a

Ping Da
i

Renown City
58

Civios Group
RE4HE

Notes:

Beneficial owner

ESHAA

Beneficial owner

Interested in controlled corporation
et VNGIPA: £

Lofty Key

Ping Da

Tt

Interested in controlled corporation
REHINE R

Lofty Key

Ping Da

i

1. The entire issued share capital of Lofty Key was held by Renown City,
whereas the entire issued share capital of Renown City was held by
Civios Group, Civios Group was legal and beneficially owned 70% by
Dr. Mo and 30% by Miss Mo, respectively. Accordingly, Renown City,
Civios Group, Dr. Mo and Miss Mo are deemed to be interested in the
Shares in which Lofty Key is interested under the SFO.
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SUBSTANTIAL INTERESTS IN THE SHARE
CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY  (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

2. The entire issued share capital of Ping Da was held by Renown City,
whereas the entire issued share capital of Renown City was held by
Civios Group, Civios Group was legal and beneficially owned 70% by
Dr. Mo and 30% by Miss Mo, respectively. Accordingly, Renown City,
Civios Group, Dr. Mo and Miss Mo are deemed to be interested in the
Shares in which Ping Da is interested under the SFO.

* The percentage has been adjusted (if any) based on the total number of
Shares in issue as at 31 December 2023 (i.e. 8,934,561,203 Shares).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Company had
not been notified of any interests and short positions in the shares
and/or underlying shares of the Company any of its Associated
Corporations, which had been recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 336 of the SFO.

COMPETITION AND CONFLICTS

During the Year, none of the Directors or substantial Shareholders or
any of their respective close associates has engaged in any business that
competes or may compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business
of the Group or has any other conflict of interests with the Group.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company,
during the Year and up to the date of this annual report and within
the knowledge of the Directors, there was sufficiency of public float
of the Company'’s securities as required under the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company
to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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SHARE OPTION

Shareholders approved a resolution of adoption of a new share
option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) in the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 9 September 2016.

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, nil share
option was outstanding, granted, exercised, lapsed and/or cancelled
under the Share Option Scheme.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share
Option Scheme:

Purpose Provide incentives to the eligible persons
to contribute to the Group, to enable
the Group to recruit and retain quality
employees to serve the Group on a
long-term basis and to attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group.

Participants Eligible person include any executive,
employee (whether full-time or part-time),
Director (including independent non-
executive Director), consultant, aduviser,
partner, joint-venture partner, service
provider, customer and/or agent of the
Company or any of its subsidiary or any
person, who in the absolute discretion
of the Board, has contributed or may
contribute to the Group at the time when
an option is granted to such person.

Price of Shares Determined by the Board and shall at
least be the highest of:

(a) the nominal value of the Share;

(b) the closing price of the Share as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date
of offer, which must be a trading
day; and

(c) the average closing price of the
Share as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations
sheet for the five business days
immediately preceding the date
of offer.
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SHARE OPT'ON (Continued)

Total number of Shares
available for issue
and the percentage
of the issued share
capital that it
represents as at the
date of this annual
report

Maximum entitlement
of each participant

Period within which
the securities must be
taken up under the
option

Minimum period for
which an option must
be held before it can
be exercised

Amount payable on
acceptance

Period within which
calls/loans must be
made/repaid

Remaining life of the
scheme

694,495,413 Shares, being approximately
7.77% of the issued share capital of the
Company.

Not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue in
any 12-month period.

Subject to the discretion by the Board.

Not applicable.

No amount is payable on acceptance of
an offer.

Not applicable.

The scheme will be valid and effective
until 8 September 2026, after which no
further options will be granted, but in
all other respects the provisions of this
scheme shall remain in full force and
effect in respect of any option granted
prior to the termination of this scheme
and any such option shall continue to
be exercisable in accordance with their
terms of issue.
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PENSION SCHEMES

The pension schemes of the Group are primary in form of
contributions to Hong Kong's Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and
the PRC statutory public welfare fund respectively. Details of which
are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Continuing connected transactions during the Year

1. On 30 December 2022, Xi'an Civigas Co., Ltd. (“Xi'an
Civigas”) entered into a natural gas supply agreement (“2023
Natural Gas Supply Agreement”) with Shaanxi Provincial
Natural Gas Co., Ltd. (“Shaanxi Natural Gas"”) to renew the
continuing connected transactions, pursuant to which Shaanxi
Natural Gas has agreed to supply and Xi‘an Civigas has agreed
to purchase nature gas for a term of three months commencing
from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2023. The quarter caps
amount for the transactions under the 2023 Natural Gas
Supply Agreement for the three months ended 31 March
2023 be RMB79,371,000, For the period from 1 January 2023
to 31 March 2023, the aggregate transactions amount was
within the abovementioned quarter caps amount, details of
which may refer to the announcement of Company dated 30
December 2022.

2. On 31 March 2023, Xi‘an Civigas entered into a natural
gas supply agreement (“2023-2025 Natural Gas Supply
Agreement”) with Shaanxi Provincial Natural Gas to renew
the continuing connected transactions under the 2023
Natural Gas Supply Agreement, pursuant to which Shaanxi
Natural Gas has agreed to supply and Xi‘an Civigas has
agreed to purchase nature gas for a term of two years and
nine months commencing from 1 April 2023 to 31 December
2025. The period/annual caps amount for the transactions
under the 2023-2025 Natural Gas Supply Agreement for the
nine months ended 31 December 2023, and each of the two
years ending 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2025 be
RMB112,790,000, RMB206,174,000 and RMB227,572,000
respectively. For the period from 1 April 2023 to 31 December
2023, the aggregate transactions amount was within the
abovementioned period caps amount, details of which may
refer to the announcement of Company dated 31 March 2023.

68 Chinese People Holdings Company Limited
2023 Annual Report (For the Year Ended 31 December 2023)

RIKEFHE

KRB RS HEEBRET RSB AEER
BIMEATES 5 BIR P EAE R A - 3
RN B A ISR 41 -

BERX 7

REAFERNZEHEBBEERS

1.

MR2022%12A30E - ALZHRBBBER A
A([BEEHRR]) ERAEERARKRNDER
RE([BRAXAR )T L RKAREESGE
(2035 RXARBHER] ) EEFEH
ERG B BRARXARBERHMAR
FREZREXRAZ H2023F1A1HE
2023F3HA31B1IE=1EA - RIKE2023F KA
REHARE EHZE2023F3A318 L= A
ZE FRAARYET79,371,0000T 0 5120234
1H1BEZ2023F3A31H IR 54
BEFNFEEFRSBEIZAN FBEERAEAR
A H /52022412 A30E A AW E -

M2023F3A318 A REPRTAE KA
R RKAREHEA R ([2023-2025F K
RRBEAER])EE2023FRAARRTEHA
ET2HEBER S B RAXAR
AEREMALTFRAZEBERAR F
HA2023F4 818 £2025F12A31H IE®
FENEA - B 1E2023-2025F K 2K 7 3B £
A EEZE2023F12A318 - 202412 A
318 M2025F 12 A31HIEMEZAMBA &
RBHBR,/  FELREEI I AARYE
112,790,0007T * A R#206,174,0007T & A
R #227,572,0007L > H2023F4 1B &=
2023F 12 A3 A LR @ 5EE Lt
HE RSB LA FEERNARGHEA
2023F3A31B AN E -



CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Continuing connected transactions during the Year (Continued)

Shaanxi Natural Gas is a shareholder of Xi'an Civigas (being a 51%
owned subsidiary of the Group) holding 40% equity interests in
Xi'an Civigas, by virtue of its interests in Xi‘an Civigas, is regarded
as a connected person of the Company pursuant to chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. Shaanxi Natural Gas is principally engaged in the
distribution and pipeline transportation of natural gas, the sale of
city gas, as well as the operation of gasification projects. It is one of
the leading natural gas providers in Shaanxi Province, China. Through
the purchase of natural gas from Shaanxi Natural Gas under 2023
Natural Gas Supply Agreement and 2023-2025 Natural Gas Supply
Agreement, it can stable the supply in the region Xi‘an Civigas serve.

In view of the highest applicable percentage ratio of the respective
transactions under the 2023 Natural Gas Supply Agreement and
2023-2025 Natural Gas Supply Agreement (collectively as “CCT
Agreements”) and their respective annual cap amounts under the
CCT Agreements be more than 5% as set out under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules, the respective transactions under the respective
CCT Agreements were:

(i)  between the Group and a connected person at the subsidiary
level,

(i) on normal commercial terms or better, and
(iii) approved by the Board and confirmed by the independent non-
executive Directors,

that are therefore exempted from the circular (including independent
financial advice) and Shareholders’ approval requirements under Rule
14A.101(1) and (2) of the Listing Rules, but are subject to annual
review and all disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Continuing connected transactions during the Year (Continued)

Pursuant to rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged the
auditor of the Company to perform certain agreed upon procedures
in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The auditor of the Company has issued an unqualified letter
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions under the CCT Agreements as disclosed by
the Group in the annual report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of
the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent non-
executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing connected
transactions under the CCT Agreements and confirmed that these
transactions entered into by the Group were:

(@ in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(b)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(¢) according to the respective agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company'’s shareholders as a whole.

Save as disclosed herein, there were no transactions which need

to be disclosed as connected transaction in accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the normal
course of business are set out in note 42 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report. In relation to those related party
transactions that also constituted connected transactions under the
Listing Rules, they are in compliance with applicable requirements
under the Listing Rules and are reported in this annual report in
accordance with the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole and any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SHARES OF THE COMPANY'S LISTED
SECURITIES

Throughout the Year and up to the date of the annual report of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any
of the Company'’s listed securities.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to
applicable laws, rules and regulations in particular, those have
significant impact on the Group. The Board reviews and monitors
the Group’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements in a regular basis. Any changes in the
applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought to the attention of
relevant employees and relevant operation units from time to time.

During the Year, to the best of the Company’s knowledge, the Company
has complied with the requirements under memorandum of association
and Bye-laws of the Company, the Listing Rules, the SFO, the Companies
Act 1981 Bermuda and other laws applicable to the Company. Details
of the Company’s compliance with the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code contained in the Listing Rules are provided in
the Corporate Governance Report of this annual report.
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AUDITOR

With the recommendation of the Audit Committee, Fan, Chan &
Co., Limited being the auditor of the Company, will retire and being
eligible, offers itself for re-appointment in the 2024 AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Fan Fangyi
Managing and Executive Director

Beijing, 28 March 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B 3 % BB 3R

SLRR G ER AT PR 4
Fan, Chan & Co. Limited

To the Shareholders of
Chinese People Holdings Company Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Chinese
People Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 80 to 231, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement,
as of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. The matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on the matter.

Key audit matter

HEETER

YE BERREREFELERNE
MBI ERERN 165172 FE it

We identified impairment of property, plant and equipment
and ROU assets as a key audit matter because the carrying
amount of property, plant and equipment and ROU were
significant and the estimation of their recoverable amounts
involve exercise of significant management judgement. As
at 31 December 2023, the net book value of the property,
plant and equipment and properties under ROU assets
before recognition of impairment loss for the year then
ended amounted to RMB990,899,000 and RMB99,942,000
respectively.

BMERME BERRBUREAEEERERRR B
I2EAFE AR BELAEEUALREREZRTED
BEA mATKESENGE S K EREEDEAFE-
2023124318 REEZ B ILFERERBEA AR
BEBETHDE BELKREBUARMEZ FREESHIR/A
R %990,899,0007T & A KK %99,942,0007T °

Management performed assessment at the end of each
reporting period to determine whether there is any indication
that property, plant and equipment and ROU assets may
be impaired. Should indication of impairment exist, an
impairment assessment will be performed accordingly.
EREBENERENRETHMUNEEDE BFEREREAR
ERREEASLEERENR MEERETR  BISET
MR ERH -

RETFHESREBLAMANEXRHE RR/EAX
PGEAVBRERNBEARAEENETR -ZFR
EERMEAERBS AV BRRRHABREE
TREM RATSHZETREREBNHNER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANBETNIHERETSRETEE

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (“ROU assets”)
Refer to notes 16 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements

Our audit procedures in relation to the management’s
impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment and ROU assets of Group's subsidiaries
included:

BMEREEEBMETT

EREHBRRYME BE R

REAREREEENREMNGNEARFEE:

assessing and challenging the Group’s impairment
assessment models. This included challenging
management’s identification of impairment
indicators, as well as considering whether the
discounted cash flow forecasts of the cash
generating units (“CGUs") supported the carrying
values of the CGUs and the relevant non-current
assets belonging to the CGUs. We also considered
whether the Group’s impairment assessment
indicated that a reversal of a past impairment
provision was required;

ERER BERERENGEER LR EEE
REBEBNREER UERERREEFLEML
PHBRRENERAREIRREELEBUUR
BRECELBUZHBERDEELRAE-
BFMTZER EXERENEEERATER
B 38 R E B

comparing the most significant inputs used in the
discounted cash flow forecasts, including future
revenue, margins, staff costs and rental and
other lease related expenses, with the historical
performance of these CGUs, management’s
forecasts and new operating lease terms;
HERB S RERAPFANGEZH ASIE (2
FEARKZ FIBE BIXKAAREEREMEE
AR HZEReELABEMNESRRE B2
[ TR R R i A E AR ST TR B



Key audit matter

BREETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANBETNAHERETSRETEE

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (“ROU assets”) (Continued)

V¥ BERREREHEZENRNE (&)

As at 31 December 2023, there existed indications that the
property, plant and equipment and ROU assets might be
impaired. Management has conducted an assessment of
impairment for these property, plant and equipment and
ROU assets to determine whether the carrying amounts of
the assets were higher than their recoverable amounts. The
recoverable amount is determined based on the higher of the
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal.
M2023F12A31H - AR RERYME BB MR ME AR ER
REEFARERRE- ERELHYE BERIXEBALE
AEEEREBEETTH NETEERAELSES MR AIHE
TR EE %Eﬁﬁﬁ%f@ﬁﬂﬁﬁMﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%
THRESEETE -

The value in uses of the CGUs to which these assets belong
were calculated from cash flow projections by using data
from the Group's internal forecasts and as such relies upon
management assumptions, such as the estimates of future
performance, corporate expense allocation and the discount
rate.

ZEBREMBLR EL BN HERAEBENGEIRER
A EEBERMEARBMENRESRERA - ZEFHAMK
BREREENRE  WARKBEMGE CEFADBEIANLES
IH Ko

The estimation of future operating performance is dependent
on, amongst others, the industry landscape, overall
economic environment and the competitors in local markets.
Management assesses, on a yearly basis, whether there are
events indicating a potential impairment of the non-current
assets.

ARRLERBOETIORN (K EE)TERR  BREHE
BREERAMTSNHFEF - EEBEFIGRESFERN
3E/}Ih@]§§—_{ ﬁfﬁﬁzﬁ%%%@

Based on the assessment, management is of the view that
an impairment loss of RMB63,755,000 and RMB1,640,000
should be recognised for property, plant and equipment and
ROU assets, respectively, for the year.

BERZENL ERERRAFERYE BB KEEALE
REEERS RIERAREE3,755,0007t & A R# 1,640,000
TCRDRE BT 1R °

evaluating the discount rates adopted in the cash
flow forecasts by benchmarking against those of
other similar operations;
FRZ2RAMBUEBHRRETGERERE
ERBREPEAMRIRE:

performing a sensitivity analysis of both discount
rates and cash flows and considering the resulting
impact on the impairment charge and whether
there were any indicators of management bias;
and
Lﬁ%ﬁfﬁﬁiméﬂﬁ_Enﬁ&%%ﬁﬁ
ERMEEANTERSEREEFAEREERRH
PR R

considering the Group's disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements in respect
of impairment testing of property, plant and
equipment and ROU assets, including the key
assumptions and sensitivities to changes in such
assumptions, with reference to the requirements
of the prevailing accounting standards.
SERTRILANES  £E BEERGSH
BHRRTEMAYE BB LR ﬁu&ﬁ%%ﬁ?m
BEARNEE BREFERIALEZERRE
BHBRE -



Independent Auditor’s Report
BIAZBEESE

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

BMNER RHSAMBBRREBRS I FE
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’'s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Fan, Chan & Co. Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Rooms 1007-1012

10/F., K. Wah Centre

191 Java Road

North Point

Hong Kong

28 March 2024

Lam Wai Yan
Practising Certificate Number: P06906
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

FERERAEMZERGERR

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023 #H ZE2023F12H31HLEEE

2023 2022
2023 2022%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
BT &E ARET T ARETT
(Restated)
(E5)

Revenue WA 5 2,513,521 2,867,697
Cost of sales HEKAR (2,200,930) (2,577,691)
Gross profit EH 312,591 290,006
Impairment loss under the expected credit ~ FBHIEEBERER T 2 REKIE

loss (“ECL") model, net of reversal MR E 7 (8,291) (1,401)
Other gains and losses, net H s & 185 58 8 (66,632) (21,697)
Other income H g A 9 42,620 47,502
Finance costs B AR 12 (4,494) (3,518)
Selling and distribution expenses HE R HAX (141,604) (152,814)
Administrative expenses THRAX (115,198) (102,739)
Share of results of associates FE(RESE & R B R E 21,349 15,264
Share of results of joint ventures ELHEERERE (242,653) 4,159
(Loss) profit before tax BREiAl (B8 ) & 7 10 (202,312) 74,762
Income tax expense FT8Hi X 13 (24,947) (12,545)
(Loss) profit for the year AEE (BE) R (227,259) 62,217
Other comprehensive (expense) income AEEEMEE (FAX)KHm

for the year

ltems that will not be reclassified HEegregmnEEB8s A

subsequently to profit or loss:
Fair value change on equity instruments at BARBEFAEMEZE (%)
fair value through other comprehensive WH BT AZARBE
(expense) income (“FVTOCI") net of tax (BR#HF%EE) (17,240) 19,784

Other comprehensive (expense) income AEEHMEE (FAL) K

for the year (17,240) 19,784
Total comprehensive (expense) income AEERE (X)) WaBE

for the year (244,499) 82,001
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
GeRaRRAMZEWRRER

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023 #EHZ2023%F 128318 LLFE

2023 2022
2023F 20224
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 AR¥T T AR®TT
(Restated)
(g&=5)
(Loss) profit for the year attributable to: THEIGFE (BE) &M :
Owners of the Company KREEBA (231,749) 35,655
Non-controlling interests R 4,490 26,562
(227,259) 62,217
Total comprehensive (expense) income THEE2E (Ax) WAL :
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ZAUNGIEZZSIN (248,902) 55,555
Non-controlling interests R 4,403 26,446
(244,499) 82,001
(Loss) earning per share Sk (EE) &7 RMB A R # RMB AR #E
- basic —HK 15 (2.59) cents % 0.40 cents 7

FRERERAA
2023 FHK(HE20235E 128310 ILEE)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MK SR

As at 31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

2023 2022 2021
2023%F 20224 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
e ARETT AREFRT AR®TE
(Restated) (Restated)
(&=751) (#E75)
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Wz BB MR 16 927,144 946,078 908,381
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 98,302 93,632 105,396
Investment properties REY) 18 3,770 4,540 10,720
Goodwill kS 19 - = =
Intangible assets ERAE 20 18,355 19,584 20,814
Interests in associates i RN e 21 174,052 152,703 137,439
Interests in joint ventures REBEREZ R 22 1,104,454 1,347,107 1,342,948
Deferred tax assets BEETIRE = 33 3,163 4,792 5,084
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BRAREFAEMEE KR
ZHEmT A 23 107,733 127,544 104,119
Long-term deposits REZS 24 18,435 22,352 48,285
Loan receivable JE U & 3R - = 26,133
2,455,408 2,718,332 2,709,319
Current assets REBEE
Inventories BE 25 47,033 48,925 50,993
Trade, bills and other receivables B 5 - Z4& & H h fE UL k18
and prepayments SSRGS 26 195,596 253,155 204,644
Contract assets EREE 27 34,072 27,307 37,494
Financial assets at FVTPL BARBEFABRZ
EHEE 28 16,595 = 1,405
Bank deposits |ITIF K 29 211,468 = =
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkReEEIER 29 393,033 555,115 575,164
897,797 884,502 869,700
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables 2 5 R EH MR FRIR 30 274,020 266,288 245,355
Contract liabilities EHBE 27 231,903 219,632 238,453
Tax liabilities HEaE 9,224 12,953 22,074
Lease liabilities HEBE 31 3,730 3,488 3,507
Bank borrowings — due within RITEE——FAEH
one year 32 81,600 85,020 77,000
600,477 587,381 586,389
Net current assets REEEFE 297,320 297,121 283,311
Total assets less current liabilities ZEERABARS 2,752,728 3,015,453 2,992,630
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
HFEMEBERAEE

As at 31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

2023 2022 2021

20234 20224 20214

Notes RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000

e ARETT AREBFRT AR®TT
(Restated) (Restated)

(&E5) (&R&E5)

Capital and reserves RAR®E
Share capital f% < 34 564,507 564,507 564,507
Reserves f# 1,935,642 2,184,544 2,134,681

Equity attributable to owners ZARAQTEE AELER

of the Company 2,500,149 2,749,051 2,699,188
Non-controlling interests FERER 49 218,502 233,373 234,130
Total equity ARE S 2,718,651 2,982,424 2,933,318
Non-current liabilities ERBEE

Bank borrowings — due after RITHE ——FEFH

one year 32 175 500 23,250
Lease liabilities HEAE 31 16,162 11,808 14,666
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEE 33 17,740 20,721 21,396

34,077 33,029 59,312

2,752,728 3,015,453 2,992,630

The consolidated financial statements on pages 80 to 231 were F80E231H 2 75 B 5K B 202453 H28
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 AEESgERKENE WHUTRERES
March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

=8
.§ B
£
Dr. Mo Shikang Mr. Fan Fangyi
Director Director
BEttEE+ BREEXE
EFE EF

FREREMRAT g3
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FERaEDR

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023 #H ZE2023F12H831HLLFEE

Surplus Investment Property Non-
Share Share Capital ~ Contributed Reserve Deemed Capital Revaluation  Valuation Other  Retained Controlling
capital premium reserve surplus fund  contribution ~ contribution reserve reserve Teserve earnings Total interests Total
Bk RAEE  A4RE  BABH BHORE  BEER RAKS REEMHR NEGERR  HERE  REEW i FERER &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AB¥TTE ARBTT ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR ARBTR AR¥TR ARETT ARETR ARET:R
(Note a) (Note b) (Note ¢) (Note d) (Note e) (Note f)
(Wita) (Hitb) (Hikc)  (Mikd) (Hite) (Wif)
At 1 January 2022 R02E1A18 564,507 1,003,995 2,086 92,665 198,607 26,628 712 65,872 20 6,657 733323 2,702,081 235039 2,937,120
Adjustments (note 2) #% (M) = = = = = = = = = = (2893 (2,893 (909) (3.802)
At 1 January 2022 (restated) R02E1A18 (8E5)) 564507 1,003,995 2,086 92,665 198,607 26,628 7. 65872 20 6,657 730430 2,699,188 24130 2933318
Profit for the year TEEET = = = = = = = = = = 35,655 35,655 26,562 62,17
Fair value change on equty instruments at 2% (Exf ARt 2B 2

fTocl BRIAZDAERD = = = - - - - B2 - - B2 (137) B2
Income tax relating to fair value change B2/ Hif AKX 2E G

on eqity instruments at FVTOCI LERIEZNAEERY

BRZAER = = = = = = = (3512) = = = (3512) il (3.491)
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ A%E 2 MAEER - - - - - - - 19,900 - - 35,655 55,555 26,446 82,001
Appropriations % - - - - i - - - - (@121 - - -
Acquisition of  subsidiary (note 38) WENBAR (KiH3s) - - - - - - - - - - 4013 4013
Acquisition of assets through acquistion  EBKEMEL ARELE

of a subsidiary (note 39) (H3E39) - - - - - - - - - - - - 14,351 14,351
Capital injection into a subsiciary A-FHBAREE - - - - - - - - - - - - 8,000 8,000
Capital reduction of a subsidiary —BHBARZ AR - - - - - - - - - - - - (780) (780)
Acquisition of additional interestina ~~ ME-EHELAZ

subsidiary BiER - - - - - - - - - - (5,692) (5,692) (22,007) (27,6%)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 5 FHi B 2 312k ER 2

of subsidiaries RE - - - - - - - - - - - - (30,780) (30,780)
At31 December 2022 (festated)and 12022512318 (HE51)

1 January 2023 RABEIA1R 564,507 1,003,995 2,086 92,665 225,884 26,628 711 85,772 20 6,657 733,116 2,749,051 2333713 2,982,424
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - - - - - - - (31749)  (231,749) 4490 (227,59
Fair value change on equity instruments 24 (BT A £t 2 EEZ

atAvToC! BRIEZDAEED - - - - - - - (1979) - - - (1979) (102)  (19,89)
Income tax relating to fair value change £ 211 Bzt A K fh 2 E

on equity instruments at FVTOCI JERIEIDAERS

EBZAER - - - - - - - 2,640 - - - 2,640 15 2,655
Total comprehensive expense (income) A% E 2 EEX (i) B

for the year - - - - - - - (17,153) - - (231,749) (248,902) 4403 (244,499
Appropriations i - - - - 12423 - - - - - (12,423) - - -
Disposal of an investment property LERENE - - - - - - - - (20) - 2 - - -
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 5 FHE 2 312k ER 2

of subsidiaries RE - - - - - - - - - - - - (19,274) (19,274)
At 31 December 2023 R2023512A310 564,507 1,003,995 2,086 92,665 238,307 26,628 ANl 68,619 - 6,657 488,964 2,500,149 218,502 2,718,651
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Notes:

Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equi

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023 #HZE2023F 12831 HILFE

Capital reserve was recognised as a result of acquisition of additional
interest in an associate which became a subsidiary.

Contributed surplus represents the difference between the nominal value
of the Company’s share capital issued as consideration in exchange for the
nominal value of the issued share capital of the subsidiaries acquired at the
time of the Company’s listing in 1997.

The articles of association of the Company’s subsidiaries incorporated in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC” OR “China”) state that they
should make an appropriation of 10% of their profit for the year (prepared
under generally accepted accounting principles in the PRC) each year to
the surplus reserve fund until the balance reaches 50% of the paid-in
capital. The surplus reserve fund shall only be used for making good losses,
capitalisation into paid-in capital and expansion of their production and
operation.

The deemed contribution was arisen from a fair value adjustment of
imputed interest of a consideration related to acquisition of subsidiaries
from the major shareholder during the year ended 31 March 2015.

Capital contribution was arisen from the discontinuation of electrical
and mechanical engineering service operations at the time of disposal of
Kenworth Group in 2004.

The other reserve of the Group represents the effect arising from the
change in the Group's equity interest on existing subsidiary without losing
control.

B &E -

(a)

(e)

B U fE — B 2 A R R SME R (B AR — R
BAR) MERNEANGER -

B\ B fRFE RN B A 19974 T B B DA 1 LA B B
BRARMRERETZAARRDHBRAEE
HZENBARBERITZRAMERBRZ 258

ARBRAPEARKNE ([FE])ZEMLZ
MEBARzESKERARINR REASSEF
Ezad (REPR-—KRABEARUBE) 2
10%ERERHRNES BERBEIGAER
Z250% - BB A ER AN BEBSE  EXML
EPFABRUARBEREEERKE -

BIETERBRBE2015F3A318 IEFEHH
TERRBEMNBARNBHEIRBZHENRZ

NAEFHE-

i & 28 B 720044 ) & Kenworth Grouph 48 1E
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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2023 2022
2023% 20225
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TR AREFTT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES geEs
(Loss) profit before tax BF AT (E8R)RF (202,312) 74,762
Adjustments for: B TIEE A :
Share of results of joint ventures ElEEELEEE 242,653 (4,159)
Share of results of associates NS (21,349) (15,264)
Bank interest income FATH B WA (6,520) (5,293)
Interest income from loan to a non-controlling RE—RMBARFEERER 2 BN
interest of a subsidiary FIEHA - (164)
Dividend income from an equity instrument BAREFAL 2 E N s TR
at FvT0C| ZREWA (646) -
Interest income from financial assets at FVTPL E@ﬁﬁﬁﬂ\ﬁﬁ?&ZﬁﬁﬂﬁE‘%Zﬂ%
A (277) -
Fair value change of financial assets at FVTPL BRAAEFABRZEREELAN
HEE (95) 3
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HENE BERIEAREAEE
and right-of-use assets EZBE 2,093 269
Loss on disposal of an investment property HERBWE BB 79 1,652
Fair value loss of investment properties BENELABER 480 2,080
Bargain purchase gain on acquisition of a subsidiary ~ UREE — I HT B 2 Al B UREE IS - (11)
Difference arising on acquisition WEEE ESR - (1,405)
Amortisation of intangible assets BEERRE 1,229 1,230
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment nE BERRETE 59,080 57,111
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 5,300 6,620
Impairment loss recognised in respect of property, RWE BERXERRZREESE
plant and equipment 63,755 11,914
Impairment loss recognised in respect of right-of-use  Biff B ERR 2 B{EE
assets 1,640 11,446
Impairment loss in respect of trade and other B 5 R EMmEWHIE Z RERE
receivables 8,291 1,401
Other income Hi A - (44)
Finance costs IHEEA 4,494 3,518
Operating cash flows before movements in working LEEREPA  LRTENE
capital 157,895 145,666
Decrease in inventories BERD 1,892 4,610
Decrease (increase) in trade, bills and other 85 EREREMEWFEARER
receivables and prepayments FIERA (2 10) 40,958 (44,018)
Increase in amount due to a joint venture JER —fE & & bR FIARE N 9% -
Decrease (increase) in amounts due from non- KT8 1 Al SRR A i 25 2 B
controlling interests of subsidiaries > (SE40) 8,310 (2,013)
(Increase) decrease in contract assets BNEE (M RD (6,765) 10,187
Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities AHaEEmRD) 12,271 (18,821)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 R E i JE 5 3 IBIE 8,498 32,511
Decrease in amount due to a non-controlling interest BT —FIHTEB A A IR #2508
of a subsidiary A (862) (16,113)




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
FEHRERE

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023 #HZE2023F 12831 HILFE

2023 2022
2023% 20225
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARET T
Cash generated from operations REXBELRS 222,293 112,009
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid ERHREEMEE (27,373) (25,540)
Net cash from operating activities RETBMEREFE 194,920 86,469
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REED
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYE BEIR (98,286) (33,319)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant WENE BERXMEREAEEE 2
and equipment and right-of-use assets BEffke (4,478) (33,851)
Acquisition of subsidiaries, including transaction ~ WEEHI B E] BERX HH A
costs - (8,909)
Acquisition of land use rights and other assets BRARE-ANBARKER
and liabilities through acquisition of a TEREREMEERERE
subsidiary - (18)
Purchase of equity instruments at FVTOCI BERARBEFARMEZAKRL
BaIA (190) (150)
Proceeds from disposals of equity instruments at R A L B A2 @A 2
FVTOC HERGTAZMENEA 106 -
Addition of right-of-use assets B RS E (2,760) (1,421)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HENE BERBEREHE
equipment 553 7,139
Proceeds from disposal of an investment HERENEMETE
property 211 2,448
Purchases of financial assets at FVTPL BERDABAABR EREE (16,500) (6,000)
Redemption of financial assets at FVTPL BREAARBEFAERCEREE - 6,044
Dividend received on financial assets at FVTPL BAREF AR eREEBKRS 646 =
Interest received on financial assets at FVTPL RARBEHABR L EHEERHAE 277 -
Interest received from banks BUERITAIE 6,520 5,293
Increase in bank deposits RITEFIE M (211,468) =
Net cash used in investing activities REGBMAZREFE (325,369) (62,744)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEED
New bank borrowings raised FTEBHETHEE 105,760 85,520
Repayment of bank borrowings BRBTEE (109,505) (100,250)
Capital injection into a subsidiary from non- BRFERERR—HNBARTE
controlling interests - 8,000
Capital reduction of a subsidiary —EMB AR 2 BREIH - (780)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests of THER A FFERER 2R E
subsidiaries (19,274) (30,780)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEEAE (4,120) (1,966)
Interest paid ERFIE (4,494) (3,518)
Net cash used in financing activities REZBMAZHSFE (31,633) (43,774)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents BeRkBeSEEARVTE (162,082) (20,049)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year F#138 & RIE £ EEHEE 555,115 575,164
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year, FERRELARFIEEE URTERK
represented by bank balances and cash Be 27 393,033 555,115
FRERERAA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fna MERRHE

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Chinese People Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”)
is an exempted company with limited liability incorporated
in Bermuda on 13 November 1996. On 24 April 1997, the
Company'’s shares were listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
address of the registered office and principal place of business
of the Company are disclosed in the section headed “Corporate
Information” of the Company’s annual report.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding company
of the Company is Lofty Key Limited, incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands with limited liability, the ultimate holding
company of the Company is Civios Group Limited, incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability, and the
ultimate controlling party of the Company is Dr. Mo Shikang,
who is also the executive director of the Company.

The Company acts as an investment holding company and
its subsidiaries are principally engaged in (i) the piped gas
transmission and distribution including the provision of piped
gas, construction of gas pipelines and the operation of city gas
pipeline network; (ii) the cylinder gas supply; (iii) distribution
of gas and (iv) the food ingredients supply and fast moving
consumer goods (“FMCG") business including the operation of
chain stores including supermarkets and a convenience store in
the PRC. The activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 48.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"”), which is also the functional currency of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”).

88 Chinese People Holdings Company Limited

2023 Annual Report (For the Year Ended 31 December 2023)

—REH

PRERBRAG ([RAF])MR1996511
BIBBERBREZMRLEEREERA
Al A1997F4A248 AR R 2RI N EF
BBARX AR AR ([BWRAF]) R E
MeARARIFMBRERREEEE MU
RARBFERIAGER] —EHE-

EERA ARRZEEERARAZESR
RAR BEREBHEBRESTFMA L2
EREERR ARAIZHEKRERARAB
Civios Group Limited " R B # R RS
ez BREMAR  NAR 2 HIEIEK
AMABARRRRNTEFTE M RIFLT -

AATAE—EREERAR  EMBATE
DEFERF(EBMARE BREEETS
BERA EERREEMEEE TR E R
ML ()RR R (iR 5 5 K (v)
R EEMESES (BREEEBHREF
JEEANEHEE) - TEHB AR ZEEE
R M FE48 -

BARTHREAARE25] - ARETAK
AFREMBAT (5578 [ FKW]) 2 e
.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs™)

a.

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual
period beginning on or after 1 January 2023 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

° HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts (including the
October 2020 and amendments to February 2022
HKFRS 17)

. Amendments to HKAS 8, Accounting policies,
changes in accounting estimates and errors:
Definition of accounting estimates

° Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, Making
materiality judgements: Disclosure of accounting
policies

° Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes: Deferred
tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a
single transaction

. Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes: International
tax reform — Pillar Two model rules

The application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs
in the current year had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements except as discussed below. In accordance
with the guidance set out in the amendments, accounting
policy information that is standardised information,
or information that only duplicates or summarises the
requirements of the HKFRSs, is considered immaterial
accounting policy information and is no longer disclosed in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements so as not to
obscure the material accounting policy information disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

& M35 R M
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS <”HKFRSS”> (Continued)

a. New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes: Deferred
tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a
single transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exemption such that it does not apply
to transactions that give rise to equal and offsetting
temporary differences on initial recognition such as
leases and decommissioning liabilities. For leases
and decommissioning liabilities, the associated
deferred tax assets and liabilities are required to
be recognised from the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented, with any cumulative
effect recognised as an adjustment to retained
earnings or other components of equity at that
date. For all other transactions, the amendments are
applied to those transactions that occur after the
beginning of the earliest period presented.

Prior to the amendments, the Group did not
apply the initial recognition exemption to lease
transactions and had recognised the related
deferred tax, except that the Group previously
determined the temporary difference arising from
a right-of-use asset and the related lease liability
on a net basis on the basis they arise from a single
transaction. Following the amendments, the Group
has determined the temporary differences in relation
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
The change primarily impacts disclosures of
components of deferred tax assets and liabilities in
note 33, and previous year adjustments have been
made.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND Ak S EHES
AMENDED HONG KONG B SR ZE A ()
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (llHKFRSS”) (Continued)

b. Impacts of application of amendments to HKAS 12 b. EABBSFERE125 (BFTX)
Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising FHE—RXRFELENEEREENE
from a Single Transaction on the consolidated EBEHMSAEMBRRNTE
financial statements
The following table summarises the impacts of the TERBERERB A G ERIFE 12
changes in accounting policies as a result of application of 5 (BEIAR) [RE-—XRGEARE
amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets EERBBEAEMAAELESIE] HARE
and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction on the EieEakEME2E KR RER
Group's consolidated statement of profit or loss and other (BB) R :

comprehensive income and (loss)/earning per share:

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other M2022F 12 A3 AIEFE 2 e 8%
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December RAEMEEKEE :
2022:

Effect of

As adoption of
previously the HKICPA

reported guidance As restated
RNEE
mER BIFMLE
FrE  EElZERE RE5
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBTT ARBTET

Income tax expense FrigfiF 16,073 (3,528) 12,545
Profit for the year N F R T 58,689 3,528 62,217 [EEY
Profit attributable to equity A B R 2 AR R PR A i A S®
shareholders of the Company 32,890 2,765 35,655 =
Profit attributable to non- FE VR AR A 25 B 4 Vi A =
controlling interests 25,799 763 26,562
Total comprehensive income RFEEEEMPSBE
for the year 78,473 3,528 82,001
Total comprehensive income RAaE=RREEEZERK
attributable to equity A RE
shareholders of the Company 52,790 2,765 55,555
Total comprehensive FEREREGEE RSB
income attributable to
non-controlling interests 25,683 763 26,446
Earning per share SlRAF
Basic HAR 0.37 cents 4 0.03 cents 7 0.40 cents %

FRERERAA 91
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”> (Continued)

b.

Impacts of application of amendments to HKAS 12
Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction on the consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

The following table summarises the impacts of the
changes in accounting policies as a result of application of
amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction on the
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position at
the end of the immediately preceding financial year, 31

FERFET R&EIEFTES
B RS ZE B ()

EAEBEFEAE125 (BFTX)
FRE-XZELENEEREBNE
EHEAHGREMBHRROLE (B)

TRBAMAERAETBSSHERE12
REFTR)EBE—RXFELENE
ERBENELHEMERN ST
REDUAEEREZE L —WREE
(202212 A318) &R & L& HIRH

recs : % B (2022F 1 AVH )R A BT 5
December 2022 and the beginning of the comparative A A= S NE

=
period, 1 January 2022, are as follows: -

31/12/2022 31/12/2022
(Originally
stated) Adjustments (Restated)
(R2%) AE (&)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR AR¥T R
Deferred tax assets EERIBEE 5,264 (472) 4,792
Deferred tax liabilities REFRIBAE 20,919 (198) 20,721
Total effects on the net assets HEEFEzAYE (274)
Non-controlling interests IR R 233,519 (146) 233,373
Retained profits RE & A 733,244 (128) 733,116
Total effects on equity Eap Sk 32 (274)
1/1/2022 1/1/2022
(Originally
stated) Adjustments (Restated)
(RZ75) HE (g E51)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETFTT ARETTT ARETTT
Deferred tax assets BRETIIAEE 5,649 (565) 5,084
Deferred tax liabilities ERETHIARE 18,159 3,237 21,396
Total effects on the net assets HEEFEzATE (3,802)
Non-controlling interests FEIERR 235,039 (909) 234,130
Retained profits R & H 733,323 (2,893) 730,430
Total effects on equity HiERzBaTE (3,802)
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FeMEHREME

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND Ak S EHES
AMENDED HONG KONG B SR ZE A ()
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (”HKFRSS”> (Continued)

c¢. New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet () EBEMERNRERZHTREEBITER
effective & B 7 3R 25 2E Al
The Group has not early applied the following REBWEARARILEE B BERERAES
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not FER T 5B BAAE M R ERZEIERT
yet effective, in these consolidated financial statements. BB REXER

Effective for accounting
periods beginning

on or after
RTH B2 EBERD
SEATHBEN
o Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or Contribution of Assets To be determined
between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
. ERMBREEBNE10RREB G LR 289 (BAIR)REZ LRI E FE
ANAHEEPRE AN EELEXTE
o Amendments to HKFRS 16, Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 1 January 2024
. ERVBHRELERE 165 (BFIRN) EEHLHHEERE 20241 A1H
o Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non- 1 January 2024
Current and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
. ERGERNE R (BIIRN) EHEESERRBHH B R EEZEES 20241 A1H
5 (1BETA) (20204 )
o Amendments to HKAS 1, Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1 January 2024 B
. ERGTTERNE VR (BRIR)WERFL R B E E 20241818 [
©
[=
o Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 17: Supplier Financing Arrangement 1 January 2024 =
. ER G ERETRRBBUBRELRNETH (BRIR) - HEFHELH 2024%1A1H
o Amendments to HKAS 21: Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025
. ERGTTERNE215 (BRIAR) RS Al L 2L 20251 H1H
The directors of the Company anticipate that the RAREEME BRLAMEBEZSE
application of all these amendments to HKFRSs will KIS BBV B RE LG T EHA]
have no material impact on the consolidated financial TERRRKGRE M HERTREKEKRNF

statements in the foreseeable future. &

FREREMAFT g3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FeMEBERRME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. ERETBERER

INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose
of preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
and investment properties that are measured at fair values at
the end of each reporting period, as explained in the material
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

The material accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated
as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed.

Acquisition of a subsidiary not constituting a business

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities
that do not constitute a business, the Group identifies and
recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price first to the
financial assets and financial liabilities at the respective fair
values, the remaining balance of the purchase price is then
allocated to the other identifiable assets and liabilities on the
basis of their relative fair values at the date of purchase. Such a
transaction does not give rise to goodwill or bargain purchase
gain.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
(see the accounting policy information above) less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there
is an indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than
its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of
associate and joint venture is described below.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
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The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The
financial statements of associates and joint ventures used
for equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policy information as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the
equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint venture
is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate or joint venture. Changes in net assets
of the associate/joint venture other than profit or loss and
other comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such
changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the
Group. When the Group's share of losses of an associate or
a joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that associate
or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising
its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only
to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or
joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition
of the investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess
of the cost of the investment over the Group's share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within
the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group'’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which
the investment is acquired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

IN FO RMAT'ON (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired.
When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount
of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group (such as a sale or contribution of
assets), profits and losses resulting from the transactions with
the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group's
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests
in the associate or joint venture that are not related to the
Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

(i)  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FeMEBERRME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

Performance obligations for contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue from the following sources:

1

Piped gas transmission and distribution

The Group supplies natural gas to customers through
pipelines, including both residential households and
commercial and industrial customers. Revenue is
recognised when the piped natural gas is transferred to
and consumed by customers of which the volume of gas
sold is measured by gas meters installed at customer sites.

Construction and installation

The Group provides construction and installation service
under construction contracts with its customers. Such
contracts are entered into for customers to gain access
to the Group’s gas pipelines. Revenue is recognised
over time based on the completion status of respective
construction. The construction period is typically less
than one year. The management considers that this
input method is an appropriate measure of the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Performance obligations for contracts with customers
(Continued)

3)  Cylinder gas supply

The Group sells liquefied petroleum gas (“LPG") to
customers by tank containers, including both residential
households and commercial and industrial customers.
Revenue is recognised when control of LPG has
transferred, being when the LPG has been bulk delivered
to the customers’ specific location.

4)  Gas distribution

The Group sells liquefied natural gas (“LNG"”) and
compressed natural gas (“CNG"”) to commercial and
industrial customers. Revenue is recognised when control
of CNG/LNG has transferred, being when CNG/LNG has
been delivered to the customers.

5)  Food ingredients supply and FMCG

The Group also sells merchandise to customers through
supermarket and a convenience store. Revenue is
recognised when control of the merchandise has
transferred, being when the goods has been passed to
the customers.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It
is assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FeMEBERRME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satistaction of a performance obligation

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs
to the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to the
total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

Existence of significant financing component

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer
of the associated goods or services is less than one year, the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
transaction price for any significant financing component.

Lease

The Group as a lessee

As a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are
accounted for on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably
expects that the effects on the consolidated financial
statements would not differ materially from individual leases
within the portfolio.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of various offices, warehouses, equipment and
vehicles that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option.
Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as expense
on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the
lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Lease (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities other than adjustments
to lease liabilities resulting from COVID-19-related rent
concessions in which the Group applied the practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for under HKFRS
9 “Financial Instruments” and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-
use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date.

The lease payments include fixed payments less any lease
incentives receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever the lease term has changed.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FeMEBERRME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Lease (Continued)

The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Lease for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a
finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments from lessees.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purpose (other than construction in progress
as described below) are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost or fair value as deemed cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties, pipelines and other assets in the course of
construction for production, supply or administrative purposes
are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Costs
include professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy. Such properties are classified to the appropriate
categories of property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on
the same basis as other property assets, commences when the
assets are ready for their intended use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or deemed
cost of assets other than construction in progress less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the assets. Any gain or loss
arising on disposal and retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between the
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-
of-use assets” in the consolidated statement of financial
position. When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably
between non-lease building element and undivided interest
in the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are
classified as property, plant and equipment.

Investment properties

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair
values. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value
of investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FeMEBERRME

31 December 2023 2023%12H318

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

|N FO RMAT'ON (Continued)

Investment properties (Continued)

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
its disposals. Any gain or loss rising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included
in the profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful
lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated
useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis (see the
accounting policy in respect of impairment of property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets (other
than goodwill) below).

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
identified and recognised separately from goodwill where they
satisfy the definition of an intangible asset and their fair values
can be measured reliably. The cost of such intangible assets is
their fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent to initial
recognition, intangible assets with finite useful lives are carried
at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

|N FO RMAT'ON (Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-out
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets (other than goodwill)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
to disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FeMEBERRME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at the date of initial recognition of a financial asset
the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income (“OCI") if that equity investment is neither held
for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 “Business
Combinations” applies.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the amortised cost of the financial asset (which comprises the
gross carrying amount less any impairment allowance) from the
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting
period following the determination that the asset is no longer
credit impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FeMEBERRME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EAEFTHBERER @

|N FO RMAT'ON (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from
changes in fair value recognised in OCI and accumulated
in the investment revaluation reserve; and are not subject
to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will
not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity
investments, and will continue to be held in the investment
revaluation reserve.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right to receive
the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Dividends are included in the “other income” line item in profit
or loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or designated as FVTOCI are
measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “other gains and losses”
line item.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9)

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model
on financial assets (including trade and bills receivables, other
receivables and bank balances) and other items (contract
assets and financial guarantee contracts) which are subject to
impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime
ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group's historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

The Group always recognise lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and contract assets from initial recognition until derecognition.
The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for the credit
impaired balances and based on provision matrix for the
remaining balances.

For all other financial assets at amortised cost, the Group
measures the loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless
when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or
risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9) (Continued)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for
the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|N FO RMAT'ON (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9) (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

3.

& M35 R M

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

BAREFTHERER @)

B> B
H
T

|
=
oy

B

g

)

)

( 4
(7

EREERE (RRIEEENBEHREERE
9 A FREF I ZAMER) (&

) EEERBREZEN(E)

—~

i DT A ER M AEER
KA HNFAHEE308 - AEE
[\ B B R R RR IA SRR & SR N - BR IF
AL BB BERL RS B R o 3f 8 R 3
MEV BRI SEE R AIVER °

AEEEHERIREEERRE S

R A BIZE - LARER E A AR
HERHA BB EERBREEE M-

(i) BHOTEE

RARMEERREEMNS AKER
B BHEMHEABEEXRB IR
KRB R BRES AT KA GEEBH
RMEGEA (BRASEE)ER (R
RSB AR R) R

B

-
o
(5}
{=
©
=
ic

Tt AEERS BONERE
EBEBOBRREL KRIFAEER
BRAENSENBREINFRIED
BEERRE -

FREBRBRAT 113

2023F R (FE2023F12A31B L FE)



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9) (Continued)

(iii)  Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9) (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level
may not yet be available, the financial instruments are
grouped on the following basis:

. Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s
trade and other receivables are each assessed as a
separate group. Loans to related parties are assessed
for ECL on an individual basis);

. Past-due status;

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9) (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset
(which is the gross carrying amount less any impairment
allowance).

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade and
other receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables, and
bank borrowings) are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the rights
to receive cash flows from the assets expire or, when it transfers
the financial assets and substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the assets to another entity. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the consideration received and
receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

3.
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Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from “(loss)/profit before tax” as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the
time of the transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries except where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation arising
from investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the directors of the Company have reviewed
the Group's investment properties portfolios and concluded
that the Group's investment properties are held under a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore,
in measuring the Group’s deferred taxation on investment
properties, the directors of the Company have determined
that the presumption that the carrying amounts of investment
properties measured using the fair value model are recovered
entirely through sale is rebutted. Accordingly, deferred taxation
in relation to the Group's investment properties has been
measured based on the tax consequences of recovering the
carrying amounts entirely through use.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to the lease liabilities, and the
related assets separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax
asset related to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability
for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from initial accounting
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group
with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under “Other gains and losses”.

Retirement benefit costs and termination benefits

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for staff in
Hong Kong and state-managed retirement benefit schemes for
staff in the PRC are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the employer MPF
contributions and the offsetting mechanism as a funding
mechanism for the LSP obligation and the LSP obligation
is measured on a gross basis, which is not reduced by the
offsetable accrued benefits, as the employer’s rights to those
benefits are recognised as a separate reimbursement asset.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless another
HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the
cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FeMEBERRME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Equity settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees and directors

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
directors are measured at the fair value of share options
granted at the date of grant and is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in
equity (share-based compensation reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with
a corresponding adjustment to share-based compensation
reserve.

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant,
the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share-based compensation reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share-based
compensation reserve will be transferred to retained earnings.

Related parties

A person or an entity is related to the Group if:

(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group’s parent.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is
a part, provides key management personnel services
to the Company or to the Company’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FeMEBERRME

31 December 2023 2023%12H318

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 4. BT TP EERZ2EE

UNCERTAINTIES

In the application of the Group’s major accounting policies,
which are described in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report, the directors of the Company
are required to make estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on the historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainties at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

(@) Assessment of economic useful lives of property,
plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over
their economic useful lives. The assessment of estimated
useful life of an item of property, plant and equipment
is a matter of judgement based on the experience of the
Group, taking into account factors such as technological
progress, changes in market demand, expected usage
and physical wear and tear. Useful lives are periodically
reviewed for continued appropriateness. Due to long lives
of these assets, changes to the estimates of the useful
lives can result in variations in their carrying amounts
and depreciation charges recognised in respect of the
assets. As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount
of property, plant and equipment was approximately
RMB927,144,000 (2022: RMB946,078,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTIES (continued)

(b)

Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment loss, if any. In determining
whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise
judgement and make estimation, particularly in assessing:
(1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators
exist that may affect the recovery of the asset’s carrying
value; (2) whether the carrying amount of an asset can
be supported by the recoverable amount, and in the
case of value in use, whether the net present value of
future cash flows are estimated based upon the net cash
inflows expected to be generated from continued use
of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions
to be applied in estimating the recoverable amounts
including estimation of future cash flow projections and
an appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset
(including right-of-use assets), the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit
("CGU") to which the asset belongs. Changing the
assumptions and estimates, including the discount
rates or the growth rate in the cash flow projections,
could materially affect the net present value used in the
impairment test. As at 31 December 2023, the carrying
amounts of property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets are approximately RMB927,144,000 (2022:
RMB946,078,000) and approximately RMB98,302,000
(2022: RMB93,632,000) respectively. Impairment loss of
approximately RMB63,755,000 and RMB 1,640,000 (2022:
RMB11,914,000 and RMB11,446,000) were recognised
for property, plant and equipment and right of used
assets respectively during the year end 31 December 2023
(the "Year”) to the consolidation financial statements of
this annual report.

& M35 R M

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

4, BT TP EERZ2EE

(b)

ME BERRBURERAEEEZ
fhETRE

WE -BENMEEAREREEET)
ERAREFFITER R RERE
(mB)INE-RETEERERE
B NEBEAEEDHE KRG LH
EE(WREEEHERTLERER
IR FHEZE A e 20 & EREE
B: QEERAESSASITRE S
BEY I MEFEREECBERLT  BlZ
BRENEFFRESTHFEEAZ
BEEEABERMMEFTZAKESR
EZFREIR ROKEAR G
A El S B EE BRBRREIETER
BRRSRETER EE IR E) o
EEAGFENEE (RIEFERHESR
E)Ma ko & AREEGTEE
FrBfecEESEMN ([ReEEEMN])
B ] Uk Bl & B8 - B A AR AR b AT
(BEBESREEAFHIERGER
R) A pe e ERE RS TR A R EE
A BEARKFE-02023F128318 9
¥ BELAEEBREAEEERmE
DR AEX ANREE927,144,0007T (2022
F: AR ¥946,078,0007T) & 4 A
R #98,302,0007T (20224 : AR ¥
93,632,0007T ) ° £ 22023412 H31
BIEFE([RFE])  RAFHR 4R
AU BHREREYE BERZEAR
FREEEDIERREBEOAR
#63,755,0007T & AR #1,640,0007T
(20224 : AR#11,914,000T AR
#11,446,0007T ) °

FRERERAA
2023F R (B E2023F 128310 ILEE)

=
i
v
c
o
=
'S

125

B




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FeMEBERRME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTA'NT'ES (Continued)

(c)

Provision of ECL for financial assets measured at
amortised cost

Financial assets measured at amortised cost with
significant balances or which are credit-impaired are
assessed for ECL. In addition, the Group uses provision
matrix to calculate ECL for the trade receivables. The
provision matrix is based on the Group’s historical
default rates taking into consideration forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable and
available without undue costs or effort. At the end of
each reporting period, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered. The provision of ECL is
sensitive to the changes in estimates. The information
about the ECL and the Group's trade and other
receivables are disclosed in notes 36(b) and 26 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report
respectively.

5. REVENUE

()
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HIR )
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5. WA

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with (i) BEFEXNNBADN
customers
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARBTT
Types of goods or services Emm RS ER
Sales of piped gas EEMRREE 1,045,703 833,924
Piped gas connection EEMRER 123,877 120,317
Cylinder gas supply e 255 A SR A R 655,574 743,744
Gas distribution WRR 5 8 585,726 1,051,239
Food ingredients supply and FMCG BRMHERES 102,641 118,473
2,513,521 2,867,697
Timing of revenue recognition LN
On point in time basis HrFzy 2,389,644 2,747,380
On over time basis HHFER 123,877 120,317
2,513,521 2,867,697
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

5. REVENUEcontinued) 5. LI& A (&)
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with (i) BEFEANBADN (B8)
customers (Continued)
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from BERFEHAMBARSBERPEES
contracts with customers with the segment revenue A eRme B RRE TN -

amounts disclosed in the segment information.

2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T AR¥ETTT

Segment revenue 2
Piped gas transmission and distribution & & A R AC
— Sales of piped gas —EEMRRHEE 1,045,703 833,924
— Piped gas connection —EEMRRER 123,877 120,317
1,169,580 954,241
Cylinder gas supply I 55 R SR A 655,574 743,744
Gas distribution KRR 8 585,726 1,051,239
Food ingredients supply and FMCG R ERES
— Wholesales and retail of merchandises —#t2% Kk T &7 & 102,641 118,473
2,513,521 2,867,697
All the revenue from contracts with customers are derived EEANIFFARAS KGR -

from the PRC.
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The Group recognises revenue from the following major
sources:

(a)

Sales of gas and merchandise

For the sales of cylinder gas, a receivable is
recognised by the Group when the goods are
delivered to the customers as this represents the
point in time at which the right to consideration
becomes unconditional, as only the passage of
time is required before payment is due. The Group
allows an average credit period of 30 to 90 days to
its customers and extending to 180 days for major
customers for the invoices issued.

For the sales of natural gas, the Group would
require advance payment before the delivery of
gas for certain customers, any shortage against the
periodically actual delivery of the natural gas will be
billed by the Group accordingly. The Group allows
an average credit period of 30 days to its customers
for the invoices issued.

The Group sells merchandise directly to retail
customers within supermarkets and a convenience
store. Revenue from sales of goods to retail
customers is recognised when the product is
transferred to the customers upon sales. Payment
of the transaction price is due immediately when
the customers purchases the goods. The payment is
usually settled in cash or using credit cards.

The Group also sell merchandise to wholesalers.
Revenue from sales of merchandise to wholesalers
is recognised when the control of the merchandises
has transferred, being when the merchandises
are delivered to the wholesalers and there is
no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
wholesaler’s acceptance of the products. Payments
received in advance that are related to the sales
of merchandises not yet delivered to customers
are deferred and recognised as contract liabilities.
Revenue are recognised when goods are delivered
to customers.

AEBEERBATEZRIRNEA

(a)

#HE MR K P

HEERERTMS  AEER
ERRXNERFREREKER
o RARKEBREZ#EFNE
R AEGY  EAFKH
BEB AT UER S 3R - A @ | H
EEMEBHHEEM L FH30E
QOB{EEH B AxBRPIE
KZE180H -

RAAREZME AEBRA
AETEERMFRARAE ERTE
MR EEMNESBEEATHERR
MORARZEEIB T =5
AEBEEHEERAKEE - A5
MERFRE L EZM T
30BEEH-

AEBFEBRTSREMNEE
ERZERFHERMm NEE
EFHERmMNBARER®E
HERBEEEPRBER -ER
FREEDE X2 ERAEE
Fe-RBEARSKERER
REHE-

AEB A EEEERE R [
BEEHEENMOBARE RN
TH SRR AR
F L7 B 3 £ AT RE 52 £ 4t B
BEXEMNRBITEET EH
ARATFEFHEMBEREN
W REBRES R AEEHE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5. REVEN U E (Continued)

(ii)

Performance obligations for contract with customers

(Continued)

(a)

Sales of gas and merchandise (Continued)

For the sales of piped gas, the Group would require
advance payment before the usage of the natural
gas for certain customers, any shortage against
the periodically actual usage of natural gas will be
billed by the Group accordingly. The Group allows
an average credit period of 30 to 90 days to its
customers and extending to 180 days for major
customers for the invoices issued. These customers
are required to top up the advance payment for
future usage of natural gas supplied by the Group.

In addition, the Group requires advance payment
before the usage of the natural gas through prepaid
card for certain household users. The charge of the
actual usage of natural gas will be deducted directly
to the balance of the prepaid card. These customers
can only consume the natural gas up to the balance
of the prepaid card.

Construction

The Group provides gas pipeline construction
services under construction contracts with its
customers. Such contracts are entered into before
construction of the gas pipeline begins. The Group’s
performance creates and enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs. Revenue
from construction of gas pipeline is recognised
over time using an input method, i.e. based on
the proportion of contract costs incurred for work
performed to date relative to the estimated total
contract costs. The directors consider that this input
method best depicts the Group’s performance
in transferring control of services and hence is
the appropriate measure of the progress towards
complete satisfaction of these performance
obligations under HKFRS 15 due to its accuracy.

& M35 R M

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

5. WA )

EFENNBHRER (&)

(i)

(a)

HEMRRE® (&)

MEETEMAENS  AEER
AETEFFEARARERIAR
FIE MAEE G RRERE R
FATWEE AN R EHER
WEBFE AEERERZFHE
BEHEZHHFH30E90REE
H - BERAFERFPIERZEISD
B-ZERFPEERRRRAR
ZEAX BN REARERAE
EH R E -

SN AREEBRRAETER
REERXARABBEMN KA
NHHE - BRERRARNER
15 B &I FBA R AE SR IR - 1t
ERXPADHRNAARERREE
REFANRERR-

B

AEBERBEESHATPRM
AR E BRI - % F A KA
I KA SR E 58 2 AR IR 75 B 4R A 2R
Rl ARBMBEOESRINE—
HEE MzBREERAKERE
WEHEFES -RENRES
B RR M MR PR B AR IR B ]
R BIREBE S BIEFTERAT
EFELENE AR BE NG
AR KB AR L P - EER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

5. REVEN U E (Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contract with customers
(Continued)

(b)  Construction (Continued)

The Group requires certain customers to provide
upfront deposits before the commencement of
the construction which will give rise to contract
liabilities until the revenue recognised on the
relevant contracts exceed the amount of the
deposits. The Group is entitled to invoice customers
for gas pipeline construction upon completion
of construction works. The Group recognises
contract asset for any work performed in excess of
payment from customer for the same contract. Any
amount previously recognised as a contract asset is
reclassified to trade receivables upon completion of
construction works. The Group allows an average
credit period of 30 to 90 days to its customers and
extending to 180 days for major customers.

(iii) Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with customers

All the contracts for sales of gas and merchandise,
and gas pipeline construction are for original expected
duration of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS
15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
contracts is not disclosed.

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Group's chief operating
decision maker (“CODM"), being the managing director of
the Company, for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on types of goods
sold or services rendered which is also consistent with the basis
of organisation of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FeMEHREME

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEFER (@)

The Group currently organises its operations into four operating REB B H B S AN EEEZL - In
divisions, which also represent the operating segments of EARSENKEEDEETBEHRAE - A1)
the Group for financial reporting purposes, namely (i) piped EERARBA: (DERRAEE: (RRED
gas transmission and distribution; (ii) cylinder gas supply; (i) SHUAR(GVEMEERES AR EEKLSE
gas distribution and (iv) Food ingredients supply and FMCG. RO KT - K E R EMDEBHIEZETF
They represent four major lines of business engaged by the wm

Group. The principal activities of the operating and reportable
segments are as follows:

(1)  Piped gas transmission and distribution — sales of piped (1) EERRBE-BBEMREERSLHM
gas to end-user households, industrial and commercial ER IXRHERFHEEBMA
customers and construction of gas pipeline networks R ELERRE BHEE

under gas connection contracts;

(2)  Cylinder gas supply — sales and distribution of gas using (2) WERMREE-—AFEHEES RO HEMN
tank containers to end-user households, industrial and RTER IHERFZ&EAE:

commercial customers;

(3) Gas distribution — sales of natural gas to industrial and 3) MEIPE-—MIEMBEFFHEKX
commercial customers; and MR &

(4) Food ingredients supply and FMCG - wholesales and (4) BMEHENZES 3 RERBRT
retail of merchandise (including but not limited to rice; BREMNEZEEm (BRERETRR
meat; fresh food; FMCG) through supermarkets and a KB POER)

convenience store.

No operating segments have been aggregated to derive the DEE R 27 2 7] 2 35 I FEME AL
reportable segments for segment information presentation. D EBAF H o

B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEeMBEERERME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

N BN
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continves) 6. DEBER =)
Segment revenues and results DEWBAREER
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results NTAREERFREEERYBHEL
by operating and reportable segment for the two years: WA R B DT :
For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z£2023F12A31HILFE
Piped gas Food
transmission ingredients
and  Cylinder gas Gas supply and
distribution supply  distribution FMCG Total
BATLE
BEMRREE EXRRME RRDH RES &it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRE ARBTR AR®BTR AR®TR ARETZ

Segment revenue from external 2k BNEE F R HMA

customers 1,169,580 655,574 585,726 102,641 2,513,521
Segment profit (l0ss) AEEF (BE) 35,661 3,061 4,096 (7,515) 35,303
Unallocated income RAOBEHA 7,646
Central administration costs A RTEHI X (9,155)
Share of results of associates ~ JE{EE & AR ¥4 21,349
Share of results of joint ventures [E{FA AR EXE (242,653)
Unallocated impairment loss of F2 E¥1% BB KR

property, plant and equipment 2 3 {E &5 18 (10,308)
Finance costs A (4,494)
Loss before tax BREiRIEE (202,312)
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment revenues and results (Continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by
operating and reportable segment for the two years: (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

& M35 R M

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

ATRAKEMERNREERDHBIEZ
WAREED: (&)

HZE2022F12A31BILFE

Piped gas Food
transmission ingredients
and Cylinder gas Gas supply and
distribution supply distribution FMCG Total
R
BEMREE BEERRERE R 8 RES =H)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARETT AR®Tr ARETR
Segment revenue from external 2 B 4N 8 9 SRUR A
customers 954,241 743,744 1,051,239 118,473 2,867,697
Segment profit (loss) AEEF (BE) 62,017 17,105 4,472 (25,524) 58,070
Unallocated income RABEHA 7,373
Central administration costs ~ FRITHFX (6,586)
Share of results of associates ~ FE{GE & A A E4E 15,264
Share of results of joint ventures [E{E A BN EHE 4,159
Finance costs B AR (3,518)
Profit before tax BREL AR A 74,762
Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated FXERzHFRAERBE IR S - FE .—3%
from external customers. There were no inter-segment sales in FERNBES PREHEE - é
both years. -
The accounting policies of the reportable and operating ERREED T 2 ST BRBEARFERZE

segments are the same as the Group’s material accounting
policies described in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report. Segment result represents
the profit (loss) earned by (incurred by) each segment without
allocation of share of results of associates, share of results
of joint ventures, central administration costs, finance costs
and certain other income and impairment loss of property,
plant and equipment. This is the measure reported to the
CODM for the purpose of resource allocation and performance
assessment.

ﬁ?fﬂ“‘ﬂﬁ%M]‘.:BFELZ$§%@ZEKA*+BZ
RER - DA RGBS DRI (ELE) 2
A (EE) L EOMEEBERARE
HOEEAELRRE PROTBMAX ¥
B R E T EMBARRYE  BE MR
BB S © bt TY s B IR D BL R IR ¥
MEIBLERREZBRITESA

PRERBRAE
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e MBRRME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

AN S 2= AR L
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) D EE R )
Segment assets and liabilities PHEEREME
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities UTAAERREGREED O EZE
by reportable and operating segments. EXBESH-
2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBTT
(Restated)
(#=7)
Segment assets PHEE
Piped gas transmission and distribution EEM R R 894,918 894,421
Cylinder gas supply TSR IR 253,670 294,324
Gas distribution MR 5 8 26,103 51,186
Food ingredients supply and FMCG BMEERES 48,894 37,969
Total segment assets NEEEEE 1,223,585 1,277,900
Investment properties KEME 3,770 4,540
Interests in associates REE QAR 2= 174,052 152,703
Interests in joint ventures REBREZ#ER 1,104,454 1,347,107
Equity instruments at FVTOCI RAREFAREMREKG 2 TR 107,733 127,544
Deferred tax assets RIETRIE A E 3,163 4,792
Financial assets at FVTPL BRAREFAEBRZEREE 16,595 =
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRRIRE 604,501 555,115
Other unallocated assets HMARDEEE 115,352 133,133
Consolidated assets HEEE 3,353,205 3,602,834
Segment liabilities PHEE
Piped gas transmission and distribution BB RE R 376,618 299,519
Cylinder gas supply TSR R FE 104,384 124,948
Gas distribution AR5 2,785 29,471
Food ingredients supply and FMCG BEBMEHERES 38,478 41,580
Total segment liabilities HEEEEE 522,265 495,518
Bank borrowings RITIEE 81,775 85,520
Tax liabilities HIEAE 9,224 12,953
Deferred tax liabilities REHIEAE 17,740 20,721
Other unallocated liabilities HMARSEERE 3,550 5,698
Consolidated liabilities meERE 634,554 620,410
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FEMBEER=RME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

kva [ P 2=~A
SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. TEER @
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) PEHEERERE (B)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and BT EER Y -E‘Il%zfﬁ&ﬁ‘ 3 ESE D B E R

allocating resources between segments:

BrisEWE REE A a2Em  RE

o all assets are allocated to operating segments other than

investment properties, interests in associates, interests BE R E’ AEFAEME

in joint ventures, equity instruments at FVTOCI, deferred EsS R T R REFRBEEE - ?E

tax assets, financial assets at FVTPL, bank balances and @fﬁ@.:ﬁ')\?élﬁﬁz%raﬂﬁ? SRITH

cash, certain property, plant and equipment and other BERAE ++:F¢%% iR 5 M 5% 1%1%&

receivables; and ﬁﬁﬂﬂ’éﬂﬁ KIESN-FTEBEEHNE S
%X%«Mﬁ\_ﬂ &

e all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other o KRIRITEER MEBGE BLHIBEAE
than bank borrowings, tax liabilities, deferred tax liabilities METHMBEMAZKIEIIN FIEAED
and certain other payables. EARFEEED -

Other segment information B EaE s

Food
Piped gas ingredients
transmission and Cylinder Gas supply and
distribution gas supply distribution FMCG Unallocated Consolidated
EERRAR
kA% EEMRHE REs#¥ SNEERES 9B ait
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR N R ARBTR ARETR N R N

For the year ended HEABENANBLER
31 December 2023

Amounts included in measure  FEABEAAFBLHA
of segment profit or loss or BERHRZER:

segment assets:
Depreciation of property, plantand ~ #1% BERRENE
equipment 39,302 14,988 - 4377 413 59,080
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ FREEENE 1,781 2874 - 544 101 5,300
Loss on disposal of property, plant ~ HENE  BERRE
and equpment and right-of-use ~ RFFRAEZBR
assets 1379 999 - (285) - 2,093
Loss on disposal of an HEREMEFR ha
investment property - - - 19 - 19 S &=
Amortisation of intangible assets ~ EHEHEE 1,229 - - - - 129 [
Impairment loss recognised in respect  Bi41% B Rk bh B Al i
of property, plant and equipment  EEERDZHESE
and right-of-use assets 44,825 9,329 - 933 10,308 65,395
Net allowance (reversal of S8 RAMEWIE 1
allowances) made in respect of (BERE)  RETE
trade and other receivables (1,058) 2,806 (110) 3,828 2,825 8,291
Additions in right-of-use assets PERRELE 10,629 1,052 - - 25 11,906
Capital expenditure in respectof ~ AENE HERZEL
property, plant and equipment BARX 60,149 42,454 - 2922 1,156 106,681
Amounts regularly provided to ~ EHEIZEERKERE
the CODM but not includedin ~ BRFEABENTEE
the measure of segment profit S A PEERLEH K2
or loss or segment assets: £2 B
Interests in associates REEAF B - 174,052 - - - 174,052
Interests in joint ventures ﬁ“‘ BhEER 1,104,454 - - - - 1,104,454
Share of results of associates ElEBERREE - 21,349 - - - 21,349
Share of results of joint ventures 15 RENEEE (242,653) - - - - (242,653)
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e MBRRME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Other segment information (Continued)

Piped gas
transmission and Cylinder
distribution gas supply

BEMREE

kAl RRRRLE
RMB'000 RMB000
ARBTT ARETT

/] =} ()
ITHEEREE (F)
Food
ingredients
Gas supply and
distribution FMCG Unallocated Consolidated
REAH RIRERES AR =
RIB'000 RMB'000 RIVB'000 RMB'000

ARETTR ARETT ARETR N R

For the year ended HENENANBLER
31 December 2022

Amounts included in measure B2 BEAZEEZHS
of segment profitorlossor ~ BEBHEZEH:
segment assets:

Depreciation of property, plantand 912 BE k&G E

equipment 34,125 15,725 994 5,954 313 57111
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ FREZENE 1,180 2436 - 2,250 754 6,620
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, ~ HENE BERREL

plant and equipment (&) B8 () 466 = (522) 38 269
Amortisation of intangible assets ~ BEEREE 1,230 - = - = 1230
Impairment loss recognised in respect  E41% % RaR B b R F3

of property, plant and equipment  EAEBRZHEEE

and right-of-use assets - 3,013 - 20,347 - 23,360
Net allowance (reversal of HEHREMENTEH R

allowances) made in respect of (BERE) 2 BEEE

trade and other receivables 799 (330) (36) 793 175 1,401
Additions in right-of-use assets TEFRELE - 7329 - - 217 7,546
Capital expenditure in respect o~ AENE BRERRELZ

property, plant and equipment N 51,766 20,59 - 58,693 869 131922
Amounts regularly provided to  EHETEEERKEARE

the CODM but not included in RS EA BENAFES

the measure of segment profit  AHEER L& R

or loss or segment assets: SE:

Interests in associates NG 3 = 152,703 = - = 152,703
Interests in joint ventures RRELEER 1,347,107 - = - = 1,347,107
Share of results of associates MEBENAEE - 15,264 - - - 15,264
Share of results of joint ventures ~ E[FAE P EES 4,159 = = = = 4,159
Geographical information i & & R

All of the Group's revenue was generated in the PRC (place
of domicile of the Group entities that derived the revenue)
and over 90% of the Group’s non-current assets were also
located in the PRC (place of domicile of the group entities that
hold such assets). Accordingly, no geographical information is
presented.

Information about major customers

No individual customer of the Group had contributed sales of
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group for both years.
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fRe MR T EE

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

IMPAIRMENT LOSS UNDER THE ECL 7. JEEiI=EEEERXT =

MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL EEE  HIREE
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBTT

Impairment loss, net of reversal AR - MR D
Trade receivables from contracts REEBEF A ZEBGIA

with customers 639 (1,250)
Other receivables E b & IR (8,930) (151)

(8,291) (1,401)

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 8. Hhsm K EiE/F2E

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETT

Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWZE  BERZERERE
equipment and right-of-use assets BEZER (2,093) (269)
Loss on disposal of an investment property  H&EEEYE 2B (79) (1,652)
Fair value gain (loss) on financial assets at BARBEFABEZEREE
FVTPL (note 28) NREYE (BE) (M5E28) 95 3)
Net foreign exchange gain B U s 5 BE 1,320 4,251
Fair value loss on investment properties TEMER R EEE (HE18)
(note 18) (480) (2,080)
Bargain purchase gain on acquisition of a W B BT BB 8 A e (B M B W s o
subsidiary (note 38) (Kt7£38) - 11 RS
Difference arising on acquisition (note 39) WegEE 2 =58 (BsE39) - 1,405 E
Impairment loss recognised in respect of MAT S EER ZREEE iZ
— Property, plant and equipment — M BERZE (63,755) (11,914)
— Right-of-use assets —EREEE (1,640) (11,446)

(66,632) (21,697)
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31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

9. OTHER INCOME 9. HMW A

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBETTT

Bank interest income RITHB WA 6,520 5,293
Interest income from financial assets at FVTPL IZ A R Bt ABH 2 S REE 2
M EHA 277 -
Imputed interest income from loan receivable & U & 2k~ #E & F| B U A - 164
Rental income, net e WA F8E 3,293 8,664
Dividend income from an equity instrument AR ERE R AEZMEE
at FVTOC| Wz #m TAZREWA 646 -
Repair and maintenance services income HIERERBKA 57 1,635
Sales of gas appliances, net HEMR IR EFE 20,211 22,771
Incentive subsidies (note) B AL (K EE) 2,081 1,387
Others Hity 9,535 7,588
42,620 47,502
Note: B
The amount mainly represents incentives from the government ZEEERETPEBNRBR T ARMEERH

authorities in the PRC related to the Group’s operations. 2 b
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fRe MR T EE

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

10.(LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAX 10.B:%i a1 (B8 ) & F
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETTT

Directors’ emoluments (note 11) BE5ME (KIsE11) 6,030 5,724
Other staff costs (excluding directors) EMETITHRA(TEIEES)

— Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind —#Ho EMEREYMH G 141,413 130,987

- Retirement benefits scheme —RIRTEFIET &I H 3K

contributions 20,931 18,361

Total staff costs BETIKAR 168,374 155,072
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses &R AR X 2 F &k A& 2,140,039 2,518,172

- Costs of gas purchased — PR REREE A A 1,952,727 2,321,572

— Costs of merchandise sold —BEEREMmAKAK 87,055 105,170

— Manufacturing costs — BN 100,257 91,430
Auditor’s remuneration 1% Gl

— Audit services — B RTE 1,000 1,000

— Non-audit services —EEZRE - 5
Depreciation and amortisation e REH

— Property, plant and equipment (note 16)  —¥1% /&= K& & (HizE16) 59,080 57,111

- Right-of-use assets (note 17) —(FEREEE (MFE17) 5,300 6,620

— Intangible assets (note 20) — | A E (HE20) 1,229 1,230
Contract cost recognised as expense in R REBRERENERR

respect of gas connection construction X2 E KA (A

contracts (included in cost of sales) HER &) 60,891 59,519
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R & M5 RME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

11.DIRECTORS" EMOLUMENTS AND

MNESZMERAENES

-+ —
FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES FEE T
(a) Directors’ Emoluments (a) EEZEHE
The emoluments paid or payable to each of 8 (2022: 8) Bk EM8HE (2022F :8R)EEZ
directors were as follows: T :
Performance
related
Directors’ Salaries, incentive  Retirement
fees allowances  payments benefits Total
E30hEL
EzHe FHe 2 RASXR  BAEA G
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR AR%Tn AR¥Tx AR¥TR AR%ETn
(note)
(FHsE)
For the year ended BZ2023%12A31H
31 December 2023 LEE
Executive directors: HITES:
Dr. Mo Shikang RttRE L - 1,534 214 - 1,748
Mr. Zhang Hesheng RAMELE - 1,296 165 - 1,461
Mr. Fan Fangyi BHELE - 698 23 34 755
Miss Mo Yunbi RE2NME - 698 67 51 816
Ms. Li Fun Replen FEaL - 706 - 16 722
Independent non-executive directors: B FHITEE:
Mr. Liu Junmin BIER % E 176 - - - 176
Prof. Zhao Yanyun HEEHE 176 - - - 176
Mr. Cheung Chi Ming RERLE 176 - - - 176
528 4,932 469 101 6,030
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fRe MR T EE

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

11.DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS AND MNESZHMERENEGES

-+ —
FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES FHNE T o)
(Continued)
(a) Directors’ Emoluments (Continued) (a) EEzENE (B)
Performance
related
Directors’ Salaries, incentive  Retirement
fees  allowances payments benefits Total
RE AW
E2He He 2R RBOX  RAEA A&t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT AR®TE ARETT ARETR
(note)
(PE)
For the year ended HZ22022%12A31H
31 December 2022 LLEE
Executive directors: HITES:
Dr. Mo Shikang RttRET = 1,463 196 = 1,659
Mr. Zhang Hesheng RAMELE = 1,237 147 = 1,384
Mr. Fan Fangyi BHRLE - 667 15 34 716
Miss Mo Yunbi BEEE/MA - 668 58 50 776
Ms. Li Fun Replen ZEut = 670 = 15 685
Independent non-executive directors: BV FHTES:
Mr. Liu Junmin BEREL 168 - - - 168
Prof. Zhao Yanyun HEEHK 168 = = = 168
Mr. Cheung Chi Ming RERLE 168 = = = 168
=8
504 4,705 416 99 5,724 S =
Note: Bt 5 - -

The performance related incentive payments were determined REBRARBNRD2EEE ZAARE
by reference to the individual performance of the directors and EE WEARAFWNEEERESSH
approved by the remuneration committee of the Company and the i3

Board.
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REMBERERME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

11.DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND MNEEZHMERENES
FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES FME T »

(Continued)

(a) Directors’ Emoluments (Continued) (a) EEZEME (B)
The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were EXFRPTEEME I BEEEES
for their services in connection with the management of BARBRAEBELZ R -

the affairs of the Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments EXFRBYERITEEME A H
shown above were for their services as directors of the BEERARAES 2R -
Company.
There was no arrangement under which a director waived AW F 2 A - 3 PR L B B A EE Bk
or agreed to waive any remuneration during both years. AEREEMHMN 2 Lo NREEH
No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors ERAZEEX NS ERRSIMAZIN
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as AR B I ) R E Sk e R BE RS
compensation for loss of office.

(b) Five highest paid individuals (b) EfUBRSHMAL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments AEERAUERFMATRARARE
in the Group, all are directors of the Company whose E EMeE R EXEE-

emoluments are included in the above disclosures.

12.FINANCE COSTS 12. 87 % pR 2K

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTR ARETT

Interest on bank borrowings RITEEFE 3,426 2,577
Interest on lease liabilities HEEEHNS 1,068 941
4,494 3,518
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13.INCOME TAX EXPENSE

& M35 R M

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

13.FTi5 5

2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET AREF T
(Restated)
(&%)

PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT"): REIEMGH ([REREBB)
- Current tax — BVEA® 18 22,710 16,903
— Under (over) provision in prior years - BEFEBEBEIR (BEEE) 934 (484)
Deferred taxation (note 33) FEIERIE (MIFE33) 1,303 (3,874)
24,947 12,545

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in the
consolidated financial statements as the Group had no assessable
profit derived in Hong Kong for both years.

The EIT rates applicable for the Group’s PRC subsidiaries ranged
from 15% to 25% (2022: 15% to 25%).

Following the Catalogue of Encouraged Industries in Western
Region which was promulgated by the National Development
and Reform Commission of the PRC in 2014, certain subsidiaries
which are operating in the Western China region are granted a
concessionary tax rate of 15% by the local tax bureau.

Income tax credit for small-scaled minimal profit
enterprise

For the year ended 31 December 2023

In accordance with the announcement no. 12 of 2023
regarding (BERE - XFHFIMELENERIBL #RE
EBRHEREOHLE) (“Announcement on Tax and Fee
Policies for Further Supporting the Development of Small Profit
Making Enterprises and Individual Industrial and Commercial
Household*") issued by the Ministry of Finance and the State
Taxation Administration, for the period from 1 January 2023
to 31 December 2027, in respect of the portion of taxable
income for the year derived by the Group’s small profitmaking
enterprises, the annual taxable income shall be included in its
taxable income at the reduced rate of 25%, with the applicable
enterprise income tax rate of 20%.

*  For identification purpose only

HRAEERAFELENETBEETM
JERBU A - UL W BALR S M BEHRERAE
BNS BB -

AEBARREMBEARAEBCEMSHHRE
N F15%Z%25% (20224 : 15%E25% ) °

BREBRERMNFZESEANR20145F
Bhme (OENeESBBEEXBE)  RKF
BAMEENE THBARCSEE LN B
RTRBREB BERETNECEMERS
15% °

PEBFEHEFEHREEBRR

2Z2023F12831ALEE

-
o
(5}
{=
©
=
ic

BEVEIRBEBRBBEEREMZ NS
2023F F 1298 (AR E — I HF/ Db E
MEBTIHFEREUREBBERNHAE)
M2023F1 818 £2027F12 8318 1 8
- AR B/ N R E AN F AR
KA ME @ FEERTUA IR
FRE25% T AE BRI - @Ak ZEFT
BRHMEE20% °
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e MBRRME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

13.INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Income tax credit for small-scaled minimal profit
enterprise (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

In accordance with the announcement no. 12 of 2021 regarding
(AR BB/ NMICENERBIRPAEHESHENRS)
("Implementation of Preferential Income Tax Policies for Small
Profit Making Enterprises and Individual Industrial and Commercial
Household*") issued by the Ministry of Finance and the State
Taxation Administration, for the period from 1 January 2021 to 31
December 2022, in respect of the portion of taxable income for
the year of less than RMB1 million derived by the Group's small
profitmaking enterprises, the enterprise income tax shall be levied at
a further reduced rate of 50% on the basis of preferential policies
stipulated in Article Two of the Cai Shui 2019 No. 13 Document.

*  For identification purpose only
The charge for the year can be reconciled to the (loss) profit

before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as follows:

13. 58 X o)

PEBFEXFEBHERERER (B)

XS

HZ2022F128318 L FEE

BETERBEBERREBLEMRZ DS
20211258 AR E e/ NI EFEE TR
FARGHEERBRRMNAE)  2021F1 /418
F2022F 128318 IFHIE A& B/ M
CEEEMARE—BELUTHNFERE
R AZE S - ARIEFFI2019135 X E =
1538 E B RBUR @ # — P 1250% B ft R
W SEFTB R -

AREZRX RS BN E M2 E SR
KT ERTAT (B1R) B A E AR T -

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARETF T

(Restated)

(&&=75)

(Loss) profit before tax AT (B518 ) & 7 (202,312) 74,762
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 25%  ¥&R7N3h BT 15 51 B K 25%

(2022: 25%) (2022%F : 25% )T & (50,578) 18,691
Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures {5 & & EELE v HEFE 60,663 (1,040)
Tax effect of share of results of associates JEREE N R EE 2B E (5.337) (3,816)
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose “~AJ FAFE A Z Tt 755 57 £ (2.726) (2,172)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax “~A] HIFi 5 2 2 i 75 2 &

purpose 22,071 9,186
Tax effect of profit which are under tax MIBRRIE a2 M &

concessions (17,738) (26,344)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERRIEBEE BB LE 9,607 11,494
Effect of temporary differences not RERERER T2

recognised 6,277 4,898
Under (over) provision in prior years BAFEREIE GBBEEE) 934 (484)
Other HAh 1,774 2,132
Tax charge for the year FABIBL H 24,947 12,545
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13.INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Note:

The tax rate of 25% (2022: 25%) represents EIT which is applicable to
most of the Group’s operations in the PRC for the Year.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has estimated
unused tax losses of approximately RMB304,166,000 (2022:
RMB265,738,000) available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. These
unrecognised tax losses will expire in various dates up to 2028
(2022: 2027).

14.DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid, declared or proposed for ordinary
shareholders of the Company during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022, nor has any dividend been proposed
since the end of the reporting year.

13.F

& M35 R M

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

B @

B ez -

TEMEBHMER%EARAIEBEEZAFER
AR 2 KEED 57 (20224F : 25% ) ©

RFEHR AEEHEARASAREER
%4 N R #304,166,0007T (20224F : AR
265,738,000 ) ] AR S5 R SR 7 o AR
ORI AR R 2B A I B L E 1B
RELERBEE - ZEAERBHEEEBR
TR BEHIE R B E20284 (20224 : 2027
F)o

1402 &

R 220234 K2022F12A31B L E
BEE R A QR SRR IR SR EZ
IKATIRE - B3RS H R AR - TRE R AT
ERELSE

-
o
(5}
{=
©
=
ic
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e MBRRME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

15.(LOSS) EARNING PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic (loss) earning per share attributable
to the owners of the Company is based on the following data:

Basic (loss) earning per share are calculated by dividing the
(loss) profit attributable to the owners of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the

15.8K (B1]8)BA
KRB AT S RER (1) BT
R T B

SRR (B5R) BT AR ARG AE
i (B 18) ERIR AR 2 R 1T B
Z T B E

Year.
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR T ARET T
(Restated)
(&=E=5)
(Loss) earning (E8|)&EF
(Loss) profit for the year attributable to RABHEABOREE (E18)
the owners of the Company and for the A RAEAFETRER (FE)
purpose of basic (loss) earning per share | (231,749) 35,655
2023 2022
2023%F 20224

RH B E

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares FB{Est ESREAR (EiE) BF 2z

for the purpose of basic (loss) earning per
share

No diluted (loss) earning per share is presented for both years

as there was no potential ordinary shares in issue.
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FEMBEER=RME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

16.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16 ¥ -BRENZE

Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold  and office  Plant, and Transportation ~ Construction
Buildings improvements  equipment  machinery Pipeline vehicles in progress Total
BE BB

BF  NERE RMOERE  HRRER EE  EWE§  ERIR ait
RVB'OOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RVBOD0  RMBOOO  RMBO00
ARBTT  ARMTR  ARRTR  ARRTR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARRTR

cost A

At1 January 2022 H0nf1A1R 1,04 11,86 40,831 92,161 846,380 64,754 36235 133871
Acquisiton of a subsidiary (note 38)  WEEHE A (Ff3538) 790 = 55 2575 164 m - 10,966
Acquisition of assets through FRNBHELDNBEAE

acquisition of a subsidiary (Rt339)

(note 39) 3 - 2 - - i 9,649 9,728
Additions AE 47585 123 5,018 9,019 30,633 2725 15,016 111,28
Transfer B - - - 3000 29,132 - (32,152) -
Disposalsfritten off HE /i (2,920) - (18,559) (2,364) (829) (9,535) (867) (35,074)
At 31 December 2022 120025128318 193823 12518 27347 104411 905,480 58,259 781 149719
Additions RE U8 3825 2,089 18827 37,929 6,636 13,147 106,681
Transfer B - - - 4364 13484 - (17.849) -
Disposalsiwritten off HE /M (148) - @) (877) (2,854 (2,174) = (6,061)
At 31 December 2023 H203%128318 317903 16,343 2948 126,725 954,039 62721 B8 1530339
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ~ ZEHFERHERE

AND IMPAIRMENT LSS
At 1 January 2022 H0nf1A1R 60,703 6,3% 16,334 33,901 260,792 44,366 - 124490
Provided for the year KERAR 1251 93 105 11,540 26,626 5,335 - 57111
Eiminated on disposalshuritien off 1% /4 #4413 (1,435) - (681) (1,294) (62) (6,402) = (9,874)
Impairment (note d) A (M) 1,949 5,183 1,752 2676 - 354 - 11,914
At 31 December 2022 1002%128318 73,789 12510 17510 16,823 289,356 13,653 - LTI <
Provided for the year KEERE 10,563 561 153 10,541 29,974 5,909 - 59080 [
Eliminated on disposalshuritten off 1% /4 #4413 (131) - () (760) (848) (1,535) = (3,281)
Impairment A 13,739 395 7 3315 45,117 785 331 63,755
At 31 December 2023 H203%128318 97,90 13,466 19,108 59919 363,59 18812 331 603,195
CARRYING VALUES RaE
At 31 December 2023 203128318 219983 287 10320 66,806 590,440 13909 22,89 927,144
At 31 December 2022 120025128318 220034 8 9,837 57,588 616,124 14,606 27,881 946,078
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FeMEBERRME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

16.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Notes:

(a)

At the year end of the 2023, the directors of the Company have
conducted impairment assessment to estimate the recoverable
amounts of the Group's property, plant and equipment assets
which are used in the Group’s segment of piped gas transmission
and distribution, in view of the unfavorable operating results
from the segment. As part of the impairment assessment of
these assets belonging to this segment, management estimated
the recoverable amount of Fuping Civigas CGU, whose main
business is provision of piped gas in Fuping County and is a
significant CGU in the piped gas transmission and distribution
segment, to be lower than its carrying amount. Based on the
results of the impairment assessment of the Fuping Civigas
CGU, the management estimated the recoverable amount of
the CGU based on its value in use for comparison with the
carrying amount of the CGU, which comprised of property, plant
and equipment of RMB82,030,000. The recoverable amount
of the CGU based on its value in use was estimated to be
RMB37,399,000 as at 31 December 2023. Thus an impairment
loss of RMB44,631,000 was recognised in the consolidated
profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2023 to write
down the carrying amounts of the items of property, plant and
equipment belonging to the CGU to their recoverable amounts.
The impairment of these assets in the year ended 31 December
2023 was due to the surge in the purchase prices of natural
gas. However, the natural gas prices charged by the CGU to
its customers could not rise at the same time and same rate as
the purchase price increases as the sales price of natural gas
is regulated by the local government. The recoverable amount
of the CGU has been determined based on the value-in-use
calculation using the following assumptions:

Period of cash flow projection

Growth rate within 5-year period in
the financial budgets approved by
the management

5 years
6.4%-7.4%

Growth rate for extrapolation of cash 1.7%
flows beyond 5-year period
Discount rate 11.5%
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16. Y% -MEKRZE =

R2023F K EREERTBESIHN
FRELEE ANRRIZEEEHETRERT
B A G AEBRZOBATAME - BE
BB AR E SR ERZD BB Z
LEEERBEFHN D EEEDAGT
EFPRESEAEM (HEEBEK AR
ETZREETERGE BEATERTEHE
DEHERESELEMA A KD SE)
BEREREE BREEFFRESELS
NHBETHER CEERBEHEFERE
EfTESESEMMA K E S5 AE
BeELENMNERE(BEDE BE
R AR #82,030,0007T ) #E1THLES o A
2023F 128318 REBEEFEREETERN
REEABMNMIKESREMGTAARE
37,399,0007T ° & It - & £2023F12 A
A EFENGAIBSTRAREEEA
R#44,631,0000 UEBREBSELE
IR BE K& EEB &R EERR
FEHAKESRE & Z=2023F12A318 1E
FE ZEEEBENTEARAARBER
I - AT AR AAREEXE BT ES
B MRS ELEENRAERTFRIMAXA
RERELHEBEERE RERIEBE -
REEABMNA R URDE S5 TR TR
RIREFEREEFEE T

RenEBAH
EHEEHRECMBERE

54
6.4%-7.4%

AFEHAZEER
AFHBZEER 1.7%
AR 35 & 11.5%
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16.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(b)

& M35 R M

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

16. 9% -HMEKRZRE =

B : (#)

At the year end of the 2023, the directors of the Company have (b)  F2023F R ERERMRRMES HBHT
conducted impairment assessment to estimate the recoverable P& RME - A AR ES D EITRER
amounts of the Group's property, plant and equipment and LAMEETAREEZ D MR E  HE XK
right-of-use assets which are used in the Group’s segment of BAREREEEN T RE SR -1EAZ
cylinder gas supply, in view of the unfavorable operating results DEEERENEN B BEEDHE
from the segment. As part of the impairment assessment of this T AE (ERBEBIRESELSN  Hx
segment, management estimated the recoverable amounts of B ARMEEERR) A KRESFEER
the below companies as individual CGUs whose main business HREE - RBREN AR BREMT
is provision of cylinder gas to be lower than their carrying REEEBMNYE  KRERZEARER
amounts. Based on the results of the impairment assessment, EEENRESES B AARET,689,000
the management estimated that impairment amounts of the TR AR¥1,640,0007T ' AEZERESE
CGUs were RMB7,689,000 for property, plant and equipment, A B A BREE MU 2 H IR EE R EER
and RMB1,640,000 for right-of-use assets in order to write AR S - ZEREEEBUNY
down the carrying amounts of these CGUs to their recoverable ( HBERRBAREAEEENRERS
amounts, which were estimated based on their value in use. The BFrERRAKREMEEXZFHR A
impairment losses of property, plant and equipment and right-of- ZERSEEBNNMSHER) - EF
use assets in these CGUs are mainly due to operate the industry ERE - ZERSEFEBMNAINEGHE
in which they are highly competitive, and these CGUs have small DEATRASU TRZEBEEREER
market share with low gross margin. The recoverable amounts HEE
of these CGUs has been determined based on the value-in-use
calculation using the following assumptions in the below table:
Funing lJiehua Yuxi Jiehua Tianjin Jixian
Zhongmin Clean Zhongmin Clean Zhongmin Gas Tianjin Zhongmin
CGU Energy Energy Sales Hengan Gas
REELEN EERLCPRBERER IEBCPREZER RRRHBTRARHE FRPREZAR
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBT T ARBT T ARBT T
Recoverable amount  AIMEI S %E 1,059 4,726 635 54,384
Impairment for mE BEREE
property, plant and RE
equipment 1,682 2,010 2,569 1,428
Impairment for ROU & BEEERE 996 - 644 -
Period of cash flow Henewls
projection 5 5 5 5
Growth rate within AEHR ERE -14.49% - -1.00% - -11.29% -
5-year period 1.00% 0% - 4.62% 23.99% 25.64%
Growth rate beyond ~ AFHEZERE
5-year period - - - -
Discount rate AR % 11.50% 11.50% 11.50% 11.50%
FRERERAA

20234 3R (EH£2023%F 12831 H L FE)
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FeMEBERRME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

16.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(@}

At the year end of the 2023, the directors of the Company have
conducted impairment assessment on the recoverable amount
of one of Chongging Xiye Industrial Co., Ltd's properties, which
was purchased with a significant legal issue of ownership.
A professional legal opinion shows that there is significant
uncertainty to obtain the ownership of the property even if
consideration was paid to the seller, because such property
was involved in many legal proceedings and the seller does
not possess the ownership. The property with an amount of
RMB 10,308,000 was fully impaired.

At the end of the 2022, the directors of the Company had
conducted impairment assessment to estimate the recoverable
amounts of the Group's property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets which were used in the Group's retail business
of merchandise through supermarkets and a convenience store,
in view of the unfavorable operating results from that business.
The management estimated the recoverable amount of each of
the supermarkets and convenience store, each representing an
individual CGU, to which the assets belonged. The recoverable
amounts of the CGUs had been determined based on value in
use calculations. The discount rate in measuring the amount of
value in use was 11%. Based on the results of the impairment
assessment, the management estimated that the supermarkets
and a convenience store would not generate significant amount
of positive net cash inflows in the future and hence the
recoverable amounts of the relevant leasehold improvements,
furniture, fixtures and office equipment, plant and machinery
and right-of-use assets belonging to these supermarkets and a
convenience store were insignificant. Accordingly, impairment
loss on these assets used in the Group's retail business of
merchandise of RMB8,901,000 and RMB11,446,000 had been
recognised on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets respectively for the year ended 31 December 2022 and
included in “other gains and losses, net”.
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16. Y% -MEKRZE =

B : (#)

(0)

R2023F R ARRIEEHEERETFEX
ERARFMBENGTEEAMAREEZRN
B YENTIRE SFEETREN G - &
¥XAEZARRE AFERAELIMRE B
BRZUMENERNTEENTHEE S
RABZYME S REZEREFL MBS
mEEERE -8 A ARK10,308,000
TH Y ¥ R EURE -

R2022F K ERERTEEB AL
BEE RKQREZEETRETRS MU
B A EEBBRBTRENEARZES
FITRRYE BERXBERERREEN
AIRESRE - ERE M S BH RERE
(BERREEMBNERRESEEEM)
MR E & E- RS ELEEMNTKE S
BOREBEEHEENEETC 2FHE
BELEEMEIE R 511% - BB RET G &
R EBEMITBTRENERRTEE
AREERESRAFHE WEBEZEEM
MazEANEZABAEEMERE R
HERBRAZTRE WE M REFEA
BEEMAIRESET ~E K EJ L &
F2022F12A31B LFE  EDRIRAE
EEnTEEFAZSEERRRER
B ARYS,901,0007C A M B E K
REARFEAREERRREBBARE
11,446,0007T * WET A [ EAtb ik s & B 18 F
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FeMEHREME

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

16.¥9% -BENE

16.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT S =

(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment other than i BERREEE (EEIRERIN)

construction in progress are depreciated on a straight-line basis TIABEBRER THIFEFE:

at the following rates per annum:

Buildings Over the shorter of 40 years or BgF A0F Sk FIRTE EF 1
the remaining terms of leases (ABREEBE)

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of 5 years or the HEMEEE 54 ok Tl 4 10 & 4 5
remaining terms of the leases (AR ERE)

Furniture, fixtures and office  20% R~ 2 20%

equipment o "*‘“1%

Plant, and machinery 2.5% — 10% J?ﬁf%&i‘%\éﬁ% 2.5% — 10%

Pipeline 4% BB 4%

Transportation vehicles 12.5% - 20% @ﬁﬁéﬁiﬁ 12.5% - 20%

The buildings are situated in the PRC, and are for own use and BFEMRFE BEEEER BRIRE

situated on land held under medium-term lease. REAME AP 3 | o

The Group has pledged certain property, plant and equipment
with carrying value of approximately RMB151,819,000 (2022:
RMB64,475,000), comprising buildings of approximately
RMB24,937,000 (2022: RMB25,015,000) and plant, machinery
and pipeline of approximately RMB126,882,000 (2022:
RMB39,460,000) to secure certain bank borrowings granted to
the Group as disclosed in note 45 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

AEE B HFRMEM AL ARE151,819,000
7T (20224 : AR #64,475,0000T) (212
F AR #24,937,0007T (20224 : A R
25,015,00070) X5 S FIEBHOAR
#126,882,0007T (20224F12 A31H : AR
39,460,0007T ) Z & THI% - BB Kk LAE
AETAEBETRIEEZER (BEER
KEF RIS P ISR K M 5E45) ©

17 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17T EREEE
Leasehold Transportation
lands Properties Equipment vehicles Total
HELH nE B EREH &5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  AREBTT  ARBTT  ARETT  ARETT %%

v

At 1 January 2022 202261R18 84,088 20,869 - 439 105,396 §

Acquisition of assets through acquisition & BKEMHBRFREEE =
of a subsidiary (note 39) (Hi#E39) 6,125 = = = 6,125
Additions NE = 1,421 - - 1,421
Depreciation ik (1,936) (4,603) - (81) (6,620)
Impairment loss (note 16(d)) FEEE (Hz6(d) = (11,446) = = (11,446)
Disposal hE - (333) - = (333)
Derecognition RICHERR - (911) = - (911)
At 31 December 2022 120226124318 88,277 4,997 - 358 93,632
Additions NE 2,589 549 8,768 - 11,906
Depreciation Vil (2,767) (1,696) (756) (81) (5,300)
Impairment loss (note 16(b)) REEE (M3T16(b)) (644) (996) - - (1,640)
Derecognition RIEHER - (29) = = (296)
At 31 December 2023 12023124318 87,455 2,558 8,012 277 98,302
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31 December 2023 2023%12H318

Gl

17.RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued) 17 FEFRAEEE o
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARET T
Expenses relating to short-term leases B EEEMRE 3,150 2,463
Total cash outflow for leases HEIR & mL Bz 5,910 4,637

The Group leases various offices, warehouses, gas supply
pipelines and related equipment and facilities and transportation
vehicles for its operations. Lease contracts were entered into for
fixed terms of 1 year to 15 years. Lease terms are negotiated on
an individual basis and contained a wide range of different terms
and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for which the
contract is enforceable.

Leasehold lands are upfront payments for leasehold lands under
medium-term leases in the PRC for own use properties.

The Group entered into several short-term leases for various
offices, warehouses, equipment and transportation vehicles. As
at 31 December 2023, the total outstanding lease commitments
were approximately RMB243,000 (2022: RMB227,000).

At the year end of the 2023, the directors of the Company have
conducted impairment assessment on the recoverable amounts
of the Group’s right-of-use assets and an impairment loss of
RMB1,640,000 was recognised in the year ended 31 December
2023 as disclosed in note 16(b) to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

The Group has pledged certain right-of-use assets with carrying
value of approximately RMB1,198,000 (2022: RMB2,623,000)
to secure certain bank borrowings granted to the Group as
disclosed in note 45 to the consolidated financial statements of
this annual report.

152 Chinese People Holdings Company Limited
2023 Annual Report (For the Year Ended 31 December 2023)

AEEHESERAT AE -RRMEEE
BERAESERSEREGBEANEE - B
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SR Tl 07T O HARS o

HELHRA/EE T MATARNK  HRHh
MR BEETEEAYE-

AEERSERAE BE REREHBE
IV A TREAE-72023F128318
REBHEAERTE AL ARE243,0007TC
(20224 : AR™227,0007T) °

202345 7K - AN A 7] B 3 A &£ B {8 4
BEMRESBHETRE]N G TREZE
2023F 12 A3 B L FERRBREEBEAR
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17.

18.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RlG HT‘OF'USE ASSETS (Continued)

In addition, lease liabilities of approximately RMB19,892,000
(2022: RMB15,296,000) are recognised with related right-of-
use assets of RMB10,847,000 (2022: RMB5,355,000) as at
31 December 2023. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets
that are held by the lessor and the relevant leased assets may not
be used as security for borrowing purposes as disclosed in note
45 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

& M35 R M

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

17 FEFRAEEE @«

B o 20235128318 - ERABEERRE
#) N FR#19,892,0005T (2022F : AR ¥
15,296,00070) R AEAF HIEEE AR
10,847,0007T (20224 : AR #5,355,000
TL) cBRHEAARFBENHEEEERERE
moN HEME T HEINEA EMRE T E
EHEBEEEEARAVTAEBENER (XA
FRMTE VB RERMTAHEE)

18. I E W

RMB'000
ARBTT

FAIR VALUE nRE
At 1 January 2022 R2022F1 A1H 10,720
Fair value change recognised in profit or loss RIBEERZ AR EEE (2,080)
Disposal s (4,100)
At 31 December 2022 720229 12H31H 4,540
Fair value change recognised in profit or loss RIBEERZ AR EEE (480)
Disposal & (290)
At 31 December 2023 72023F12H31H 3,770

The above investment properties are situated in the PRC, and
are held under medium-term leases.

The investment properties are under Level 3 fair value
measurement. At the end of each reporting period, the senior
management works closely with the independent qualified
professional valuer to establish and determine the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs. Discussion of valuation
process and results are held between senior management and
the directors of the Company at least twice a year.

In estimating the fair values of the properties, the highest and
best use of the properties is their current use.

EREEMRMRPE - RRIFHAEOF
ﬁ o

REMERE=FRHNAAEFE -REHE
HIR SREEERBYAEREXMEM
BUAE UEZYRETESENEERM R
AR -SREEBEANREREFE
PR wmAREERF RER-

B

-
o
(5}
{=
©
=
ic

WIEETMEZ AR ER  ZEYENRRK
REAESERERE -

PRERBRAE

i E2023F 12831 B LLFE) e

20234 3R (



The fair values of the Group's investment properties at 31
December 2023 and 31 December 2022 have been arrived
based on a valuation carried out on the respective dates by
P&W Surveyors Limited, an independent valuer who holds
recognised and relevant professional qualification and has
recent experience in the valuation of similar properties in the
relevant locations and category.

The fair values of the Group's investment properties at 31
December 2023 and 31 December 2022 were determined
based on the income capitalisation approach by capitalising
the market rentals of all lettable units of the properties by
reference to the rentals achieved in the lettable units as well as
other lettings of similar properties in the neighbourhood. The
capitalisation rate adopted is made by reference to the yield
rates observed by the valuer for the similar properties in similar
locality and adjusted based on the valuer’s knowledge of the
factors specific to the respective properties. In the absence
of observable market transactions for comparable properties,
income approach is adopted.

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are
measured using the fair value model and are classified and
accounted for as investment properties.

The Group leases out the investment properties as retail stores
under leasehold interests with rentals payable monthly. The
leases typically run for an initial period of 1 to 5 years.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result
of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in
the respective functional currencies of group entities. The lease
contracts do not contain any residual value guarantees or
lessee’s options to purchase the property.

72023F 128318 K%20229F12A831H &
SEREMEZ AR BTIREE L (GER
P&W Surveyors Limited7E A8 @ B Bl 17 2 (&
ESL HEEHEBEEEERKNOHEHE
B2 2 S 2 R ARV T E 2 K5 -

M2023%F12A318 K2022%12A318 ' K&
EEREMENLAABESERBAER
fbEx BOERMEUTLAEMHESE
b 2EMGAAEN HAEN KATEE
B HABM M T E MBI E - E R E
REEMIE E L RS ALY ETE R
B WRERGEME S EADESERERA
HITABRRERGH IR - HEMESED
ERTEARNTHRETHE -ELRETLER
REIMAIERMISER ZHIERT - AWA
P

AEEMBAFAARRESKAKIEER
RERGZDEERETARABEAE
YD ERREMEAR -

AEERBHERRHEARENERTE
E-HEAGARN HE-RVTSH—
ERF-

HRAAHENGEEER 2 HENEEE
FHE - A B &R E % 5 SN
B o MEA L N EIEEMEREERE X
AHABERBAYE EEE-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FeMEHREME

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

18.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Details of the Group’s investment properties and information
about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2023 and 31

18. 1R EY % )
AREEMN2023FE12 8310 K£2022412 A31
Bz REYEFEBRAABEER 2 EHEH

December 2022, are as follows: FgAE
Fair value Relationship of unobservable
Commercial properties in the PRC  hierarchy Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
REEZEENE MERER fHERE EXFTRERANE TUBEBAEREAAEZHR

31 December 31 December

2023 2022
WBE2A31R 202F12A318
RMB3,770,000 RMB4,540,000  Level 3 Income capitalisation approach Capitalisation rate, taking into account the The higher the capitalisation

AR¥3770000T  ARM45400000 =4 capitalisation of the net income potential, nature  rate, the lower the fair value.
of the property, prevailing market condition, of

3.5% (2022: 3.5%)

The key inputs are:
(1) Capitalisation rate
(2)  Market rent per square meter

The higher the market rent, the
higher the fair value.
Market rent, taking into account direct market

WARAILE comparables within the properties ranging from ARt Eam DA EAEE-
FEEAHES: RMB10 to RMB37.50 (2022: RMB13 to RMB38) HERLHE AL ERES

per square meter per month.

EALE G RFRARD MREER

(1) EAfi%
0 sEIKDAEE

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the Year.

BTmRA AR5 %3.5% (20225 :35%)
¢ I RESDERZ ERTRALBYE)
FAGTAXAERI0TEARS3750T

(2022 : ARE13TE3STL)

AEEHEEALEHE=RH-

19.GOODWILL 19.75 2
RMB'000 |2
o — ._§
AR®ET T é
c
COST R < =
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 202291818 2022F12A31H K
and 31 December 2023 2023512 A31H 42,202
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT LOSS ZFREER
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 R2022F1H1H 20229F12A318 &
and 31 December 2023 202312 A31H 42,202

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2023

At 31 December 2022

BRHEE
72023F12A31H

202212 A31H
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Construction

permission
BER# X
RMB'000
ARETT
CcosT BRA
At 1 January 2022, R20221H18
and 31 December 2022 %2022%12A318 187,314
Derecognised upon expiry FA i 7k B 4% L TR 3R (187,314)
At 31 December 2023 M2023% 124318 _
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION Rit##RFHERFSE
AND IMPAIRMENT LOSS
At 1 January 2022 12022118 187,314
Charge for the year FAXH =
At 31 December 2022 M2022%12A31H 187,314
Charge for the year FAXH -
Derecognised upon expiry RE R R IERR (187,314)
At 31 December 2023 2023124311 -
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2023 ®2023F 124318 -
At 31 December 2022 MR2022%12A318 =

Construction permission and exclusive rights of purchase
have expired and could not be prolonged. The water drawing
permit has been withdrawn by local government due to
concern of strengthening groundwater management to prevent
overexploitation and pollution of groundwater.

The exclusive rights of purchase related to the exclusive right
of purchasing natural gas acquired separately, while the
construction permission, water drawing permit and exclusive
rights of operation of piped gas were acquired from third parties
in business combinations. The above intangible assets had finite
useful live. The intangible assets were amortised on a straight-
line basis over the following periods:

Exclusive rights of operation of 30 years
piped gas

Exclusive rights of operation of piped gas represent the rights to
operate gas pipeline infrastructure and piped gas transmission
and distribution businesses granted by local government in
various cities in the PRC.

Water
drawing
permit

BUKEF T 3%
RMB'000
AREFTT

162,633
(162,633)

162,633

162,633

(162,633)

Exclusive
rights
purchase
BX
RERER
RMB'000
ARBTT

10,000

(10,000)

10,000

10,000

(10,000)

Exclusive
rights of
operation of
piped gas
BREE
MRACERER
RMB'000
ARBTT

37,061

37,061

16,247
1,230

17,477
1,229

18,706

18,355

19,584

Total

£t
RMB'000
ARETT

397,008
(359,947)

37,061

376,194
1,230

377,424
1,229
(359,947)

18,706

18,355

19,584

BRESNLBFERREERLEIER-
BRIE O IR TKE R IAR I3 KB E

GRS S

BT B HEUKE A R

BRERBEENEEBUE CRBAARNE
SR X - KA E R BRE
BRREEENDINEBEHTEE =7

RIEF
Wig- EEBIEEREEAERFDR-

%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FeMEHREME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

21.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 21T REBERNR 2R
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETTT

Carrying amounts at initial recognition BHRERR 2 RHEE 91,129 91,129
Share of post-acquisition profits and other  J&1f Uz B8 1% i ) & H ftb 2 Yz - 30
comprehensive income, net of dividends B E IR B
received 82,923 61,574
174,052 152,703
The Group had interests in the following associates: REERTHEE AR AR
Place of Proportion of nominal
Form of business establishment value of registered
Name of company structure and operation capital held by the Group  Principal activities
BIUREE rEEREZ
NRER ES 2T i Pt at i A fE B TEEH
2023 2022
2023F 20226
Southwest Panva Gas Co. Ltd.*  Limited liability PRC 49.90% 49.90% Cylinder gas supply
("Southwest Panva") company
BIfmRAERAR AREEAT R BEMAMIE
(BIAEmM])
Yunnan Panva Gas Co. Ltd.* Limited liability PRC 20.12% 20.12% Cylinder gas supply
("Yunnan Panva")* company
EMBINAERAR AREEARA R BEMAMIE
(TZRET)) 1
g
# Yunnan Panva is a subsidiary of Southwest Panva with 56.94% 9 ETEAIABIAMZIMBAR  BIA -.:.5
of its registered capital being held directly by Southwest Panva. A H56.94% & A -

*  For identification purpose only
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e MEBRME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

271.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Summarised financial information of associates

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
material associates is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts prepared in accordance
with HKFRSs. All of these associates are accounted for using
the equity method in the Group’s consolidated financial

statements.

Southwest Panva Group (including Yunnan Panva as its

21 REENT 2B )

BEQNT 2MBERBRE

ERAAEEEABERRZHBENGLE
T - T BERR BRI R &5
EREEBBHREEANRE - BEZFH
ERAEARDETARNKRE 2 HRAYH
e

BIIFREE (BREFETIERAENEA

subsidiary) al)
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET ARETF T
Current assets mENEE 227,535 212,528
Non-current assets ERBEE 218,772 207,381
Current liabilities mEaE (82,890) (92,569)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (12,650) (19,564)
Net assets BEESFE 350,767 307,776
Equity attributable to owners of BITEEA ARGER
Southwest Panva 283,425 244,354
Non-controlling interests JEE M = 67,342 63,422
350,767 307,776
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31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

21.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 21 REE RN R 2 E® @)

Summarised financial information of associates BENTZHEERME (B)
(Continued)
Southwest Panva Group (including Yunnan Panva as its BIEEE (BEEMELIERENEA
subsidiary) (Continued) al) (#)
2023 2022
202345 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETT

Revenue A 1,619,238 1,675,560

Profit and total comprehensive income for T I| & {5 7K 4F & 3% FI| &2

the year attributable to: ZEHWRERE:
Owners of Southwest Panva BIAE#EES A 39,071 24,917
Non-controlling interests JEVE AR 2 3,920 7,108
42,991 32,025
Dividend received from the associate AN B U A R RR B
during the year - -
Reconciliation of the above summarised consolidated financial LR EHBERBERREGE BB HRE
information to the carrying amount of the interest in Southwest PR B LM ER REE SR
Panva recognised in the consolidated financial statements:
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000 o
AR%TR ARETE BE
£
(T8
Equity attributable to owners of Southwest & T PHm E@B#H A AE(HHES
Panva Group 283,425 244,354
Group's share of equity of Southwest Panva 7N B &L 249.90%
at 49.90% (including 28.41% Group's S (BRASERER
indirect effective interest in Yunnan Panva) E128.41% v EEER#EZ) 141,430 121,935

Carrying amount of the Group's interest in  AREB R A LAmEER 2
Southwest Panva Group w2 REE 141,430 121,935
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e MEBRME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

21 |NTERESTS |N ASSOC'ATES (Continued)

Direct ownership interest in Yunnan Panva

21 R E RN R 2 == (o)

REBBIZEEfMEEER

Yunnan Panva E/EAT
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®ET T AREF T
Current assets mENEE 88,313 81,459
Non-current assets ERBEE 113,450 116,017
Current liabilities mEBAaE (28,868) (28,003)
Non-current liabilities JEREEE (10,764) (16,554)
Net assets AEFAE 162,131 152,919
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARETT AREF T
Revenue WA 579,923 655,344

Profit and total comprehensive income for 74 & i Fl| &2 & 8 W &5 44 28

the year 9,212 14,066

Dividend received from the associate during ZN4F & B g Bt & A &l i &2

the year
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271.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Direct ownership interest in Yunnan Panva (Continued)
Yunnan Panva (Continued)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to

the carrying amount of the interest in Yunnan Panva recognised
in the consolidated financial statements:

ReMBERRNE

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

2\ RBERT 2w
REWE T2 BRAARER (4)
ER T ()

AP BHERRE RS MR R
REFA IR REEZEK:

2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARKETF T
Equity attributable to owners of RABIHEE AELER
Yunnan Panva 162,131 152,919
Group's share of equity based on its direct ANEBEEZEMETI 2 EEHEE
ownership interest in Yunnan Panva at et 8 2 (A /R220.12%
20.12% 32,622 30,768
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in AL BN EM L 2 #am 2 REE
Yunnan Panva 32,622 30,768

22.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

NREELE R

2023 2022

20235 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FT T AREFT

Cost of unlisted investments (note) JEETRE KA (FHiE) 303,929 303,929
Share of post-acquisition profits and other — E1f 4 B8 12 & F1) & E b 2 ) Ue 25 - b
comprehensive income, net of dividends kR B Wk B §§

received 800,525 1,043,178 -
1,104,454 1,347,107

The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in
these consolidated financial statements.

Note: The cost of investments includes goodwill of RMB76,846,000
(2022: RMB76,846,000).

BECERAES LT AZERE U R

%0

MisE: EKABEREE ARKT6,846,0007T
(20224 : AR ¥76,846,0007T) °
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31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

22.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES DMRNEELHE 2T -

(Continued)

Details of the Group's joint ventures are as follows: REEEEREFBHET:
Form of Place of Proportion of nominal
business establishment value of registered
Name of company structure and operation capital held by the Group  Principal activities
rEEREZ
NEER EBERER R RS et A T L TEEK
2023 2022
20235 20226
Fujian Province An Ran Gas Limited liability PRC 51% 51% Investment holding in subsidiaries
Investment Co., Ltd.* company which are engaged in
(“Fujian An Ran") (note) distribution and supply of

piped gas and installation of
gas distribution facilities

BRALZAMAREFBR AR BREFAA HE REEDHREEMABEAR
([BEZAL) (M) CRMREERELHBELR
ETRARER

Note: The relevant activities that significantly affect the returns of Mz HREELARBMEEAZE ZHEBEES

Fujian An Ran require unanimous consent from the Group FERERETARTI0%R AN ER 2

and the other joint venture partner holding the remaining EfeErERHF 2 —BRAZ 1IN B

49% equity interest in Fujian An Ran. In addition, the joint REAREL T EEHER—FH EHERE

arrangements do not result in either parties having rights to CACEERARIKHHEAGBHES

assets and obligations to liabilities of Fujian An Ran, hence the - AAEEEBEERAIEREE
Group has accounted for Fujian An Ran as joint venture. EARRe

*  For identification purpose only
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22.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 22.

(Continued)

Summarised financial information of joint ventures

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
joint ventures is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts prepared in accordance
with HKFRSs. The joint ventures are accounted for using
the equity method in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

Fujian An Ran and its subsidiaries (collectively “Fujian An Ran

ReMBERRNE

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H
A N\ S, HE > L
REELE 2D @

RELEZUMBERNBE
ERAAEESECEZGAMBENGE
T - THIMBERBR BRI R &5
EREFBVBHREENRE - S ELER
REREAFARNEB 2 G B ]ME -

WELXAREN B AR (%R [1EELA

Group”) £8])
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®T T
Current assets mENEE 813,662 994,974
Non-current assets ERBEE 2,889,657 3,610,935
Current liabilities mEaE (1,184,618) (1,360,662)
Non-current liabilities ERHAE (420,710) (501,606)
Net assets EEFE 2,097,991 2,743,641
Equity attributable to owners of REZAEEHEE ARG
Fujian An Ran Group s 1,998,372 2,472,658
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR 2= 99,619 270,983
2,097,991 2,743,641

B

=
o
o
c
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=
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FEMBERRMEE
31 December 2023 2023%12H31H
A S sz N == N\ /2
22.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES D REELEER
(Continued)
Summarised financial information of joint ventures EELECHMBEENBE (&)
(Continued)
Fujian An Ran and its subsidiaries (collectively “Fujian An Ran BELARENE Ar] (A [1EELA
Group”) (Continued) FEH]) (&)
The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the il BEERGESCEBETIEE:
following:
2023 2022
202345 20224
RMB’'000 RMB’'000

ARBTR ARETTT

Cash and cash equivalents

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Trade receivables

Current financial liabilities
(excluding trade and other payables)

Non-current financial liabilities
(excluding other payables)

164 Chinese People Holdings Company Limited

He MEEEMEEE 569,267 449,498
Y% BEMEE 2,630,992 3,329,105
FHEEE 16,541 18,953
B 5 rWIE 46,676 69,751
BEfiemaE

(T"BREESREMERNRIE) (203,762) (210,388)
JFENEE R A (E

(T"BEEMEMNZKE) (312,979) (418,685)
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31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

ASE AL D s S
22 .INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 2 NEEBELEZER =
(Continued)
Summarised financial information of joint ventures EELECHMBEENBE (&)
(Continued)
Fujian An Ran and its subsidiaries (collectively “Fujian An Ran EEZARANB RG] (#EE [EEZA
Group”) (Continued) £E]) (&)
2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T ARETT

Revenue WA 2,432,062 2,885,241
Depreciation and amortisation I & 130,637 109,456
Interest income F B U A 4,634 5,545
Impairment loss on non-current assets EMBEEZRIEEE 783,658 -
Interest expense AMEFAXZ 10,380 8,279
Income tax expense Frig i X 65,604 46,919

(Loss) profit and total comprehensive income 71l fE(E AREE (F48) % F &

for the year attributable to: S HEH IR BE
Owners of Fujian An Ran Group BELTAEEHE A (474,286) 9,660
Non-controlling interests JEVE IR R = (80,920) 13,005 % -
.§ 8
(555,206) 22,755 =
(T8
Group's share of results of the joint venture A%EEEEEELEXEE (241,886) 4,927
Less: other expenses R B (767) (768)
Share of result of joint venture DEEELFEEER (242,653) 4,159

FREBRBRAT 165
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FEeMBEERERME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

A Az o == N\ 7 -

22.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES N REELEER W

(Continued)

Summarised financial information of joint ventures CECECHMBERBE (&)

(Continued)

Fujian An Ran and its subsidiaries (collectively “Fujian An Ran WEETARENB AR (%#BAEEEXA

Group”) (Continued) £E]) (&)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information L E R E KRR G B )RR R

to the carrying amount of the interest in Fujian An Ran Group REETAEEER CREE 2 HER:

recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETTT

Equity attributable to owners of BETASEHEE ALz ER

Fujian An Ran Group 1,998,372 2,472,658
Proportion of the Group's ownership AEERBRELAEERER 2

interest in Fujian An Ran Group at 51% 51 % #E #= b 1,019,170 1,261,056
Goodwill Bk 76,846 76,846
Others EAh 8,438 9,205

Carrying amount of the Group's interest in  ANEBREELZAEEZ
Fujian An Ran Group 2 BREE 1,104,454 1,347,107
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EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FVTOCI

& M35 R M

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

23 AREBETAEMERE

Wz Em TR

RMB'000
AR¥ETTT
At 1 January 2022 7202251 H18 104,119
Addltlon 7\/J\\E 1 50
Fair value change recognised in OClI BREAMEIPERENAALEEE D 23,275
At 31 December 2022 7202212 A31H 127,544
Addition = 190
Disposal & (106)
Fair value change recognised in OCl BREHMEZERGANAAEBEEY (19,895)
At 31 December 2023 72023%12H31H 107,733
Note: BT

The above investments represent equity interests in certain private
entities established in the PRC. These entities are mainly engaged
in the manufacturing and sale of glass products, banking, sale and
distribution of cylinder gas and gas appliances, sale and distribution
of cookware and food ingredients supply and FMCG business. These
investments are not held for trading, instead, they are held for long-
term strategic purposes. The directors have elected to designate these
investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI as they believe that
these investments are not held for trading and not expected to be
sold in the foreseeable future. Details of the investments are disclosed
in note 36(c) to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

LONG-TERM DEPOSITS

i EENPERT 25 TRABR 2 Ik
ZERRTBNEENHERBER RITE
BHERSHERMARMRFZEL HERD
HEFERANRRMHRMES RS - %5 RE
WHFERS MFERMBREEN ERDE
EiE D TARMZEREREREARBERA
Hth2mls RERMMRRZFREL IR
B 5 BRAEAEEHRRIGHE -KRE
BB A F AR A PSR M E36(c) °

2 RHiR <

2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT
Deposits paid for acquisition of property,  WEWE BHE LRER
plant and equipment and right-of-use EREEEZEMNERS
assets 18,435 22,352
FRERERAA

2023F R (FE2023F12A31B L FE)
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REMBERERME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

“qE
25.INVENTORIES 2578
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBTT AREEF T
Materials and consumables YL K8 FE 15,698 19,215
Gas appliances e A 2,076 5,395
Merchandises & 15,080 7,045
Gas R 14,179 17,270
47,033 48,925
f=v) f==5) =X
26.TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER 26. 8 5 ~ ZiE K HAE WK
~ =+
RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS IH LA R FETRIE
2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBTT AREF T
Trade receivables B 5 e 5 E 60,978 73,120
Bills receivables ZE W IR 6,677 6,965
67,655 80,085
Less: Allowance for credit losses W EEEEEE (10,759) (13,548)
Total trade and bills receivables (net of ECL) 2 5 MZ=1% fe Yt sk 4858
(MBRTEEEEEE) 56,896 66,537
Deposits paid for purchases of natural BERAR  EEMR:
gas; cylinder gas; merchandises and A RkIEMEE RS
construction materials 83,670 101,946
Rental and utilities deposits and prepayments % & A B E ¥ iEZ ¢ kAN RIE 7,914 4,058
Other tax recoverable E {th ] Uk [0 7 18 11,171 13,720
Amounts due from non-controlling interests & U JE 122 % 4 25 718 17,075 25,385
Other receivables and deposits Bl sE Rige 43,084 65,343
Total other receivables and prepayments F b jE YR IE R FE S RRIB B R 162,914 210,452
Less: Allowance for credit losses W EEEEEE (24,214) (23,834)
Total other receivables and prepayments b JEBGRIE R TE S BB
(net of ECL) (B FEEEEEE) 138,700 186,618
195,596 253,155
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26.TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER

RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

(Continued)

Trade receivables

The Group has a policy of allowing a credit period ranging
from 0 to 180 days to its customers. Longer credit period
is also allowed on a case by case basis. The following is
an aged analysis of trade and bills receivables, net of ECL,
presented based on the invoice date, which approximated the
revenue recognition date for sales of gas and the respective
construction contracts completion dates, as appropriate:

& M35 R M

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

26. B 5 » ZiE R E AR

EU R FENFRIE )

B 5 BB RIA

AEEZBRBHETHEETFP N FO0E180R
ZEEH -RIERER  AEEAHE TR
ENEER -REZAH (BEEMREA
W A B KRR TS Rk B8 (i
R HRE)FEE S REREWKFIR (FRTE
HIEEER) MREITOT

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥T T AR¥ET T

0 to 90 days 0%290H 40,920 48,099
91 to 180 days 912 180H 3,119 5,750
Over 180 days 180H A £ 6,180 5,723
Trade receivables B 5 e A 50,219 59,572
0 to 90 days 0%290H 3,680 2,766
91 to 180 days 912180H 2,997 2,199
Over 180 days 180H M - 2,000
Bills receivables eI FIE 6,677 6,965

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount
of approximately RMB6,180,000 (2022: RMB5,723,000) which
are past due as at the reporting date. These past due balances
have been past due 90 days or more and are not considered as
in default based on the Group’s assessment of historical credit
loss experience of the existing debtors and available forward-
looking information, including but not limited to the expected
economic conditions in the PRC and expected subsequent
settlements. The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.

72023F 12 318 A& B ) FEURER &
FEIEREEREAEN ARKE,180,0007T
(20224 : AR #5,723,0007T ) H fE Uk BF
FoEERWERNRFEAE I - RER
EEHEEEBEARTESHEEER (8
FE1B 7 BR A R B T8 HA 4B AR R A R FE BB 1%
BREA)NTE ZEEaAH D EHE0
Kk B REE B THRIEELG - REEIW
ER RS AR EEMERR -

PRERBRAE

2023F R (FE2023F12A31B L FE)
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FeMEBERRME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

26.TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER 26.B5 - EE R HMEWFR

RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

(Continued)

Other receivables and prepayments

As at 31 December 2023, included in other receivables and
prepayments, there are deposits and advance payments to suppliers
of approximately RMB83,670,000 (2022: RMB101,946,000)
in relation to the purchase of natural gas; cylinder gas and
merchandises, which will be delivered within one year from the end
of the reporting period.

As at 31 December 2023, included in other receivables and
prepayments, are amounts due from non-controlling interests
of subsidiaries of approximately RMB2,210,000 (2022:
RMB9,285,000) in relation to the sales of natural gas, cylinder
gas and merchandise. Out of the balances, approximately RMB
nil (2022: RMB nil) have been past due 90 days or more.

As at 31 December 2023, included in other receivables and
prepayments, are amounts due from non-controlling interests
of subsidiaries of RMB14,865,000 (2022: RMB16,100,000)
which are of non-trade nature, unsecured, non-interesting
bearing and repayable on demand.

The other receivables and deposits mainly include deposits of
bid submission, gas supply and pipe installations, staff cash
advance and receivable for compensation from government.

Details of the impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables are set out in note 36(b) to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.
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M2023F 124318 - Hfth Uk k1B X T8 1
HIEREEBHEERAR BERILE R
KT AR RS C REHNAR
#2,210,0007T (20224 : A R#9,285,000
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27.CONTRACT ASSETS/LIABILITIES

& M35 R M

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

TERNEE/BfE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREF T
Contract assets — current EHNEE-HH
Construction contracts in gas pipeline MRBEEERIERED
construction 34,072 27,307
Contract liabilities - current EHNEaE-H
Sales of piped gas BEEMRHEE 182,683 164,474
Cylinder gas supply T H AR AL 3,624 10,362
Gas distribution RS 5 88 2,810 15,438
Wholesales and retail of merchandise HELREERL 127 -
Piped gas connection construction contracts EiEMEIEREELS Y 42,659 29,358
231,903 219,632

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s right to
consideration for work completed because the rights are
conditioned on the Group’s future performance in achieving
specified milestones at the reporting date on contract work.
The contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when
the rights become unconditional.

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract
assets and contract liabilities recognised are as follows:

Construction contracts in respect of gas pipeline construction

The Group's revenue from construction contracts is measured
by input method. The Group requires certain customers to
provide upfront deposits before the commencement of the
construction work as part of its credit risk management
policies.

The Group classifies these contract assets as current because
the Group expects to realise them in its normal operating cycle
and in the next 12 months.

When the Group receives a deposit before the construction
activity commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities at
the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised on the
relevant contract exceeds the amount of the deposit.

BREETZRASERE K T
FEREBRRNAR  FHAZSRNBURR A
SERANIEREAPEREETRREMR
ZARKE - ERARBEGITE  GOE
EBREEHRITRN -

IERRBNANEERANAGSHEAY
oA FIGRDT -

MRREEERZEREN

REBNRESHRARRAETE R
RIIEFAMKA  AEBEERETEPRRHE
NREESEEERREEBRRZ —#0 -

AEERBZEANEENBRARDEE
RASERHRSHELETELEBH I RKI2
BEANERZEEE-

EASEETRAMKEIZESR  EHESR
HFRREELENAE EEABEANER
ZRABBIERE SR -

PRERBRAE

2023F R (FE2023F12A31B L FE)

-
o
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FeMEBERRME

31 December 2023 2023%12H318

27.CONTRACT ASSETS/LIABILITIES

(Continued)

Sales and distribution of piped gas; cylinder gas; gas
destitution and merchandise

The Group would require advance payment before the usage
of the natural gas for certain customers, any shortage against
the periodically actual charge for the actual usage of natural
gas will be billed by the Group accordingly. These customers
are required to top up the advance payment for future usage
of natural gas to be supplied by the Group. The Group also
requires advance payment before the usage of the natural
gas through the prepaid card for certain household users. The
charge of the actual usage of natural gas will be deducted
directly to the balance of the prepaid card. These customers can
only consume the natural gas up to the balance of the prepaid
card. This will give rise to contract liabilities until the revenue
recognised on the relevant contract exceeds the amount of
advance payment.

The Group sells cylinder gas to its customers. Payments received
in advance that are related to the sales of cylinder gas not yet
delivered to customers are deferred and recognised as contract
liabilities. Revenue are recognised when cylinder gas are
delivered to customers.

The Group sells LNG/CNG to its customers. Payments received
in advance that are related to the sales of gas not yet delivered
to customers are deferred and recognised as contract liabilities.
Revenue are recognised when gas is delivered to customers.

The Group also sells merchandise to wholesalers. Payments
received in advance that are related to the sales of
merchandises not yet delivered to customers are deferred and
recognised as contract liabilities. Revenue is recognised when
goods are delivered to customers.

The following table shows how much of the revenue
recognised in the current period relates to carried forward
contract liabilities and how much relates to performance
obligations that were satisfied in prior periods.
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fRe MR T EE

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

27.CONTRACT ASSETS/LIABILITIES

(Continued)

Elnljffé/g'fﬁ(ﬁ“

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B E2023F12A31HLFE
Piped gas
connection Wholesales
Sales of  construction Cylinder Gas  and retail of
piped gas contracts gassupply  distribution  merchandise
BEMR EERRER £33 HER
HE BEAN 33 RE D 8 2EBMm
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR¥BTR AR®TR AR®TRT AR¥TR
Revenue recognised that was BEHEFNANERE
included in the contract HHREERBERA
liability balance at the
beginning of the year 164,474 21,095 10,362 15,438 -
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BHE2022F12A31B EFE
Piped gas
connection Wholesales
Sales of  construction Cylinder Gas and retail of
piped gas contracts gas supply distribution merchandise
BEMR EERRER BEMR HER
HE £ K fHE MR TEBm
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTLT ARETE ARBTR ARETE ARBTR
Revenue recognised that was @B EFNAENAE
included in the contract REAEHRRRA
liability balance at the
beginning of the year 179,256 33,201 6,438 8,039 2,400
Included in the contract liability balance at the beginning of the RENHEHNEEEHRT HDARK

year, approximately RMB8,263,000 (2022: RMB9,119,000) was
not recognised as revenue during the Year mainly due to the

delay in the construction work.

8,263,0007T (20224 : AR %9,119,000
TLIRBERFELRERBBA E2H

RIEETIREEE -
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e MBRRME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

28.FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

28 BN BT AB@mZE
A& =

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET AREF T
Financial assets measured at FVTPL BARBEFFABR SREE
Unlisted wealth management products SE FTIEEE M 16,595 -
Analysed for reporting purpose as Current 5t 2Rk B B9 47 &R 836 1H
portion 16,595 -
Net unrealised gain (loss) included in other &F AE e zs & EE R
gains and losses, net ARER WS (BE)F8 95 3)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group entered
into several contracts to acquire unlisted wealth management
products with various PRC financial institutions. The returns
of those wealth management products were determined by
reference to the performance of the underlying investments
and their expected return rates range from 1.15% to 2.04%
per annum.

In the opinion of the management of the Group, the fair values
of the unlisted wealth management products at 31 December
2023 approximated their principal amounts as they have short
maturities ranging from 0 to 15 days. All wealth management
products will mature within twelve months of 31 December
2023.
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29.BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND

CASH EQUIVALENTS

Interest rate

& M35 R M

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

29 BITERURBEERE

T FEHIEH

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

Al 2= ARETF T ARET T
Cash at bank and on hand 0.25% to 1.05% (2022: 0.25% to 1.70% per 393,033 555,115
RITEFHERE annum)

0.25%%1.05% (20224 : £ H=0.25% %

1.70% )

Bank deposits, matured over 3 2.00% to 3.1%
months
=EA R LR Z RITFR 2.00%%3.1%

As at 31 December 2023, the bank deposits and cash and cash
equivalents of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to
RMB601,922,000 (2022: RMB543,579,000).

RMB is not freely convertible into foreign currencies in the PRC.
Under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement and Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for foreign currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Included in bank deposits and cash cand cash equivalents, the
following amounts are denominated in currencies other than
RMB:

211,468 —

604,501 555,115

MR2023F12A318  AEBUARKEEE
ZIRITHEZRARBEERESZEEEE A
4 AR ¥601,922,0007T (20224 : AR
543,579,0007T) ©

ARERPBEAA B LB REMING - 1R
BEHRBEINEEE GO RAGE EERMNEE
BRE  AEERERERBLEINEER
ZIRITHARE LI BINE o

BAIERNERBRESERLSERELET [
SIAARBUINEREZ LR g
£

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Hong Kong dollars (“HKD") ok

2,579 11,536

FRERERAF 175
2023F R (FE2023F12A31B L FE)
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e MBRRME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

30.TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade and other payables comprise amounts outstanding for
trade purchases and ongoing costs with the average credit
period on purchases of goods is 90 days. The following is an
aged analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice

date at the end of the reporting period:

30.B 5 & H b JE 4 FRIE

BHREMENTIBREE ZRERSE

RAZ BRI &R KEE M
#3908 » T BRI E HRRE
2B FENRIBZREDH

FHEE
HREAH

2023 2022

20234 2022%F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARETTT

0 to 90 days 0%90H 103,133 89,621

91 to 180 days 91%180H 7,968 4,547

Over 180 days 180H KA b 13,766 15,238

Trade payables FERE SRR 124,867 109,406

Bills payable VEANE - 4,000

Piped gas customers deposits BEBMRBEPIFH 19,662 15,348

Amounts due to non-controlling interests of & < [} /& /2 =) FE 42 A% 4% 25 X H

subsidiaries (note (a)) (Fff3E@@)) 814 1,676

Amount due to a joint venture B —M& & EFRIA 96 =

Other tax payables H b fES F IR 27,712 29,842

Wages and staff benefits IENEIREH 20,536 17,609
Retention payables and security deposits ~ EfE RS LKEKREFRES

received 35,542 32,140

Compensation received in advance (note (b)) = &4 2 & (Ff7E(Db)) 15,699 15,792
Accrued charges and other payables FEET B R & A b FE S BR 3R

— Endorsement of bills —ZEEE 3,675 1,080

— Property, plant and equipment o /JE R g 4,219 8,647

— Reimbursement — (&1 4,702 5,642

— Others —EAfh 16,496 25,106

Total trade and other payables B 5 Rk H M FE IR B R 274,020 266,288

Notes:

(@)  The amounts due to non-controlling interests of subsidiaries
are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand,

which is of a non-trade nature.

(b)  Compensation received in advance represents amount received
from a third party for compensating the removal of the Group's
pipelines and gas facilities. The removal of the facilities to which
the receipts as at 31 December 2023 related have not yet been
completed as at the date of issue of this annual report. The
carrying values of the related property, plant and equipment at
31 December 2023 and 2022 were approximately RMB nil and

RMB nil respectively.
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FeMEHREME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

31.LEASE LIABILITIES 31HEAE
2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETTT

Within one year —F A 3,730 3,488
More than one year, but not more than two 8 #8 — & {8 TN B i@ M F
years 3,374 2,858
More than two years, but not more than five 2 i@ % & (B 1 8 38 F1 F
years 8,747 7,537
More than five years ik o aka 4,041 1,413
19,892 15,296
Less: Amounts due within one year shown & : 25 ARBEEE 2
under current liabilities —FANEIEFIE (3,730) (3,488)
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities Z%|RIEREBEEEBE T 2258 16,162 11,808
Lease liabilities of approximately RMB19,892,000 (2022: 20236128318 ERREEAEY
RMB15,296,000) are recognised with related right-of-use assets AR #19,892,0007T (2022F : AR ¥
of RMB10,847,000 (2022: RMB5,355,000) as at 31 December 15,296,0007T) R AERAE AEEENARK
2023. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other 10,847,0007T (20224 = A R¥5,355,000
than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by ) BREBABENHEEERHNERE
the lessor and the relevant leased assets may not be used as moN FE S e N B 2% - 3 B
security for borrowing purposes as disclosed in note 45 to the FRAMNEEERNAAEBENER (RA
consolidated financial statements of this annual report. FWMTE VB RERMTASHEE)
FRERERAA

2023F R (BE2023F 125318 ILFE)
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e MBRRME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

32.BANK BORROWINGS

2 RITEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBETTT

Secured bank borrowings EERRITEE 62,000 67,000

Unsecured bank borrowings mIERRITEE 19,775 18,520
81,775 85,520

Carrying amount repayable: FEEEIREE -

Within one year or on demand —FERHIZENK 81,600 85,020

In the second and fifth year, inclusive FEREAF (BREEEMSE) 175 500
81,775 85,520

All secured and unsecured bank borrowings are Loan Prime
Rate (“LPR") borrowings of which interest rates are in the range
of People’s Bank of China base rate plus 0.00% to 14.15%
(2022: 0.00% to 8.45%) per annum.

Certain assets of the Group are pledged for the secured bank

borrowings, details of which are set out in note 45 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

33.DEFERRED TAXATION

FreEAE R ERBRETEEHAERE
WBHREE FERNFHEARFTEAR
A& AN0.00% E14.15% (20224 : 0.00%
Z8.45% ) °

AEBzETEEERBEMRITEEE
B EFBENAF R BmRME
45 -

3IRIERIE

2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
(Restated)

(#&E5)

ARBTR ARETTT

Deferred tax assets RETIBE E
Deferred tax liabilities RERIBAE
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33.DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 33 IEIEFTIH (&)
The following are the major deferred tax assets/liabilities THARZEFEZERREZRLERIE
recognised and movements thereon during the years: BE/AERASE:
Fair value
revaluation
Allowance of equity
for Right-of- Lease instruments
credit loss use assets liabilities Others at FvT0Cl Total
BARERA
A2 AN
FEER FRE HE LERIE
B EE af it 2AREEfR fit

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ARBTR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR

(note)
(izE)
At 1 January 2022 R202261 718 6,094 = = (5,875) (12,729) (12,510)
Adjustments (note 2) B (Hz2) - (4,290) 488 = = (3.802)
At 1 January 2022 (restated) 20281818 (EE5)) 6,094 4,290) 488 (5,875) (12,729) (16,312)
Charged to OCI REMZARENR - - - - (3.491) (3,491)
(Charged) credited to profit ES (NB)a A (B3E13)
or loss (note 13) (1,087) 3821 (293) 1,433 - 3874
Upon initial recognition N = (187) 187 = = =
At 31 December 2022 (restated) R02512A318 (£E5)) 5,007 (656) 38 (4,442) (16,220 (15,929)
Credited to OC| REBZERENR - - - - 2,655 2,655
(Charged) credited to profit REE (B)FTA (H313)
or loss (note 13) (1,045) 49 (307) - - (1,303)
Upon initial recognition RERERE - (1,337) 1,337 - - -
=8
i B
At 31 December 2023 R2023%128318 3962 (1,944) 1412 (4.442) (13,565) (14,577) §
'uE_
Note: The deferred tax was recognised in prior years in respect of Mizt: BAKREERALHEETWE BELRRE
the Group's gain on disposal of certain property, plant and RIEMNHEE 2 W 2 RIERED RNBES
equipment and prepaid lease payments. According to the EEER - RBHEBECEMBHE A%
respective EIT Law, the Group can defer the EIT on such gain B AR RAMREZKA (1F)
after considering deductible reconstruction cost, if any. ERZW BT EMEH -
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Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax of 10% is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation
has not been provided for in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of temporary differences attributable
to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to
approximately RMB1,062,776,000 (2022: RMB1,296,997,000)
as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has cumulative tax losses
of approximately RMB304,166,000 (2022: RMB265,738,000).
The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in relation to
these unutilised tax losses and deductible temporary differences
in respect of lease liabilities, ECL provision and impairment
for property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
amounting to RMB64,541,000 (2022: RMB39,433,000) due to
the unpredictability of future profit streams. Other temporary
differences are not material.

Authorised EE

Ordinary shares of par value HKD0.07 each &R EEE#0.07 0.2 A%

Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR:
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022

and 31 December 2023

Presented in consolidated financial
statements as:

At 31 December 2022 and 31 December M2022F12 8318 &
2023 2023412 A31H

20221 B1H © 20224
12A31H &2023%F12A31H

RIEFRBEATERE SRR E A F A
20081 A1 HRFTMAUE A FTE IR 2 IR &
=B H10%H) T8 30 5L I8 18 oK 5 B 4G
B A R 251 F 49 A R #1,062,776,000
7T (20224 + A R%1,296,997,0007T ) 2 &
M EBERGRA BRI IREE BRATD
N5 B B 450 ) R M 2 RE R [ A B R
NZEEREEBaAE TSR AER R
7% [0] 4 o

M2023F12A318 - AS B R HIEE
B A ANRBE304,166,0007T (20224 ¢

265,738,0007T) - AL E W A ZE A A
HREBEUAREHAEaE BHEEEE
BEARYE BEREEARERAEEE
BE B T R E Ry = £ A R ¥64,541,000
7T (20224 : A R #39,433,0007T ) fE R IE
EFTSHEE  REA AR &EFRIRE LR
Ale K ERFZRWTEK -

REGEMBRERAZ5 S

Number
of shares  Share capital
HKD’000
RGO E BT T
38,000,000,000 2,660,000
8,934,561,203 625,419
RMB’000
ARBFT
564,507



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

35.CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balances. The Group's overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

As at 31 December 2023, the debt-to-capitalisation ratio of the
Group, represents the ratio of total borrowings as disclosed in
note 32 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report to total borrowings and equity attributable to owners of
the Company.

& M35 R M

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

35. EARE R E?

$$lai§,ﬁ\§$ LMET%$‘§IW 4

REAFELE RS TERE(EBEER
Z ERRMARRFRERSER KRB E
2R AR BB EFE AR -

MR2023F12A31B AEE 2 BBEHER
tE RGN F RER G B R W 32 BT i
BREEREEEERBENAQRESRS A
FE(hfERS 2 & -

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR T AR¥ETTT

(Restated)

(&)

Debts &% 81,775 85,520
Total borrowings and equity attributable BEBERANAREE AEGER

to owners of the Company 2,581,924 2,834,571

Debt-to-capitalisation ratio BEMEEARL 3.17% 3.02%

The management reviews the capital structure by considering
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the management, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of
new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

BEEEREEEESHEEAAMIERK
AEREBBAEARE - REBEEEE B
BER  AKERE RIS - BITHAIA

RETHEBREERBEH I ATE
EREARRE-

PRERBRAE

2023F R (FE2023F12A31B L FE)

-
o
(5}
{=
©
=
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36.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6.2 T B

(a) Categories of financial instruments () €MIBEZHE
The carrying amounts of each of the following categories UTEEIeHEERSRABENR
of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the HHRZREERTIAT
reporting period are set out as follows:
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETTT

Financial assets SREE
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BRAREFAHMEE W

ZHEETA 107,733 127,544
Financial assets at FVTPL BRARBEAERZ

TREE 16,595 ~
Financial assets at amortised cost REHKARVEN SR EE 697,342 688,546

821,670 816,090

Financial liabilities EAA-R
At amortised cost RESHRAN 320,434 320,668
The Group’s major financial instruments include equity AEEZFTEZeRTABRERARE
instruments at FVTOCI, trade, bills and other receivables, STAEMEEWR ESRTIARE - B5 -
bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents, trade and ZEREMBUGRIE BITER RS
other payables and bank borrowings. Details of these kIReEFEMFEIER BH KA ENK
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The HRBRITEE ZESBITACZHE
risks associated with these financial instruments and the REBARFARE - EZSemI A
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. AR 2 L B DA RO 1R bt 5 R B 2 SR
The management manages and monitors these exposures HIN TN -EREEEERER LS
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a [l Bex - B AR K% B ER G UM AR BUE E 1R
timely and effective manner. il
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36.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

Interest rate risk

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to
variable-rate bank deposits (note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report) and bank
borrowings (note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report). It is the Group’s policy
to keep its bank deposits, and bank borrowings at
floating rate of interests so as to minimise the fair value
interest rate risk.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for variable-rate bank
borrowings at the end of the reporting period. Floating-
rate bank balances have not been included in the
sensitivity analysis as the management considers that the
interest rate would not fluctuate significantly in the near
future and therefore the financial impact to the Group
is not significant. For variable-rate bank borrowings, the
analysis is prepared assuming the amounts outstanding
at the end of the reporting period were outstanding
for the whole year. A 50 basis points (2022: 50 basis
points) increase or decrease in interest rate is used when
reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in interest rates. If
interest rates had been 50 basis points (2022: 50 basis
points) higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Group's post-tax loss for the Year would
increase/decrease by approximately RMB307,000 (2022:
post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2022
would decrease/increase by approximately RMB321,000).

& M35 R M

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

(b)

cHEREERFERBE

AEEZRSREN KRR E R T
B RRITHER (RNFEREE M TR
RIEE29) AR RITIE B (R F&HE
B ERRME32) B - HRERAR
EBENERRE AEEZBRBRFE
RITHERIA R IRTT B & DAFE B FI K5+
8o

AT 2 S E D AT THAR IR Z 8 7 R 4R
TEERREHRZFERRARAZELE
METE ZEBFRIBITHEBIL EMA
BREELSN EAAEEEBR LT
EETeRNBEE ALHAEEY
MY ETTEKN - REBF KRBT
EBEEMS  BEZESITERRR R
EHRZAEEABESERE2EDN
AEE-ZEMALEZERE ABER
F & 2 b B & #8 FI) = hn R 501 £ 2
(20224 :SOEE L) - MR EK B
JE % R & 4 1 0] g B B 2 7T {7 o ik FI
K5/ FHIK501EE 25 (20224 : 50
BEZ)MATEEMAIERESFT
B AEBEBEEAFECZHEEBRE
A0, E A # A R #307,0007T (2022
FEHE202F12A31BILEFEE 2
BiRF R NKHARE321,000
JL) e

FRERERAA
2023F R (B E2023F 128310 ILEE)

-
o
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{=
©
=
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36.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Currency risk

Currency risk refers to the risk associated with movements
in foreign currency rates which will affect the Group's
financial results and its cash flow. As at 31 December
2023 and 2022, certain bank balances of the Group
are denominated in foreign currencies other than the
functional currency of the group entities. The Group does
not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However,
the management monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging the potential foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

6.2/ T H (a2

(b)

TREAREEEERBER (&)

1 K [ o
55 /2 A

BRI iERINEEREEIFME
BREREB B EERERER
2 7 Bk - 7R20234F 52022912 A31
B AEEETRITEHEALNEE
ER 2T (BIARE) ASNEIHN
Bl & # 5 {E o AN 5 B N 2 A ] SN EE 3
SRR - R EEEERINES R Z
Bk R AR EREESFEKX
2 INEE BB

ARBmERK  AEREAIINEFEL

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency 7
denominated bank balances at the end of the reporting RITHEBR 2 REERT
period are as follows:
Assets
BE
2023 2022
20234 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T AREFTT
HKD e 2,579 11,536
Sensitivity analysis R E DT

The Group is mainly exposed to HKD currency risk.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a
5% (2022: 5%) increase and decrease in RMB against
the relevant foreign currencies. 5% (2022: 5%) is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currencies denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the end
of the reporting period for a 5% (2022: 5%) change in
foreign currency rates.
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36.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

A negative number below indicates increase in post-
tax loss for the Year where the functional currency
strengthens 5% (2022: 5%) against the relevant foreign
currencies. For a 5% (2022: 5%) weakening of functional
currency against the relevant foreign currencies, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on profit or loss
for the Year and the balances below would be positive.

& M35 R M

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

36/ I A

(b)

cHEBEEEERBE (&)

B (&)
HBEZH (&)

TH B BR RN AEE B iR i8R AN
B {E5% (2022F : 5% ) FTEE 2 F
FER 12 B 183 0 - W Ih RE & & .12 48
AN B E5% (20224 5% ) » €
HAFEESENSEREARZZE
AT &R BIES -

Assets
BE
2023 2022
202345 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ETR ARET T
HKD T (97) (433)

Other price risk

The Group is mainly exposed to price risk through equity
instruments at FVTOCI. The directors do not implement
specific measures to mitigate the price risk.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk, which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties, is arising from the carrying amounts of
the Group's financial assets and contract assets (excluding
financial assets at FVTOCI) as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

H b (E 152 B2

ARENERRREIERBRAAE
AR ERKE s EZT R AR
AERY RAREEERRAREREE
=R

B R AT 1

M2023%F 128318 AE F 5 K8k

TEIMERAEESRZMIEEBEN
E=EERRKELRE VBRI HRE
ol AEEeMEERANEE (B

B

-
o
(5}
{=
©
=
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36.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade and bills receivables and contract assets arising from
contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model upon application of HKFRS 9 on trade balances
based on provision matrix. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
effectively managed.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk, with exposure spread over a large number of
counterparties and customers.

Bank balances

The credit risks on bank balances are limited because the
counterparties of significant bank balance are reputable
banks in the PRC with high grade ratings assigned by
National Financial Regulatory Administration of China.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group performed
impairment assessment on bank balances by reference to
the average loss rate for respective credit rating grades
published by international credit-rating agencies and
concluded that the expected credit loss is insignificant.

Other receivables

The Group has taken into account the economic outlook
of the industries in which the debtors operate and
concluded that there has been no significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. As such, other
receivables are assessed for impairment individually at
each reporting date.
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6.2/ T H (a2

(b)

TREAREEEERBER (&)

REAXREHBEREREERR AKE
ERECRK—MAABRAEIEE
RE FEEHREMEEEE A
HARRINIRERE K QBHRN 2 E
e ttsh REMEEM B HREER
FORK  ARERRBAHEEBEE
A BREBRBEERZFESEHRE
TTRER G BT E  ARBESER
RAKENEERRBIERER

AEEYBEAEEETRER AR
TERBEHFHTREP -

Y.
2 2= 44+ AA
R7T4% 6

X TT ZD 7

RITEHBcEERRBR BREX
RITESROYF I IPEEEEEL
RIT AEFEBEREBREEEER
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72023F &2022F 12 A31H A &EH
KR2EHBEEFTLKERERAEE
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36.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

Internal

36. @ T A ()

(b)

Trade and bills
receivables/

TREAREEEERBER (&)

(& =T
-

pii

PRI
(==

oy
—+

Other financial assets/

credit rating Description contract assets other items
ESREEBEK HttemEE
REBEEFTR  #HEk REANEE HfsE H
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL — not 12-month ECL
and does not have any past-due amounts  credit-impaired
Ve R FHEREREK BV REAAHTIE FEREHEEBE - 12@AEHEEEE
BEERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates Lifetime ECL — not 12-month ECL
but usually settles after due date credit-impaired
BREE EBABERIBEREER BRENIE FERRBEEEBE- 2@ EHEEEFE
HigER BEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
in credit risk since initial recognition not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
through information developed internally
or external resources
17 &¢ B RRRRAR  ERABIIINBERMAE FEREHEEBE - FERRHAEEEHE -
ZER - EE R AR BEERE BEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL — =8
credit impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired g =
B3R FEBBRTEELREERE FEMBHEERE- FRENBEHMEERE - §
EERE EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the Amount is written off  Amount is written off
debtor is in severe financial difficulty and
the Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery
s BRBAREBSABARENHRE mA ©HERKME T ' WM
SEYEBERSLBREBA
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36.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 36. M T A

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) SREREEEEREE (&)
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) 1= B R & EF M (&)
The table below details the credit risk exposures of TRAMIEHAEESRHEENEE
the Group's financial assets, which are subject to ECL Rk EXRRBHEEEE:
assessment:
External Internal 12-month or
Notes credit rating credit rating lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
128 A FEH
M=E SIBEEFR ABEEFTR BAHEERHE FRE A E
2023 2022
2023%F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT AR¥TT

Financial assets at amortised cost

BRBEREINRNEREE
Trade and bills 26 n/a (note) Lifetime ECL (not 65,212 77,642
receivables A (P aE) credit impaired
B o REBEEIW and provision
FABER matrix)
GEHBEHEE
EE - EEERE
K ¥ i 2B e
Loss Lifetime ECL 2,443 2,443
518 (credit impaired)
GEHBEHEE
EiE (EERE)
Amounts due 26 n/a Low risk 12-month ECL 17,075 25,385
from non- T A 1K 2 (assessed
controlling individually)
interests EABEHEEE
JE U SE 78 A B (BBFTE)
R E
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31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

36.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

36.2RT H )
(b) SMEBEREBEREE ()

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) 1= B R &R EF e (&)
External Internal 12-month or
Notes credit rating credit rating lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
1218 B R EZEH
Mz HIBEEFTR ABEEFTHR BHEESRE REAE
2023 2022
2023% 20224F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET R AR®ET T
Financial assets at amortised cost (Continued)
RBHEAERIRNEMEE (&)
Other 26 n/a Doubtful Lifetime ECL (not 26,679 42,583
receivables 38 R 75 credit impaired
and deposits and assessed
H th & R IB individually)
Fiz& GEBEHEE
B8 (EEERE
M EBFE)
Loss Lifetime ECL 16,405 22,760
518 (credit impaired)
GEAEREEES
B (EERE)
Bank deposits 29 Bbb+ to Bbb  Low risk 12-month ECL 211,468 -
RITIFX Bbb+ZBbb [l (assessed
individually)
1218 B IEEIE B 5 o
B (BEFFM) -§§
©
Bank balances 29 AAA to Bbb-  Low risk 12-month ECL 393,033 555,115 £
and cash AAAZE Bbb- 1K= b (assessed
RITHEHR R individually)
BHe 2EABBREES
B (BEEFME)
Other items
Hfhig |
Contract 27 n/a (note) Lifetime ECL (not 34,072 27,307
assets i A (P 7E) credit impaired
BHEE and provision

matrix)

GEREREES
B-EEERE
K B A B

20234 3R (
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31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

36.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Note:

For trade and bills receivables and contract assets, the Group
has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure
the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors which
were credit-impaired which are assessed individually, the Group
determines the expected credit losses on these items grouped
by past due status for trade and bills receivables and the status
of the relevant projects of the contract assets. When there
are indicators that the relevant contract assets may be credit
impaired, the relevant amount will be assessed for expected
credit losses individually.

The Group uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for its
customers in relation to its operation because these customers
consist of a large number of customers with common risk
characteristics that are representative of the customers’ abilities
to pay all amounts due in accordance with the contractual
terms. Based on the Group’s assessment of historical credit loss
experience of the existing debtors and all available forward
looking information, including but not limited to the expected
economic conditions in the PRC and expected subsequent
settlements, the Group does not consider that default occurs for
those contractual payments that are more than 90 days past due.

The Group used estimated loss rates based on aging for classes
with different credit risk characteristics and exposures, and
the estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors and
are adjusted for forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed
by management to ensure relevant information about specific
debtors is updated.
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(b)
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36.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 36.2F T

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) 2RIEAKREEEEREE (&)
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EERE R EFE (&)
Note: (Continued) MosE: (48)
2023
2023
Expected Gross Net
average carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount
BEX BEREE BERE REEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT AR¥TR AR¥TR AR¥TR

Less than 3 months 3@AA 0.00% 40,921 (1) 40,920
3 - 6 months 3Z6fE A 6.22% 3,326 (207) 3,119
6 — 12 months 62121 A 14.74% 5,191 (765) 4,426
1 -2 years 1224 36.02% 2,610 (940) 1,670
2 — 3 years 2FE34F 97.26% 3,067 (2,983) 84
Over 3 years FBIB3F 100.00% 3,420 (3,420) -
58,535 (8,316) 50,219
Credit impaired EERE 100.00% 2,443 (2,443) -
2022
20224
Expected Gross Net
average carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount =8
BT g &
BB @REE  EERE  REEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 =

ARBTT ARBTRT ARETT ARKETE

Less than 3 months 3EA R 1.64% 48,900 (802) 48,098
3 — 6 months 3%6fE A 20.11% 7,196 (1,447) 5,749
6 — 12 months 61218 A 29.99% 4,768 (1,430) 3,338
1 -2 years 1824 49.56% 3,600 (1,784) 1,816
2 — 3 years 2E3F 80.15% 2,876 (2,305) 571
Over 3 years HBHB3E 100.00% 3,337 (3,337) -

70,677 (11,105) 59,572
Credit impaired EERE 100.00% 2,443 (2,443) =
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36.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

During the year, the Group made reversal of impairment
loss of approximately RMB639,000 (2022: impairment
loss of approximately RMB1,250,000) for trade and bills
receivables and contract assets based on the provision
matrix.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL
that has been recognised for trade and bills receivables

6.2/ T H (a2

(b)

TREAREEEERBER (&)

Y==d":
la & /B R K]

REEN AEBEREBREEERE
S REBRRBFIERENEETIRR
BB R 4 A R#639,0005T (2022
FORBEBELOHAR,250,000
JL) e

TRETREBBETERE S KRR
EUFBERANEECHANTEDR

and contract asset under the simplified approach. TEHEEBECE8-

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime

(not credit (not credit ECL (credit

Impaired) impaired) impaired)*

FEDED FEBEN FEBEN

GEER REER REER

(BEEHE) (BEEHE) (EEHE)*
Contract assets Trade and bills receivables Total
ANEE EAREBENR Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
At 1 January 2022 12022461 A18 - 9,865 2,443 12,308
Reversal of impairment loss recognised BB AR EER - (3,710) = (3,710)
Impairment loss recognised ERAZREBR - 4,960 = 4,960
Write-off ik - (10) = (10)
At 31 December 2022 M2022%12 8318 - 11,105 2,443 13,548
Reversal of impairment loss recognised ~ #[E) & FERA KR E 1B - (2,777) = (2,777)
Impairment loss recognised BRAZAESR - 2,138 = 2,138
Write-off A - (2,150) - (2,150)
At 31 December 2023 M2023% 128318 - 8,316 2,443 10,759

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there
is information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.

* Full provision was made for respective credit-impaired
trade receivable.
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36.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

ReMBERRNE

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

6.2/ T B e

Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) SREREEEEREE (&)
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) =B Ko E R (&)
The following table shows the reconciliation of loss that TRETEER2MEAEBHEESRE
has been recognised for 12-month ECL and lifetime ECL R EREREEBENEEEE M
on other receivables. JE IR SR B S8R o
Lifetime ECL (not  Lifetime ECL (credit
credit Impaired) impaired) Total
FESES RENES
REER REER
(BEEHE) (EEHE) /it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFIL AREFIL
At 1 January 2022 202241 81H 9,570 16,193 25,763
Reversal of impairment loss recognised REOERZNRESE (3,796) (574) (4,370)
Impairment loss recognised BERRCAESE 958 3,563 4,521
Write-off i - (2,080) (2,080)
At 31 December 2022 20226124318 6,732 17,102 23,834
Reversal of impairment loss recognised ROEBRNRESE (690) (2,409) (3,099)
Impairment loss recognised BRAZREER 4,030 7,999 12,029
Write-off 8 - (8,550) (8,550)
At 31 December 2023 1202312318 10,072 14,142 24,214

B

=
i
o
[=
©
=
[
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36.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains the level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flow. The management manages
liquidity risk by monitoring adequate reserves, banking
facilities by continuously monitoring forecast and actual
cash flows.

Due to the capital intensive nature of the Group's
business, the Group ensures that it maintains sufficient
cash and credit lines to meet its liquidity requirements.
The Group finances its working capital requirements
through a combination of funds generated from
operations and bank borrowings.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. The table includes
both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that
interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount
is derived from interest rate curve at the end of the
reporting period.
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36.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 36. @I A »)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) SREREEEEREE (&)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) BB LB (B)
Weighted Within Within
average one year second to Total
effective oron fifth years, Over fifth undiscounted Carrying
interest rate demand inclusive years cash flow amount
E-ELER
METHUER -FadR  (BEEE AERRE
Gk EXE mE)  EREHNE REAE REE

% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARBTR AR®TR ARERTR AR®T:R

At 31 December 2023 20234124318

Trade and other payables ~ EZREMERTE - 238,659 - - 238,659 238,659
Bank borrowings RITEE 3.12 83,059 192 - 83,251 81,775
Lease liabilities HEEE 4.87 4,675 14,209 4,452 23336 19,892
326,393 14,401 4,452 345,246 340,326
Weighted Within Within
average one year second to Total
effective or on fifth years, Over fifth  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate demand inclusive years cash flow amount
EZERFR
MEFHER —FRIR  (AEER AERR
ME P mE)  FRENE mERE KAfE

% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTL ARETLE ARETT ARETR AREBTR

v
g
At 31 December 2022 120225124318 £
Trade and other payables ~ Z 5 R E B FA - 235,148 = = 235,148 235,148
Bank borrowings ROEE 465 86,447 598 = 87,045 85,520
Lease liabilities HEAE 489 4,254 12,003 1,450 17,707 15,296
325,849 12,601 1,450 339,900 335,964
The amounts included above for variable interest rate W) ZENF R EBEAREHAREED
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject FEEEAR A LB & IEITE
to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those PRABENFBINETAESETIER
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the o

reporting period.
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36.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Fair value measurements

Some of the Group's financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The following
table gives information about how the fair values of these
financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation
techniques and inputs used).

36. @ T A )

() AAREFE

AEERIEMEEINEREHR
BAREFE TREHRMMEE I
ZeRMEELAABZER (KR
ERZEETERBABE)

Fair value  Valuation technique and significant
Financial assets Fair value hierarchy  unobservable inputs
tREE DA AREER HERMREAFTTERGAUE
2023 2022
2023% 2022
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT
Unquoted equity
investments
classified as FVTOC/
PEREALEFAR
tE2EARZZHF LT
BHTA
An entity engaged in 78,168 92,173 Llevel 3 Fair value is derived from market multiple -
manufacturing and enterprise value to earnings before interest, tax,
sale of glass products depreciation and amortisation ("EV/EBITDA") of 8.2
business (2022: 7.6) and discount for lack of marketability of
20.5% (2022: 20.6%) (note)
— R ERE RHER E=MR RABEDATEREFE-CXBEBUNE B
BEREBZER B8 REHEARF (TEV/EBITDA |) £8.2 (2022
F:76) RRZ 5 RB M2 H7E520.5% (2022
£:20.6%) (M)
An entity engaged in 20,148 23,614 Level 3 Fair value is derived from the market multiple -
banking business price-to-book ("P/B") ratio of 0.4 (2022: 0.6) and
discount for lack of marketability of 20.5% (2022:
20.6%) (note)
RERTEBLER =& RAERTEEH-—HRE ([PB])0.4 (2022F:
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36.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 36. T & (o)

(c) Fair value measurements (Continued) () AREFE(E)

Fair value  Valuation technique and significant

Financial assets Fair value hierarchy  unobservable inputs
tREE ARE AAEER RERWREAFTBRERBALE
2023 2022
2023F 20025
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETT
Unquoted equity
investments
classified as FVTOC/
(Continued)
PERBEALEFAR
tEENEZH LT
BHTA (&)
Entities engaged in sales 5,154 4836  Level 3 Fair values are derived from market multiple — EV/
and distribution of EBITDA of 6.9 (2022: 8.4) and discount for lack of
cylinder gas and gas marketability of 20.5% (2022: 20.6%) (note)
appliances business
REHE RS HBEEM E=8 RABETHATISESEE— EV/EBITDARE.9 (2022
REMRFEEBZ 8RBT TIHRBM 2 #ER20.5% (2022F -
R 20.6%) (FtzE)
Entities engaged in sales 412 653  Level 3 Fair value is derived from market multiple - EV/
and distribution of Revenue of 0.2 (2022: 0.3) and discount for lack of
cylinder gas and gas marketability of 20.5% (2022: 20.6%) (note)
appliances business
REHERDHBEM E=R ARENATSEEAE-CEBERNKAR
ARMRABAEXK 2 0.2(2022% : 0.3)RERZ M5 MBI 2 T3 520.5% 9
£ (20224 :20.6% ) (M%) TR
©
[=
Entities engaged in sales 2,969 5880  Level 3 Fair values are derived from the estimated fair value |5
and distribution of of the underlying assets and liabilities held by the
cylinder gas investees
WEHE R HERMN E=R AREDREREUSRFECRBEERARBZRE
AZER AAnERE
An entity engaged in 366 238 Level 3 Fair value is derived from the market multiple — EV/
sale and distribution EBITDA of 7.9 (2022: 8.1) and discount for lack of
of cookware business marketability of 20.5% (2022: 20.6%) (note)
REHERDHERR L RABEDATISEEGE— EV/EBITDART.9(2022
ARG ER £:81) R Z G RA N2 ER20.5% (2022

£:20.6%) (Hiz)
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36.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

() Fair value measurements (Continued)

6.2/ T B &

() 2DREFE(E)

Fair value  Valuation technique and significant

Financial assets Fair value hierarchy  unobservable inputs

EMEE DA AREER HREXMREAFTTERGAHE

2023 2022
2023 2022
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT

Unquoted equity
investments
classified as FVTOCI
(Continued)

PEBREALEANAR
M2EREZF LT
BZIA(H)

An entity engaged in 516 150  Level 3 Fair value is derived from the estimated fair value
provision of company of the underlying assets and liabilities held by the
consulting service investee

RERHARFARY E= RRENREREUSHALRBEERABZE
ZER AR ERE

An entity engaged in - - Level3 Fair value is derived from the estimated fair value
food ingredients of the underlying assets and liabilities held by the
supply and FMCG investee
business

RERMBAENESE E= RABNIRERBURKAZHBEERARZE
BKeER AR ERE
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36.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c)

(d)

Fair value measurements (Continued)

Note:

The higher the market multiples applied, the higher the fair
value, and vice versa. The higher the discount, the lower the
fair value, and vice versa. The significant unobservable inputs
are the discount for lack of marketability, the market multiples
applied. A 5% increase/decrease in the discount rate for lack of
marketability, holding all other variables constant, the fair value
of the investments would decrease/increase by approximately
RMB6,589,000 (2022: RMB7,652,000) as at 31 December 2023.

The EBITDA and net asset value of the respective investees
used for the valuations at 31 December 2023 are based on the
audited financial statements or, where the audited financial
statements are not available, the management accounts of the
investees up to 31 December 2023.

Fair value measurements

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of
financial assets

& M35 R M

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

(c)

(d)

o :

TMEEHEENER ARERS  R2
SR WTBIEA RABAITRE RZIFAR-
BANAEEGAGIE AR TS RBME
Wi M5 E A B - 1K2023F12 31
B mEmE I EEm, 5w A5% -
FEHMEERFBETE KEZ AR BB
b /AN A R #6,589,0007T (20224 :
AR #7,652,0007T) °

R2023F 128318 2 HEFMBHEBEREY
% ZEBITDAR B EE EFEIIRIE L FEZ
PR RAMELIESEERMERE
BISE R EE2023F12 8318 IEE B

EREEE=RALEGTEHEE

Unquoted equity investments FEHERTA
RMB'000
ARBTT
At 1 January 2022 R20229F1 411 104,119

Additions
Fair value change recognised in OCI

At 31 December 2022

Addition
Disposal
Fair value change recognised in OCI

At 31 December 2023

NE 150

BREHMEAWZINAABEZH 23,275
M2022F12831H 127,544
RE 190
il (106)
BREEMEAMUEN AL EBEES (19,895)
M2023F12A31H 107,733

-
o
(5}
{=
©
=
ic
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36.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 36. M T A

(d) Fair value measurements (Continued) (d)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of
financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

RMB’000

ARKETTT

At 1 January 2022 720221818 1,405
Termination after obtaining full control of a RSB AT 22 2 H % 4R I

subsidiary (1,405)

At 31 December 2022 72022412 H31H =

Purchase of wealth management products 0 BB E G 16,500

Fair value change recognised to profit or loss ERAEBZINAALBEEF 95

At 31 December 2023 72023F12H31H 16,595

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group uses market-observable data to the extent
it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available,
the management establishes the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model. The management
reports the findings to the directors half yearly to explain
the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets
and liabilities.

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that
are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

There were no transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3 during
the year.
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37.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be classified in
the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows

VRMEREAELEAEZ

£ Bk

TRANAEERELDHELAGBECE
H(BRRERFESEDY) BETHHN
EEZRBEEERSRECHARKRAER
ERRAKEGARERERTOELA
BARPREREZEE-

from financing activities.

Amounts due

to non-
controlling
Bank interest of Lease
borrowings subsidiaries liabilities Total
FEAS B 2 B
FERER
RITREE ZHE HESE CH)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARETT ARETT ARETT
At 1 January 2022 #2022%1818 100,250 1,733 18,173 120,156
Financing cash flows BERERE (17,307) (57) (2,907) (20,271)
Finance costs recognised EERBEKA 2,577 = 941 3,518
Derecognition of lease liabilites & It EAEE & E = = (911) @n)
At 31 December 2022 R2022% 128318 85,520 1,676 15,296 102,492
Financing cash flows RERERE (7.171) (19,274) (5,188) (31,633)
Addition of lease liabilities HEaELM = = 9,146 9,146 [ -
Increase in amount due to a non-  JEf —EME A RFEERER S
controlling interest of a subsidiary 2 FRIE#E N = 18,412 = 18,412 §
=
Finance costs recognised ERRRBERK 3,426 = 1,068 4,494
Derecognition of lease liabilites & FERAEAE - = (430) (430)
At 31 December 2023 $®2023F12 4318 81,775 814 19,892 102,481
FREBRBRAF )01
2023 F M(BE2023F 128318 L F )
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31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

38.BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

BB E R AL Z m A R 2 7] (Kunming Shengjian Hengtong
Gas Products Co., Ltd.*) (“Kunming Shengjian”)

On 1 March 2022, an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company entered into equity transfer agreement to
acquire 70% equity interest in Kunming Shengjian from the
shareholders of Kunming Shengjian at the total consideration
of RMB9,352,000. Kunming Shengjian was established in the
PRC with limited liability and principally engaged in the sale
and distribution of cylinder gas with aggregate fair value at
the date of acquisition amounting to RMB13,378,000. The
transactions were completed and the Group obtained control in
Kunming Shengjian in March 2022.

Sz /_\ N/
38. (K56t
BZE2022512A831H L& E
EBEHZEEEREERBERAG ([EBEH

#Z])

Eézozzim 18 ARR—HEEZENS

AR REE R G LEERBAREZR
R R R Z70%RAE - AREA
AR #9,352,0007t° EFAFAE AP H T
MR Z2ERAT  REBHREHEERD
BERE RREBBEAQARESEAA
R#13,378,000T - ZER HE EK KA &
EER2022F3 RS ERAFAIZ 2 1 Hll 4 -

Consideration transferred: B (E
RMB’000
ARET T
Cash He 9,352

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of
acquisition are as follows:

REERHERBEERERABEINT

RMB'000

ARET T

Property, plant and equipment M- BE R EAE 10,966
Trade and other receivables g 5 N H Ath e W Fk1E 3,610
Bank balances and cash RITHEB LIRS 443
Inventories T8 2,542
Trade and other payables g5 N E A FRIE (4,183)
13,378

*  For identification purpose only
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38.BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Continued)

B i B AR A2 EE mn B R A B] (Kunming Shengjian Hengtong
Gas Products Co., Ltd.*) (“Kunming Shengjian”) (Continued)

Acquisition-related cost amounting to approximately
RMB26,000 had been excluded from consideration transferred
and had been recognised as an expense in the year ended
31 December 2022, within the “administrative expense” line
item in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

The fair value and the gross contractual amount of trade
and other receivables at the date of acquisition were
RMB3,610,000. The best estimate at acquisition date of the
contractual cash flows not expected to be collected was RMB
nil.

Bargain purchase gain arising on acquisition:

& M35 R M

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

38%%1/_\{\/ (1@)

HE2022512A831A L EE (&)

EHAEEEREERAR A ([EBEH
)Gt ) //‘5'/

U BE AR RE A AN 49 A R #526,000L B B 8
REF FIB - WA B E20226F12 4318 1k
FEAGRGBRAEMEEKER [1THA
X AERARE -

RIKERE B5 REMEWRIEZ ARE
Fea#mzE A AR3,610,0007T ° A U
HE EHT2WEME4R e RENRE
Bt BARBE -

WEBELE 2B

RMB’000

AR¥ETTT

Cash consideration paid for acquisition of 70% share Bt EE70%% 1% 2 3H &R E 9,352
Less: fair value of identifiable net assets acquired of &l : B WBE70% /%0 2 AT 4RI E EFEZ

70% share ARME (9,363)

Bargain purchase gain on acquisition of Kunming Shengjian
was recognised in profit or loss within the “other gains and
losses” line item in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.

*  For identification purpose only
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38.BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Continued)

BB E R AL Z m A R 2 7] (Kunming Shengjian Hengtong
Gas Products Co., Ltd.*) (“"Kunming Shengjian”) (Continued)

Net cash outflow on acquisition of Kunming Shengjian:

38.EBKE B a0

HZ2022512A831BLFEE (&)
EBEHZEEEREERBERAG ([EBEH
Z]) (&)

WEEBRAAE RS RHFE:

RMB’000

ARETTT

Cash consideration paid BENRESNRE 9,352
Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired B ERERE RIREFEIER (443)
8,909

Included in the profit for the year ended 31 December 2022
was loss of approximately RMB694,000 attributable to the
consolidation of the profit of Kunming Shengjian after the
acquisition date. Revenue of Kunming Shengjian for the
year ended 31 December 2022 included approximately
RMB4,195,000 generated from Kunming Shengjian.

Had the acquisition of Kunming Shengjian been completed on
1 January 2022, total group revenue for the Year of the Group
would have been approximately RMB2,868,081,000 and profit
for the Year would have been RMB58,707,000. The pro forma
information is for illustrative purpose only and is not necessarily
an indication of revenue and results of operations of the Group
that actually would have been achieved had the acquisition
been completed on 1 January 2022, nor is it intended to be
projection of future results.

*  For identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

39.ACQUISITION OF LAND USE

RIGHTS AND OTHER ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES THROUGH ACQUISITION
OF A SUBSIDIARY

For the year ended 31 December 2022

1 F R m F2 A R A &] (Shandong Zhongmin Gas Co., Ltd.*)
(“Shandong Zhongmin”) (formally known as B2 2% b Z £ 8 & 15
BB R 2 A])

On 15 September 2022, dt XA RRFASMRER A F (Beijing
Zhongmin Tongjin Gas Co., Ltd.) (“Beijing Zhongmin Tongjin")
and WA RMKF|ABERAAE (Henan Civigas Co., Ltd.)
(“Henan Civigas”), indirectly wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company entered into a capital injection agreement, which
Beijing Zhongmin Tongjin and Henan Civigas had to contribute
RMB13,530,600 to Shandong Zhongmin, which amounting to
RMB8,224,500 was contributed in cash by Beijing Zhongmin
Tongjin and amounting to RMB5,306,100 was contributed in
property, plant and equipment by Henan Civigas, representing
51% of equity interests (on the enlarged basis). The assets
acquired and liabilities assumed did not constitute a business
combination as defined in HKFRS 3 Business Combinations
and therefore, the acquisition was accounted for as assets
acquisition.

*  For identification purpose only
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e MEBRME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

39.ACQUISITION OF LAND USE
RIGHTS AND OTHER ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES THROUGH ACQUISITION
OF A SUBS'D'ARY (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Continued)

L F i B 5w 2 B R 2 &] (Shandong Zhongmin Gas Co., Ltd.*)
(“Shandong Zhongmin”) (formally known as B2 i Z B & 1
JBIBEBR 2N AE]) (Continued)

The assets acquired and liabilities assumed by the Group in the
transaction upon completion of the acquisition were as follows:

3958 WA — FIH B 4

W g + tth {58 FARE R EL At
BEEURERE @

HZ2022F12A831B L FEE (8)

WRFPERmREAERAR ([WWRFE]) (BT
BEZTEHREERAGRAF) (&)

AEERTRZBBERRERRZ S5 K
BrEERMAEZABHET

RMB'000
ARETIT
Property, plant and equipment M HE LR 9,728
Right of use assets EREEE 6,125
Trade and other receivables 2 5 K& H e W RIE 271
Bank overdraft RITHEX (18)
Trade and other payables B 5 K& H M e 5RIR (350)
15,756
Consideration (note (a)) KB (FifzE(a)) =
Non-controlling interest recognised (note (b)) EERIEERERS (KiFE(D)) 14,351
Difference arising on acquisition (note (c)) WiEE A 2 =5 (MiFE(o) 1,405
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WEEEE 2 IRE LT :
Cash consideration paid ENBRERE -
Add: bank overdraft m:aRITE X 18
18

*  For identification purpose only
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39.ACQUISITION OF LAND USE

RIGHTS AND OTHER ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES THROUGH ACQUISITION
OF A SUBS'D'ARY (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Continued)

1 F R m f2 A R A &] (Shandong Zhongmin Gas Co., Ltd. *)
(“Shandong Zhongmin”) (formally known as B2 2% b Z £ B & 15
JBIBBR 2N AE]) (Continued)

Notes:

(@)  Consideration of approximately RMB13,531,000 was injected
by the Group in Shandong Zhongmin and hence eliminated on
consolidation in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements.

(b)  Non-controlling interests were measured at the acquisition
date at their proportional share in the recognised amounts of
Shandong Zhongmin's identifiable net assets (including the
amount of RMB13,530,600 injection of the Group under the
acquisition).

(c)  The difference arising on the acquisition of RMB1,405,000 had

been recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31 December
2022 as the amount was immaterial.

*  For identification purpose only

40.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

TRANSACTIONS

All services received in exchange for the grant of any share
options are measured at their fair values. These are indirectly
determined by reference to the fair values of share options
granted. Their value is appraised at the grant date and excludes
the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting
conditions (for example, profitability and sales growth targets).
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The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) for the purposes of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group's operations. Eligible participants of the
Share Option Scheme include full-time employees (including
directors), consultants, agents and advisors of the Group. The
Share Option Scheme is valid and effective until 8 September
2026.

As at 31 December 2023, the total number of shares available
for issue under the share option scheme was 694,495,413
(2022: 694,495,413), representing approximately 7.77%
(2022: 7.77%) of the issued share capital of the company.
Without prior approval from the company’s shareholders, the
total number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the share option scheme is not permitted to
exceed 10% of the shares of the company in issue at any point
in time, and the aggregate number of shares in respect of
which options may be granted to any individual in any year is
not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the company in
issue at any point in time.

No amount is payable on acceptance of an offer to grant an
option to subscribe for the shares of the company granted
pursuant to the share option scheme (the “offer”). The share
option scheme may be exercised at any time for a period of ten
years commencing from the date of acceptance of the offer,
subject to the conditions imposed by the board of the directors.
The exercise price of the option shares would be at a price
equal to the higher of: (i) the closing price of the shares of the
Company on the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on
the date of offer of the option; (ii) the average closing prices
of the shares of the Company on the stock exchange for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of offer of the
options; and (iii) the nominal value of a share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends
or to vote at shareholders’ meetings. No share option was
granted, exercised or outstanding during both years.

Apal&B—EHERERS ([BRER
B]) - FELABLE) K [0] 85 3 AR & B 2 B I A
EEHERMC A BR2HE - BRES 2
AER2EEVFEALEER  2HES (213
£E) HBRA RERER - BRETEIR
20265F9H8B Z R B A M K ERK -

2023F 128318 IR E BB IR AT 8] 7] 5
17 2 B% 17 48 81 5694,495,4130% (20224F :
694,495,413/%) (h AR R E EITRALD
7.77% (20224 : 7.77% ) > K152 7) &
RELAE  RBIREA A TR 2B
TEH N 2 1D BB B BB TR IR
BRI 2 BT IRID 2 10% @ M FMEfIE Z 7] [A)
FRER A TR B 2 BIRED R 2 &RH 8
FTBBBARNG N EMEHEZETRG
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

41.EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFIT

SCHEMES

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of retirement benefits schemes operated by the PRC
government. The relevant PRC subsidiaries are required to
contribute defined percentages, ranging from 12% to 25%,
of payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the
benefits in compliance with the applicable regulations of the
PRC.

The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying employees
in Hong Kong under the rules and regulations of the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority. The assets
of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group,
in funds under the control of trustees. The Group contributes
5% of the relevant payroll costs or capped at HKD1,500
(2022: HKD1,500) per month per employee to the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme in Hong Kong, which contribution
is matched by employees. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the
specified contributions under the respective schemes above.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of approximately
RMB21,032,000 (2022: RMB18,460,000) represents
contributions paid or payable to these schemes by the Group
for the Year. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the
contribution payable in the future years at 31 December 2023
and 2022.

& M35 R M

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FeMEBERRME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

42 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS REBRBEBEALTZRS

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial BRAINGRE B ImRE A D T EE SN - A
statements, the Group entered into the following transactions SEEMBATRAEZEAEL TR
with related parties during the Year: 5 :
2023 2022
2023%F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Purchase of natural gas from Shanxi BIRFEEE RARRMD AR A A HE

Provincial Natural Gas Co., Ltd.* RARE (FIEi)

(note i) 163,014 146,961
Purchase of cylinder gas from Yunnan Jiehua B ZmEHFERERFAE A RRE

Clean Energy Development Co., Ltd.* W R (B EEii)

(note ii) 23,480 47,869
Purchase of cylinder gas from Southwest BEEITEREREERR

Panva 9,276 4,146
Purchase of cylinder gas from Yunnan BEEmMABRIETARARIRBES

Pioneer Chemical Co., Ltd* HR 5,345 -
Purchase of gas appliances from Fujian BERRELABEMRSFR

An Ran 1,053 -
Rental fee paid to Mile City Xinyuan Gas FBESHTERRREREELF

Co., Ltd.* SRRk 105 105
Rental fee paid to Funing County Fuxiang MEBEENARLRBEZAEE

Oxygen B Express Factory* 100 100
Consulting service fee received from Fujian  E4@E % RUEE RS &

An Ran 76 -
Sale of gas to Xianyang Haihui New Energy M5 /8EHGEIR G PR A A5 E

Co., Ltd.* (note iii) KRS (Bt aEiii ) - 28,855
Sale of gas to Yunnan Pioneer Chemical MEmEEEIERAFHEERR

Co., Ltd.* - 2,425
Purchase of cylinder gas from Yunnan Panva HE/ & /THEREERR - 750
Transportation fee paid to Yunnan Panva MEMBLIZNERE - 31

*  For identification purpose only
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42 .RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

The above transactions were made on terms mutually agreed
between both parties.

Notes:

()

(ii)

(iii)

Shanxi Provincial Natural Gas Co., Ltd. is a connected person of
the Company as it holds 40% equity interests in Xi‘an Civigas
Co., Ltd. ("Xi’an Civigas”), a subsidiary of the Company.

These are connected person transactions and details are set out
under the heading of connected transactions in the report of the
directors.

Yunnan Jiehua Clean Energy Development Co., Ltd. is a
connected person of the Company as it holds 49% equity
interests in Yunnan Jiehua Civigas Clean Energy Co., Ltd.
("Yunnan Jiehua"), a subsidiary of the Company.

Xianyang Haihui New Energy Co., Ltd. is a connected person of
the Company as it holds 49% equity interests in Xi‘an Civigas
Haihui New Energy Co., Ltd. (“Xi'an Haihui"), a subsidiary of the
Company.

Compensation of key management personnel

The directors of the Company considered they are the sole
management personnel of the Group, and their remuneration
during the Year is disclosed in note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report. The remuneration
of the directors of the Company is recommended by the
remuneration committee to the Board having regard to the
performance of individual and market trends.
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e MBRRME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

TR LK IO A e
43.0PERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS  43.&8 & E & IE
The Group as lessor EEBEREEA
The Group leased its investment properties, as set out in MAFEREE M B RRMT18AE A K
note 18 to the consolidated financial statements of this ERESCEHETHNEETHS AR
annual report under operating lease arrangements with KREWE LB EHEFHR/IESF -
leases negotiated for terms ranging from 1 to 5 years at fixed RAFERDMERSFRARBHAR
rental. Net property rental income earned during the year was #3,293,0007T (20224 : A R#8,664,000
approximately RMB3,293,000 (2022: RMB8,664,000) with L) MEELZHAX -BHEGRRKR—RITE
minimal outgoings. The terms of the leases generally also KEPHRRELE
require the tenants to pay security deposits.
Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as follows: REEREK 2 ZEBENAREI DT
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T AR¥BTT
Within one year —F RN 1,449 3,413
In the second year F_F 247 1,899
In the third year B=F 100 541
In the fourth year FEINF - 320
In the fifth year FREF - 207
1,796 6,380
= =
44.CAPITAL AND OTHER 44. 8 2N R E A AR

COMMITMENTS

Capital and other expenditure contracted for but not provided

in the consolidated financial statements in respect of:

ERNERARGAEVBRERBERBZER
REAFHX :

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T

Purchases of: R
Property, plant and equipment W BB && 11,093 16,828
Right-of-use assets FHEEE 13,986 15,336
25,079 32,164
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

.PLEDGE OF ASSETS

The Group pledged certain assets to banks to secure certain

& M35 R M

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

45.8 = K #

AEECARTEMETEENRBALE

bank borrowings of the Group. Carrying amounts of the assets EoETRITEE DEPEE CREEN
pledged were as follows: Ik

2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T R ARETTT
Property, plant and equipment LENY N 151,819 64,475
Right-of-use assets FREEE 1,198 2,623
153,017 67,098

Restrictions on assets

In addition, lease liabilities of approximately RMB19,892,000
(2022: RMB15,296,000) are recognised with related right-of-
use assets of RMB10,847,000 (2022: RMB5,355,000) as at
31 December 2023. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets
that are held by the lessor and the relevant leased assets may
not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

A natural gas charging right was pledged from 17 March 2022
to 16 March 2025 as collateral. The assessed or negotiated
value of the collateral between the Group and the bank is
RMB276,171,100.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has no significant contingent
liability.

BEERS

AN R2023F12A31H  ERREES
B4 ARE19,892,0007T (20224 : AR#E
15,296,0007T) RABE AEEENARE
10,847,0007T (20224 : A R #5,355,000
L) cBREBAABENHEEEEPNIERE
A+ A S T e N A ) B 325 0 30 B
ERHEEEARNT AEEERNER-

AEBEBEHRARKERB2022603817
B#£Z2025%3 A 16 H |- B[ E 8 1E & 17
oo ANEEERTT Z MR R 2 E s R E
BEAARE276,171,1007T °
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31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

47 .STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL A7 7R B) 2 B AR 5 Ak
POSITION OF THE COMPANY
Statement of financial position of the Company at the end of R BN E BRI AR wE B TE -
the reporting period includes:
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R ARBTT

Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Wz - BB M 3 7
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE UL MY B8 A &) 5RIE 447,845 426,113
447,848 426,120
Current assets mEEE
Other receivables and prepayments H th & WK IE KR FA AN RRIE 834 847
Bank balances and cash RITHEB MRS 337 9,577
1,171 10,424
Current liabilities mEBAE
Other payables H th & 1~ 3IB 724 911
724 911
Net current assets mEEEFE 447 9,513
Total assets less current liabilities BEERTEEE 448,295 435,633
Capital and reserves MR R (i
Share capital (note 34) AR A (B 5E34) 564,507 564,507
Reserves R (116,212) (128,874)
Total equity HRE 448,295 435,633
448,295 435,633
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31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

47 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 47 78N A) 2 B B AR R R 3}
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

Note: B3
The following table sets out the components of the reserves of the TEEHVARNTEBE 2 BRBORERKEER
Company and the movements thereof during the current year and prior BEEEBH-
year.
Deemed
Share Contributed Contribution Capital Accumulated
Premium Surplus Reserve Contribution Losses Total
R &g EON:L RETERE IN-E 23 ER &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AR¥FT AR®FT NG S AR#TR NS AR¥FTR

At 1 January 2022 R202F1818 1,003,995 104,932 (425,298) 1,121 (849,957) (158,607)
Deemed contribution arising from ERHRBEARTEZ BEHS
imputed interest on amounts due EEZRETE

from subsidiaries - - (3,765) - - (3,765)
Profit and total comprehensive income  AEEEFIR 2 EUAEE

for the year - - - - 33,498 33,498
At 31 December 2022 20225128314 1,003,995 104,932 (429,063) 7,721 (816,459) (128,874)

Deemed contribution arising from EUMBLRGE EFE
imputed interest on amounts due EERIETE

from subsidiaries - - 9,954 - - 9,954
Profit and total comprehensive income A% FEF REANELE

for the year - - - - 2,708 2,708
At 31 December 2023 R0BENA3A 1,003995 104,932 (419,109 7701 (813751) (116212
The contributed surplus represents the difference between the nominal BABBRIEARRT B EITRMD EMEHEE WA
value of the Company’s shares issued and the value of net assets AMB ARz EEFE2EZRE - RIEFHEE1981
of the underlying subsidiaries acquired. Under the Companies Act FRAE(KIER])  ARIEATBERAARE TE%
1981 of Bermuda (as amended), a company may not declare or pay BABBKRERSR R EZIEL DK 20F 25 é
a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus, if there BEHBEONAFARNIRM RS e REEERE B
are reasonable grounds for believing that (i) the company is, or would &% RNAREEZNS2RESHELIRES
after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; B BEETRARRG BER B -

(i) the realisable value of the company’s assets would thereby be less
than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share
premium account.
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31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

AY
oh = /,\ =
48.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 18 T EM B A 7]
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 7202312 A318 Kk2022F12A318 ' K
December 2023 and 31 December 2022 are as follows: RRAIZEEWNBRRFHEOT
Place of
incorporation/ Issued and fully
Name of company*# establishment paid share capital Group's effective interest ~ Held by the Company directly  Held by the Company indirectly Principal activities
AL/
PEET RUtE BRARMERE AREERER HALEERKE BAAEEERE IERE
03 m 03 m 03 m
ABE WE uBE W% uBE W
IRARRAERAT PRC? USD60,000,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Investment holdings
(Beijing Civigas Co,, Ltd) e 60,000,000%7C RALR
m)IhERRRARRA PRC RMB300,000,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Investment holdings
(Sichuan Chigas Investment Co, Ltd) AR#300,000,0007 RERK
IRERRE PRC RMB152,222,200 100% 100% - - 100% 100% ~ Investment holdings
Befing Zhongmin Tongjin EF AR152222,2001 RALR
AEARMEMARRAT PRC RMB100,000,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Investment holdings
(Tianjin Civigas Technology Co, Ltd) ARH100,000,0007 RERK
IRERAFETERERARAA PRC RMB114,740,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Investment holdings
(Befjing Zhongmin Ruojia Supermarket Rl (2022 RMB113,040,000) RARR
Chain Management Limited) AR 114,740,007
(20025
ARH113,040,0007C)
HehRMRARAA PRC? RMB20,000,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Provison of piped gas
(Yanting Civigas Co,, Ltd.) hE ARE20,000,0007 fEEERS
RIMRREARAA PRC* RMB70,000,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Provison of piped gas
(Mianzhu Civigas Co,, Ltd) e ARE70,000,0007 REEERA
BUTERRAZEARALAA MWC RMB15,000,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Provison of piped gas
(Mianzhu City Long Teng Gas hE ARE15,000,0007 REEBRA

Installation Co., Ltd.)

BImERRRRERAT PRC? RMB10,000,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Provision of piped gas
(Mian Zhu City Han Wang hE AEE10,000,0007 REEERA

Natural Gas Co., Ltd.)

FlgRREEERAR PRC? RMB16,762,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Provison of piped gas
(Beichuan County Civigas Co, Ltd) B AE%16,762,0007 EEEENS
ERTRAAARAR PRC? RMB70,000,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Provison of piped gas
(Chongging Civigas Co, Lt hE ARE70,000,0007 fEEERS
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31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

T+ oh = | 7=
48.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 48. EZEM BN E (=)
Place of
incorporation/ Issued and fully
Name of company?# establishment paid share capital Group's effective interest ~ Held by the Company directly  Held by the Company indirectly Principal activities
HAL/
RS RLBY BRARMRRE AEEERER HALEERKE RALIEERER %R
2023 202 023 M0 023 2022
n3% W WBE WF WBE WE
ERTRERIFMRERAT  MC RMB2,000,000 51% 51% - - 51% 51%  Provision of piped gas
(Chongging Civigas Fugiang hE AB2,000,0007 EEENR

Industrial Gas Co., Ltd.)

ERPRAGEENAERAR  MWC RMB10,000,000 51% 51% - - 51% 51% Provision of piped gas
{Chongging Civigas Xiangyang RE AR E10,000,0007 fEEERS
Compressed Gas Co,, Ltd.)

EVEARIFARAA ([ETRR]) PRC* RMB30,000,000 60% 60% - = 60% 60%  Provision of piped gas
(Fuping Civigas Co,, Lt e ARE30,000,0007 REEERA
("Fuping Civigas")

ERAR PRC RMB62,080,000 51% 51% - - 51% 51%  Provision of piped gas
(X'an Civigas) e ARH62,080,0007T REEERA
ENEaBETZMARRELAF PRC RMBA0,000,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Provision of piped gas
(Guizhou Province Zhengfeng County Bl AR 40,000,0007 fEEERS

Ping'an Gas Co,, Ltd,)

gl PRC RMB5,000,000 51% 51% - - 51% 51%  Gas distribution
(Xi'an Haihui) e AE 5,000,007 RaA%
HEhRMRARAR ([MEFR]) PRC RMB26,000,000 55% 55% - - 55% 55%  Sales and distrbution of cylinder gas
(Hunan Civigas Co, Ltd,) +E AR 26,000,0007 HERDHEENR
("Hunan Civigas")
g » %
HRRRRRERAT PRC RMB10,000,000 28.05% 28.05% - = 28.05% 28.05%  Sales and distribution of cylinder gas §
(IRmaR]) HE ARE10,000,0007% HERABERRA £

(Xupu Civigas Co., Ltd J#
("Xupu Civigas")

ERPRMEARAA PRC RMB66,260,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Sales and distribution of cylinder gas
(Yunnan Civigas Co, Ltd) e ARE66,260,00070 HERDHREMRR
BEARMRARAA PRC RMB10,000,000 51% 51% - - 51% 51%  Sales and distribution of cylinder gas
(Baise Civigas Co, Ltd.) +E AR E10,000,0007 HERDHERNA
ERTRRAERAA PRC RMB12,353,000 51% 51% - - 51% 51%  Sales and distribution of cylinder gas
(Guangdong Civigas Co,, Ltd) e ARE12,353,0007 HERDHREMRR
REHEARMAHERRAT  PRC RMB6,640,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Sales and distribution of cylinder gas
(Tianjin Ji County Civigas Co, Ltd) Bl AR 6,640,007 HERDHEERR

FREBRBRAT 217
2023 H (B E2023F 12831 B LLFE)



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REMBERERME
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. T+ oh = = =
48.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 48. EEM BN E =)

Place of

incorporation/ Issued and fully
Name of company?# establishment paid share capital Group's effective interest ~ Held by the Company directly  Held by the Company indirectly Principal activities

HAL/
PEET LB BRARMRERE AREERER HELTERER HELIEEER TEER

2023 2002 023 0 023 M0
WBE W Pk WE WBE W
REEGMERREERRARAE PRC RMB16,000,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Sales and distribution of cylinder gas
(Tianjin Binhai New Distrct Civigas ARE16,000,0007 HERDHEEMA
(o, Ltd)

AP RMRERAR PRC RMB15,000,000 60% 60% - - 60% 60%  Sales and distrbution of cylinder gas
(Hebei Civigas Co,, Ltd) +E AR E15,000,0007 HERDHERMR
HERR PRC RMB13,000,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Sales and distrbution of cylinder gas
Henan Civigas e ARE13,0000007 HERDHREMR
ENtRIRERAR PRC RMBS00,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Sales and distribution of cyinder gas
(Guizhou Civigas Co,, Ltd.) HE AR 5000007 HERDHERMR
RERRESERAR PRC RMBS,000,000 60% 60% - - 60% 60%  Sales and distribution of cylinder gas
(Changshun Civigas Co,, Ltd) e ABRH5,000,0007 HERDHREMA
RERREZRARRAT PRC RMB32,500,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Sales and distributon of cyinder gas
(Tianjin Chigas Heng'an Gas Co, Ltd) & ARE32,500,0007 HERDHERMR
ERRERRMERAREADNT  MC RMB55,000,000 80% 80% - - 80% 80%  Food ingredients supply and FMCG
(Chongging Yubaijia Supermarket ARES5,000,0007 RNREAES

Chain Co,, Ltd)

EFEREENARRENAER MC RMB10,000,000 80% 80% - - 80% 80%  Food ingredients supply and FMCG
BREAAA e AR10,000,000T RIMEENES

(Chongging Grain Group Yubajia
Agricultural Technology
Development Co,, Ltd.)

ERTREEMRERERELAT MR RMB! 789,390 80% 80% - - 80% 80%  Food ingredients supply and FMCG
(Chongging Keweija Logistics HE AR#1,7893907 RHHENES

Distribution Co., Ltd.)

EEEREERAR PRC RMB10,000,000 80% 80% - - 80% 80%  Food ingrediints supply and FMCG
(Chongging Huiguan Trading Co,, Bl ARE10,000,0007 RNREAES

td)
ERTRERMERERERAT  MC RMB10,000,000 53.50% 53.50% - - 53.50% 53.50%  Food ingredients supply and FMCG
(Chongging Zhongmin Ruojia Supply Bl ARE10,000,0007 RNREAES

Chain Management Limited)
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48.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

& M35 R M

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

AS.EEMEB A B (w0

Place of
incorporation/ Issued and fully
Name of company?# establishment paid share capital Group's effective interest ~ Held by the Company directly  Held by the Company indirectly Principal activities
HAL/
P2 RS BRARMRRE AEEERER HALTERER RALIEERER %R
2023 A0 m 223 22
uBE mE mE uBE mE
ZREL PRC RMB20,000,000 51% 51% = 51% 51%  Sales and distribution of cylinder gas
(Yunnan Jiehua) e ARE20,0000007 HERDHREMRR
FTRRIBSBERRRABRAR PRC RMB6,000,000 100% 100% - 100% 100%  Information transmision, software and
(Beiing Ye Lang Chu Fang Network R AR#6,000,000T IT services
Technology Co, Ltd.) EEE AHRTRH
EERBETEEARAT PRC RMBS8,000,000 100% 100% = 100% 100%  Property investments and operation and
(Chongging Jingtong Xiye Industrial R ARE58,000,00070 other related business
Co, Ltd) NEREREENREMABER
WERE PRC RMB26,530,600 51% 51% - 51% 51%  Sales and distrbution of cyinder gas
Shandong Zhongmin hE (2022: RMB18,000,000) HERDHEENRR
NBR#26,530,6007
(2025
AR¥%18,000,0007)
BEf# PRC RMB13,360,000 10% 70% - 10% 70%  Sales and distribution of cylinder gas
Kunming Shengjian e ARE13,360,0007 HERDHREMR
# Wholly foreign-owned enterprises registered in the PRC. 8 R EFEMRZINEEERE-
e Sino-foreign joint equity enterprise registered in the PRC. o RAETMEORINEERE
#h Xupu Civigas is a 51% subsidiary of Hunan Civigas. As a result, o RUER R A E R RS51% R ZHE A
the total effective interest held by the Group in Xupu Civigas is Al At AEBERBHTRFEA ZEER
28.05%. 1 5 7328.05% ©
S English translated names are for identification only. R R TEEEHER

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities during
the Year and at the end of both years.

All of the above subsidiaries operate principally in their
respective place of incorporation/establishment.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or net assets of the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of
the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

ERNREREERLRE  WBARBEETE
A ES -

tRFmAENB AR EEAEES B HEMAK
SRR

ARAREERR ERMIZAREZH B
REHAKE I RELEEFEREAY
iR EAMBHBARZFHE ARAE
ERREEERBERTTE-

B

-
o
(5}
{=
©
=
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31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

49.DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY NEBERFERER Z
/m =1= —
OWNED SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE FEEEAME R AF
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING ]
INTERESTS
The table below shows details of non-wholly owned TRINREBERFZERER 2 RSB
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling E2EHREMBARIES:
interests:
Place of Proportion of ownership
incorporation interests and Profit (loss)
and principal voting rights held by attributable to Accumulated
Name of subsidiaries place of business non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
ARALEER FERBEREEZHER
o PER IEERLY BERRZELH FEREREGE (F8R) it EERER
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
23 202 2023% 0% 223% 0%
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(Restated) (Restated)
ARBTR ARBTT ARETR ARBTT
(&=5)) (7))
Hunan Ciigas PRC 45% 45% 1421 3,406 21320 18,480
HERR hE
Xi‘an Civigas PRC 49% 49% 13,11 12,798 102,702 93,831
il HE
Xupu Civigas PRC 71.95% 71.95% 5,367 2,301 19,850 18,080
AR hE
Yunnan Jiehua PRC 49% 49% (2,001) 919 11,970 17252
e 41 hE
Fuping Civigas PRC 40% 40% (28,148) 1,818 219 28,367
ETHR hE
Individually immaterial subsidiaries with non- controlling interests 8,074 5,260 62,441 57,363

BAHERRE BUFEAKBAT

4,490 26,562 218,502 233373
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49.DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY

= & M ¥ 8 R0 &E

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

DEBERFERER Z

OWNED SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING

| NTE R ESTS (Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the
Group's subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests
is set out below. The summarised financial information below
represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.

(i) Hunan Civigas

FrEEENBE AT
1% (m)
BB AR NS S A EENEAR

ZHBERBERHINT » T B ER R
EHREBANRREEHEA 2

(i) HWEHERE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARETT

Current assets

Non-current assets

Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Equity attributable to owners
of the Company

Non-controlling interests

MENEE

FRBEE

mERE

FRBEE

ARBEE AEEER

FEER =

29,682 34,085
50,951 51,413
(33,248) (44,432)

) -
26,058 22,586
21,320 18,480

B

=
o
o
c
©
=
[
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FEeMBEERERME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

49.DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY

AEBEARFERER Z

OWNED SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING

|NTERESTS (Continued)

(i) Hunan Civigas (Continued)

F2E
%K%

}ZEEBTTJE’A Gk

(i) MEHE(E)

2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R ARKETE

Revenue

Expenses

Profit for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

Profit attributable to owners of the

Company

Profit attributable to the non-controlling

interests

Profit for the year

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests

Net cash generated from operating

activities

Net cash generated from investing

activities

Net cash used in financing activities

Net cash inflow
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GE3

ZNCS il
AEE2E RS AE

ARBEE AR 25 F
TR AR S FE 1A 2 A

2N & 3 A

PR R 2 IS

REXGELEZRESFR

REBDEL RS FR

BMERBAAZREFR

BEmAZHE

119,713 105,398
(103,208) (97,830)
16,505 7,568
16,312 7,309
9,078 4,162
7,427 3,406
16,505 7,568
4,500 =
11,493 6,424
7,598 5,105
(10,000) =
9,091 11,529
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31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

49 DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY NEEERFERERZ
OWNED SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE 2EEEME R E
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING 15 )
|NTERESTS (Continued)

(i) Xi'an Civigas (ii) AZHFR
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETT

Current assets mENE E 162,741 122,439
Non-current assets ERBEE 233,099 217,183
Current liabilities wEBEE (177,879) (148,130)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (8,365) -
Equity attributable to owners of the RAGEE AEMLER

Company 106,894 97,661
Non-controlling interests JEVE IR R = 102,702 93,831
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e MEBRME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

49.DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY

OWNED SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING

|NTERESTS (Continued)

(ii) Xi'an Civigas (Continued)

DEBERFERER

%ﬁ%

(i) BRHE(E)

*REEEFTHMBER

GIE=:

2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR® T AREET T
Revenue WA 274,146 238,221
Expenses 53 (246,042) (212,105)
Profit for the year N Z i T 28,104 26,116
Profit and total comprehensive income — ANA A #EA A &L 2 5 F &
attributable to owners of the Company 2 Rz5 4258 14,333 13,318
Profit and total comprehensive income  JF¥5 A% 4 25 FE (5 2 5% Fll 2
attributable to the non-controlling ek
interests 13,771 12,798
Profit and total comprehensive income  ZN4F &k Fl| & 2 T Wz 4B 58
for the year 28,104 26,116
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests {5 ¥ JEIE R #EE 2x 2 f% & 4,900 19,600
Net cash generated from (used in) KEREBES (FTA) 2
operating activities IR & F R 59,006 (37,313)
Net cash (used in) generated from KRERE (A EEXZ
investing activities IR &R (4,440) 92,478
Net cash used in financing activities BMEFEBMACR 558 (10,000) (92,000)
Net cash inflow (outflow) BemAORL) #58 44,566 (36,835)
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31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

49 DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY NEEERFERERZ
OWNED SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE 2EEEME R E
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING 15 )
|NTERESTS (Continued)

(iii) Xupu Civigas (iii) BBEFE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETT

Current assets mENE E 17,102 14,408
Non-current assets ERBEE 13,430 13,396
Current liabilities mEEE (2,944) (2,675)
Equity attributable to owners of the RAGEE AEMLER

Company 7,738 7,049
Non-controlling interests JEVE IR = 19,850 18,080
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31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

49 DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY NEEERFERERZ
OWNED SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE 2 EEEMHE R E
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING 15 ()
|NTERESTS (Continued)

(iii) Xupu Civigas (Continued) (iii) BBEPE ()
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARKETE

Revenue A 45,454 47,206
Expenses 2 (37,995) (43,924)
Profit for the year N Z i T 7,459 3,282

Profit and total comprehensive income for ZN4F &3 7l }2 & [ W 25 4858
the year 7,459 3,282

Profit and total comprehensive income N RHEA AE(G 25 F K2 EUR

attributable to owners of the Company #4858 2,092 921
Profit and total comprehensive income — FEIRRRAE = 4L 2 m All & 2 E W i

attributable to the non-controlling 4agE

interests 5,367 2,361

Profit and total comprehensive income — ZN4F & Fl| & 2 [ W s 4B 58

for the year 7,459 3,282
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests {5 F JF#E Ak #E 25 2 I% B 3,597 2,878
Net cash generated from operating activities 4% & ¥ 1§ E 4 2 IR & F5 8,759 5,022
Net cash used in investing activities KREFRDFMACE TR 8 =
Net cash used in financing activities BMEESMAZRSFH (5.000) (4,000)
Net cash inflow BEmAZHE 3,751 1,022
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31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

49 DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY NEEERFERERZ
OWNED SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE 2EEEME R E
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING 15 ()
|NTERESTS (Continued)

(iv) Yunnan Jiehua and its subsidiaries (iv) EE@EtRENBE QT
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®T ARKETE

Current assets mENE E 21,066 26,330
Non-current assets ERBEE 11,456 14,778
Current liabilities mENAE (17,653) (20,233)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (671) (146)

Equity attributable to owners of the RAGEE AEMLER
Company 2,228 3,477

Non-controlling interests JEVE IR R = 11,970 17,252
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e MEBRME

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

49.DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY
OWNED SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING
|NTERESTS (Continued)

(iv) Yunnan Jiehua and its subsidiaries (Continued)

PVEEERFERERZZ
?iéé:’f??ﬁﬁﬁﬁ}?" AN
B (&)

(iv) EFBLRENBLR (&)

2023 2022
2023%F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREET T
Revenue WA 98,529 134,469
Expenses 53 (101,065) (133,504)
(Loss) profit for the year AEE (B18) & (2,536) 965
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive NARVEE AEMLZ (BE) BT
(expense) income attributable to Eam () kasess
owners of the Company (535) 46
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive IR e (L 2 (E518) & 7
(expense) income attributable to the Ea2m () kasess
non-controlling interests (2,001) 919
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive REE (BE) &M R
(expense) income for the year 2H (%) W=E5E (2,536) 965
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 13 F JE#2 f A 25 2 % 2. 3,160 2,977
Net cash generated from operating KEETFEE 2RSS )T
activities 10,020 5,436
Net cash (used in) generated from KREES (R EELEZ
investing activities He F5E (3,286) 2,190
Net cash used in financing activities BEESATAZIRE T (6,437) (8,534)
Net cash inflow (outflow) WERA R F5E 297 (908)
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49 DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY NEEERFERERZ
OWNED SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE 2EEEME R E
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING 15 )
|NTERESTS (Continued)

(v) Fuping Civigas (v) E¥HR
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARBTTT

Current assets mENE E 15,019 32,767
Non-current assets ERBEE 37,568 81,622
Current liabilities mEBE (52,041) (43,472)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE - =

Equity attributable to owners of the KRGS ANEMLER
Company 327 42,550

Non-controlling interests IEVE IR R 2 219 28,367
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31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

49 DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY NEEERFERERZ
OWNED SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE 2 EEEMHE R E
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING 15 ()
|NTERESTS (Continued)

(v) Fuping Civigas (Continued) (v) E¥HRE(E)
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T ARBTT

Revenue WA 60,301 82,901
Expenses 5553 (130,672) (78,357)
(Loss) profit for the year NEE (BE) % (70,371) 4,544

(Loss) profit and total comprehensive NATIEA AEML 2 (EIE) &

(expense) income attributable to owners 2@ (T 4) U544

of the Company (42,223) 2,726
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive JEfE R RERS RS 2 (B ) H5H &

(expense) income attributable to the 2 () ksasm

non-controlling interests (28,148) 1,818

(Loss) profit and total comprehensive AEE (BE)HEMNE2AE (BY)
(expense) income for the year W 2% 4858 (70,371) 4,544

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests {~f F FE#5 R #E 25 2 I% 2 - =

Net cash used in operating activities RS IR 2 IR & R RE (12,233) (11,978)
Net cash used in investing activities EESRA 2B F5E (517) (1,399)
Net cash generated from financing BB ESEL NS EE

activities 7,108 13,280
Net cash outflow Hemt 58 (5,642) (97)
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50.EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

51

The Group has no significant events after reporting period.

.COMPARATIVE FIGURES

As a result of the application of amendments to HKAS 12
Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction, certain comparative figures have been
adjusted to conform current year’s presentation and to provide
comparative amounts in respect of items disclosed for the first
time in 2023. Further details of the changes in accounting
policies are disclosed in note 2.

50.

51

ReMBERRNE

31 December 2023 2023%12H31H

HEHRRSE
RIS 1k - KR B AR -

LR EF

AR S & AR 125 (5T A) &
E-RBELNEEREEEBOEED
B ETHBRBEE TR UAAEEE
2503 5N 20235 BRIRE WEE Rt
BYE - B BB — SHBERIGE
2HE -
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16 Harcourt Road
Hong Kong

Victoria Place, 5th Floor
31 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM 10
Bermuda

No. 36 BDA International Business Park
No. 2 Jingyuan North Street

Economic Technological

Development Area

Beijing, China

Room 1503, 15th Floor
Beverly House,

93-107 Lockhart Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong

info@681hk.com
www.681hk.com

00681
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Five-Year Financial Summary

AFEMRBER

For the nine
months For the year
For the year ended ended
ended 31 December 31 December 31 March
HZ128318 HZ12A318  #HZE3A318
LEE 1F9fE A HFE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2020
20235 20225 20214 20205 20205
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET R ARETT ARETT ARETRT ARETH
(Restated)
(/e&E5)
RESULTS £
Revenue WA 2,513,521 2,867,697 2,731,601 1,747,553 2,232,600
(Loss) profit before tax Bri% Al (&) R A (202,312) 74,762 184,510 168,758 242,165
Income tax (expense) credit EH (AX) &R (24,947) (12,545) 2,543 (24,057) (25,644)
(Loss) profit for the year/period ~ AEE,/HifE (E518) %7l (227,259) 62,217 187,053 144,701 216,521
(Loss) profit for the year/period T3l [E{EEE / HARS
attributable to; (E518) Al
Owners of the Company AREERA (231,749) 35,655 167,781 107,906 182,629
Non-controlling interests R ER 4,490 26,562 19,272 36,795 33,892
(227,259) 62,217 187,053 144,701 216,521
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAEE
Total assets BERRE 3,353,205 3,602,834 3,579,584 3,536,600 3,255,315
Total liabilities AEAE (634,554) (620,410) (642,464) (710,314) (594,923)
Net assets BEFE 2,718,651 2,982,424 2,937,120 2,826,286 2,660,392
Equity attributable to owners ANBHEAR NEGER
of the Company 2,500,149 2,749,051 2,702,081 2,590,199 2,452,611
Non-controlling interests R ER 218,502 233,373 235,039 236,087 207,781
Total equity B 2,718,651 2,982,424 2,937,120 2,826,286 2,660,392

234 Chinese People Holdings Company Limited
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Principal Activities
EFEERTH

Piped Gas Transmission and Distribution Business

BEMR R
e Construction and operation of city gas pipeline network
FEREEHHRREERG

e Provision of piped gas
REEEMRR

Cylinder Gas Supply Business
R MRHER

e Liquefied Natural Gas (LNG)
BALRAR

¢ Liquefied Petroleum Gas (LPG)
HALBHR

e Liquefied Dimethyl Ether (DME)
—

Gas Distribution Business

MR D HFEB

e Purchases a large amount of gas resources from upstream
suppliers and then distributes to other gas operating companies

REFHEIAERBERIER  DHAHEMNRRELERE

Food Ingredients Supply and FMCG
R HERES

* Service to commercial consumers by online and
offline operations supplying fruits and vegetables, fresh produce,
seasoning, dry foods and oil and other ingredients
BRRLERTOBXAFPRMRE - £8 - AWM -
BRERMMN — R

e The community supermarket and convenience stores
& M E R L R E
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